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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
aisclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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M. Li Ka Chun Gordon

Ms. Chan Wai Yan
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Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in (i)
provision of design, fitting out and engineering services comprising
design, fitting out, engineering and procurement of furnishings and
related products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment
and provision of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial
services comprising securities and money lending business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Group
was approximately HK$87.6 million (2023: HK$55.8 million) which
represents approximately HK$31.8 million or 57.1% increase as
compared with last year.

Breakdown of revenue by segments is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

“ENE TEC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Design, fitting out and engineering services R &t~ EIE KR TR 71,972 45,910
Leasing of construction equipment THERERHE 12,966 6,756
Wines merchandising EREH 2,214 2,525
Financial services ERARTS 451 570
87,603 55,761
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has no material
changes in its operations. The revenue generated from the Design,
fitting out and engineering services business has increased by
approximately HK$26.1 million, and the income from the Leasing of
construction equipment business has increased by approximately
HK$6.2 million, whilst the Wine merchandising business and the
Financial services business has decreased by approximately HK$0.3
million and HK$0.1 million respectively, leaving the Group’s revenue to
increase by approximately HK$31.8 million:

(1) The increase in revenue generated from the Design, fitting out
and engineering services was mainly due to the increase in the
number of works attributable to the increase in the number of
public housing estates for the new 3-year term contract that
was commenced from April 2022, and the increase in contract
sum of construction contracts being awarded from public and
private section works.

(2)  The increase in revenue from the Leasing of construction
equipment was mainly due to the increase in the lease out
rate of the scaffolding equipment as a consequence of the
increase in demand from the leasing of construction equipment
attributable to the HKSAR Government's commitment to forge
ahead with the supply of public housing.

(3) The decrease in revenue generated from the wine
merchandising business was mainly due to the decrease in
orders from existing customers and the reallocation of the
Group's resources from the wine merchandising business to
the Design, fitting out and engineering services business and
the Leasing of construction equipment.

(4)  The revenue from the Financial services business was
maintained at the similar level and was approximately the same
as last year.

Gross Profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$9.0 million
(2023: HK$2.1 million) for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
an increase of approximately HK$6.9 million.

g

BE_ZE_MNE=ZA=+— EEEF TEH
ZEZUBERNEE R -RERTIERS
ERE L 2 W AIENN%926,100,00078 7T >
HIEE XU AR NAY6,200,00078 7T > 3=
BEHEBREMRFZFORAD R DL
300,00078 75 52 100,000/ 75 > < A& B W A G M
#931,800,0007%8 7T -

M REEERIEZRBEBAENEIEZE
ﬁ%_giiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁz%ﬁﬂ%%:
FZEHNRHEEBUEENERTES

DDM&A#W%A%WI&%&%L%
AHAUEERD -

2 EBEXBHEWABNIZEHNEBR
%ﬁﬂ@ﬂfﬂﬂ#ﬁ@“%%%ﬁﬁ’
BYERRAREHEERREM ERERR
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬂo

@ FEEFHEBWARLHIEHNEARER

ﬂ%ﬁm&$$@ﬁﬁfm%EMﬁ¥

BEMOERER RERIERBUK
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%?o

@ ZREBEFBARFEBEKT LH
FFEARFF-

EF

HE_Z_M&E=A~ :+—E|thcﬁrt“r N EE
E B EFNLA9,000,0008 T (ZE_=4F :
2,100,000 7T) » iEjJD%’Jé,‘?OO,OOO%TEO



Annual Report 2023/2024
—EC=E/CEMEERS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

5 B T i B o0 W

The gross profit of the Group by segments is as follows:

EFNRDEBI DT ¢

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-mF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAERT FET

Design, fitting out and engineering services &5t EE R TRRF 1,432 1,445
Leasing of construction equipment THERERE 6,563 (176)
Wines merchandising EREH 584 276
Financial services SRARTS 451 570
9,030 2,115

Compared with the gross profit of the Group from last year, the
increase in the Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2024
of approximately HK$6.9 million was mainly due to the increase in
the gross profit of the Leasing of construction equipment attributable
to the increase in lease out rate of the scaffolding equipment as
mentioned above.

Although there was an increase in revenue from the Design, fitting
out and engineering services, the gross profit margin from the Design,
fitting out and engineering services was set at a lower level in order
to maintain its competitiveness. Moreover, the increase in proportion
of revenue from the public housing maintenance, improvement and
vacant flat refurbishment works and services which have a lower
profit margin as compared to other Design, fitting out and engineering
services projects also attributed to the decrease in the gross profit of
the Design, fitting out and engineering services.

The gross profit from the two remaining segments, the Wine
merchandising and the Financial services was maintained at a similar
level as compared with last year.

Loss for the year

Other income

The decrease in other income for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
mainly due to the absence of government subsidies during the year.
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Other gains, net

The increase in other gains, net for the year ended 31 March 2024
was mainly due to the one-off compensation gain on disposal/written
off of construction equipment during the year.

Administrative expenses

The decrease in administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2024 was mainly due to the effective cost control in administration
and operations as a consequence of the decrease in advertising
expenses, staff costs, office and sundry expenses, and rental
EXPEenses.

Impairment of intangible assets

For the SFO Licenses included in “intangible assets”, the Group has
appointed independent qualified professional valuer to perform
an appraisal of the recoverable amount of the SFO Licenses as at
31 March 2024. Same as the prior year, the recoverable amount of
Financial services business segment CGU have been determined
based on fair value less costs of disposal using the replacement cost
approach, which is higher than value in use. The key assumptions
used in estimating the fair value of Financial services business
segment CGU under the replacement cost approach include the
estimation of cost of obtaining such licenses and relevant transaction
cost. The recoverable amount of Financial services business segment
CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal was approximately
HK$1,720,000 (2023: HK$2,499,000). Accordingly, having compared
with the carrying amount of Financial services business segment
CGU, impairment loss of approximately HK$779,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the cross-boundary vehicle licence included in “intangible assets”,
the Group has appointed independent qualified professional valuer
to perform an appraisal of the recoverable amount of the cross-
boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March 2024. The recoverable
amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence has been determined
on the fair value less costs of disposal (2023: value in use) using
market comparable approach, which is higher than value in use. The
recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence based on
the fair value less costs of disposal was approximately HK$740,000
(2023: value in use of approximately of HK$600,000). Accordingly,
having compared with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary
licence, a reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$140,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Design, fitting out and engineering services business
The Group expects to reduce the scale of the public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works
and services and is currently reformulating the mix of the design,
fitting out and engineering services business and redistributing its
resources to seek for other projects to sustain the Group’s Design,
fitting out and engineering services business. Apart from submitting
tenders to the Hong Kong Housing Authority such as waterproofing
and reroofing works, the Group is actively in negotiation with other
contractors for the opportunities to be engaged in other fitting out
and engineering projects in the public and private sectors.

It is the Group's strategy to develop business relationship with the
existing contractors and customers to coordinate and negotiate
for further works and services as well as for introducing new
contractor(s) and customer(s). The Group expects such exploration
and development will further broaden and strengthen the income
stream and the sustainability of the Group’s design, fitting out and
engineering services business.

Leasing of construction equipment business

The Group has concluded certain project(s)/order(s) and delivered the
scaffolding equipment which attributed to the significant increase in
rental income recognised during the year. The Group aims to build
and pursuit business relationship/co-operation with the existing
customers in order to develop steady and sustainable business
operations.

The Group would continue to seek for potential contractors/
customers and coordinate/negotiate with the existing customers
for further projects/orders and for introducing potential customers.
The Group expects the leasing of construction equipment business
continue to be a major source of income attributable to the Group in
the coming years.

Wine merchandising business

The Group would continue to negotiate with the existing customers
for the sale of fine and rare wines and seek for potential customers.
The Group would carry out the wine merchandising business at a
moderate level.

Financial services business
The provision of financial services business comprises securities
business and money lending business.
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Securities business

The Group is engaged in licensed securities business under the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) to carry
out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities) and
type 9 (asset management) regulated activities. However, due to the
lack of funding for fulfilling the licensing requirements of the SFC
and as working capital to expand the business, there are conditions
imposed on the regulated activities. As a result, the Group is not able
to provide full services under the business.

In August 2023, Hong Kong government announced to establish a
task force to pitch proposals to increase the liquidity of the Hong
Kong stock market and strengthen Hong Kong's competitiveness
as an international financial centre. In addition, in the same month,
the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the SFC reached
consensus on the introduction of block trading under the Stock
Connect arrangement for offshore investors to conduct block
trades via Northbound Trading on the Shanghai and Shenzhen stock
exchanges and for investors from Mainland China to conduct manual
trades via Southbound Trading on the Stock Exchange. This cross-
border block trading initiative is intended to enhance the Stock
Connect arrangements, make available more trading mechanisms,
enhance trading efficiency and promote the mutual development of
both capital markets in China and Hong Kong.

The Board believes that both the Chinese and Hong Kong
governments are determined and serious in strengthening the
competitiveness of the Hong Kong stock market as an international
financial centre by taking forward measures in the short, medium and
long term. Being encouraged by these top down favourable policies
of the Hong Kong and Chinese governments, the Board considers
it beneficial for the Group to seize this opportunity to expand its
securities business to tap on the development opportunities offered
by such government initiatives. As such, the Board intends to uplift
the licensing conditions in order to be able to operate its securities
business in full scale (being able to conduct underwriting, placing,
margin financing, portfolio management, etc.). Accordingly, the Group
has proposed a rights issue to raise approximately HK$36 million,
of which, as to approximately HK$20 million be used to fulfill the
minimum paid-up capital licensing requirement (for providing margin
financing), upgrading the hardware/software of its trading platform
and recruiting additional personnel in line with the widening of
services/products offerings. It is expected that the Group's securities
business will be able to provide full services in around mid-2024,
by which time the overall government initiatives should have been
formulated and, at least, partially implemented.
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Money lending business

The money lending business focuses on potential corporate or
personal borrowers including well-established business and wealthy
and reputable individuals ranged from executives, businessmen and
professionals. The potential borrower(s) are generally induced through
(i) the management team of the Group; (i) direct approaches from
potential borrowers; and (iii) referral from existing borrower(s). The
Group adopts a prudent approach to carry out the money lending
business with sourcing of its funds from internally generated cash
resources.

Before granting loans to potential borrower(s), the Group uses an
internal credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers. Limits
attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the loan portfolios of the
Group consists of 2 unsecured personal loans with initial principal
amount of HK$3 million each. The loans are granted in prior years
and are renewed with a term of 1 year in March 2021 which are
unsecured and interest bearing at 9% per annum. All the borrowers
and their ultimate beneficial owner (if applicable) of the outstanding
loans are independent third parties of the Group.

The Group has established its money lending policies/manuals
(the "Manuals”), including the procedures in relation to the
implementation of Anti Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing System and credit assessment procedure to regulate the
money lending business operation to ensure a comprehensive risk
management so as to safeguard the Group's and, most importantly,
the shareholders’ interest.

In general, each loan application must go through three stages
before granting to the borrower, namely (i) document collection and
verification; (i) credit risk assessment; and (iii) approval. The Manuals
has set out, among others, (i) a list of documents and information
required for each loan application; (i) the general framework of the
credit assessment process including but not limited to the factors
to be considered such as the applicant’s background, financial and
repayment abilities, credit worthiness and intended use of the loan;
and (iii) the approval authorisation for each type of loan application.
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Credit approval process

The following is a summary of the general guidelines of assessing
loan applications by the management team (the “Management
Team”) of the money lending business:

(A) Identity proof — identity card and passport from individuals and
business registration certificate, certificate of incorporation and
the constitutional documents from corporate entities must be
provided for verification;

(B)  Address proof — utility bills, bank/credit card statements or
formal correspondence issued by either a governmental
department or statutory body is required to be produced;

(C)  Repayment ability assessment — to assess the repayment
ability of each borrower, in addition to the background search,
the Management Team checks the availability of guarantor,
where applicable, past payment record and any other
available information to evaluate the repayment ability of the
borrower(s); and

(D)  Credit worthiness assessment — Searches and background
checks would be conducted upon potential clients such
as bankruptcy or winding up search and litigation search;
background search and media searches.

Based on the above procedures, the Group considers that the credit
risk and the risk of breaching the relevant laws and regulations in
connection with anti-money laundering or anti-terrorist financing
are relatively low. Nonetheless, the Group has in place all necessary
measures to mitigate the risk of money laundering or terrorist
financing risk of potential borrowers’ businesses, such as the nature
and details of the business/occupation/employment of the potential
borrower; the anticipated level and nature of the activity; location of
potential borrower; the expected source and origin of the funds; and
the initial and ongoing source(s) of wealth or income.

All loans being granted should be approved, on a case-by-case basis
including a set of standardised know-your-customer procedures and
due diligence process. During the process, the management team
of the money lending business should obtain and verify the income
proof/cash flow proof of the applicant, and if securities/collateral
involved, the asset proof.
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After credit assessment and review of the loan applications, with
the loan terms determined (having taken into consideration factors
such as the credit risks of the borrowers, their recoverability and the
prevalent market interest rates), loan documents will be prepared
by the Management Team and the loans will be recommended for
the review of the director(s) of the money lending business prior
to reporting to the Board or approval (as the case may be). The
director(s) of the money lending business, will be responsible for the
approval of loans in relatively smaller amount, and reporting the same
to the Board.

The Management Team would report the potential loan(s) to the
Company and the Board for the consideration by its members,
if it is of larger amount (i.e. by assessment of size tests under
Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules, may constitute a discloseable
transaction or above), in which case, such potential loan(s) shall
be reported by the director(s) of the money lending business who
will elaborate to the Board such potential loan(s) in contemplation
and the recommendations therewith for discussion and approval,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
shall then consider whether such loans are on normal commercial
terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, for any potential loan(s)
which may involve connected person(s) as defined under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules, such loan(s) will be reported to the
Board immediately for assessment with respect to size tests and
assessment by the Board as elaborated above.

The Manuals further provide the guideline for dealing with loan and
interest repayment of default. Generally, the designated officer of the
money lending business shall first remind the borrower prior to the
due date of the loan. Should the borrower fail to repay the loan and
interests promptly, the Manuals set out the loan collection procedure
to monitor the recoverability of the loan on an ongoing basis.

Basis of impairment loss

The Group has appointed independent qualified professional valuer
to perform an appraisal of the ECL of loan and interest receivables.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised a
reversal of allowance for ECL of approximately HK$174,000 (2023:
allowance of ECL of approximately HK$721,000) comprised of an
increase in allowance for ECL of approximately HK$575,000 and a
reversal of allowance for ECL of approximately HK$749,000 after
settlement of one of the loan and interest receivables. For details,
please refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Group recognises the impairment loss under HKFRS 9 ECL model
on loans and interest receivables for each of the reporting periods.
The ECL model is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses,
which are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfall (i.e. the difference between the cashflow due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive), discounted at original effective interest rate,
where the effect of discounting is material.

When estimating the ECL on loan and interest receivables, the Group
has considered the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis by comparing the risk of default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. The Group has also taken into account forwarding-
looking information including actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the counterparties’ ability
to meet its obligations.

Under the general approach of the ECL model, the assumptions
underpinning the Group's for the loan and interest receivables are set
out below:
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Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of ECL provision
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Stage 1 Exposures where there has not been a significant  Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with the
increase in credit risk since initial recognition probability of default events occurring within the
and that are not credit-impaired upon next 12 months is recognised.
origination.
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Stage 2 Exposures where there has been a significant Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but  remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
are not credit-impaired. recognised.
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Stage 3 Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when  Lifetime expected losses is recognised and interest
one or more events that have a detrimental revenue is calculated by applying the effective
impact on the estimated future cash flows of interest rate to the amortised cost (net of
that asset have occurred. provision) rather than the gross carrying amount.
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Practically, in setting the stage for the loan and interest receivables,
the Group will consider the characteristic of the loan and interest
receivables and recognise the ECL provision according to the
respective accounting practice of the Group. The loans have been
assessed individually based on the probability of default and
exposure of default. Since the outstanding loan has been overdue
for repayment as at 31 March 2024, the probability of default would
have increased. However, considering the credit worthiness and
by reviewing the past repayment history of the borrowers where
accrued interests have been settled during the period and/or
subseqguent to the period, the Group considers the loan is not credit-
impaired and is categorised as Stage 2 for ECL assessment.

The Board is of the view that the above-mentioned methodology and
the basis applied were common and widely used in the market and
such approach in measuring the ECL on loan and interest receivables
is consistent with practice adopted by Group. The Board considers
such methodology and the basis applied are fair and reasonable.

The Group would conduct regular review and carry out follow up
actions in respect of overdue amounts to minimise the Group's
exposure to credit risk and follow up closely with its borrowers
as to the deadlines in payment of interest of the loans. An aging
analysis of the debtors is prepared on a monthly basis and is closely
monitored to minimise any credit risk associated with these debtors.
The Management Team will in turn report the status of the loan
portfolio to the Board, such that the Board may closely monitor the
loan portfolio and continue to adopt risk control and management
strategies while broadening the customer base.

The Group has set up guideline for dealing with outstanding loan
and interest repayment. Generally, the Group shall first remind the
borrower prior to the due date of the loan. Should the borrowers fail
to repay the loan and interests promptly, the Manuals set out the
loan collection procedure to monitor the recoverability of the loan on
an ongoing basis. While the Group has been in negotiation with the
borrowers on the repayments of the outstanding loans, the Group has
issued monthly repayment notices to the borrowers and demanding
for the repayment of the outstanding principal and interest. The
Group would make endeavour effort to collect the outstanding
principal in due course.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through equity
fund raising and by its internal resources.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$61.8 million (2023: HK$31.2 million), including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$45.7 million (2023: HK$5.9
million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 4.7 times as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 2.1 times).
The increase in the current ratio during the year ended 31 March
2024 was mainly attributable to the increase in cash and bank
balances from the net proceeds of rights issue and the disposal of
investment property during the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only.
There was no change in the capital structure of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024. Total equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$73.5 million as at 31
March 2024 (31 March 2023: HK$48.0 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's borrowings comprised of lease
liabilities of approximately HK$1.9 million (2023 HK$9.5 million) and
interest-bearing borrowings of nil (2023: HK$5.0 million). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity,
was approximately 2.6% (2023: 30.2%). The decrease in the gearing
ratio during the year ended 31 March 2024 was mainly attributable to
repayment of the interest-bearing borrowings during the year.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$"), Renminbi (“RMB") and Macanese pataca (“MOP"), and
its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate
movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange
risk.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Save for the disposal of an investment property, there has been no
significant acquisition and disposal of assets or subsidiaries of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
For the details of events after the reporting period, please refer to
note 40 of the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 17 (2023: 34) employees.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly based
on industry practices and individual's performance and experience.
On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2024 (including
emoluments and salaries to staff and Directors and MPF
contributions) was approximately HK$7.5 million (2023: HK$11.2
million).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial management
risks.
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The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group are
summarised as follows:

. Our revenue from design, fitting out and engineering services
and leasing of construction equipment relies on successful
quotation or tenders which are not recurrent in nature, and
there is no guarantee that our existing customers will provide
us with new business or that we will secure new customers;

o Reduction or termination of public sector projects in Hong Kong
may adversely affect our revenue and results of operations;

o Failure to estimate the costs involved accurately in the
implementation of the projects and delay in completion of the
projects which may adversely affect our operating results and
financial position; and

. We plan to expand our capacity by expanding manpower
which may result in an increase in additional staff costs due to
shortage of skilled labour force which may adversely affect our
operating results and financial position.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental conservation.
Various practices have been implemented to encourage compliance
with environmental legislation and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Further discussion
of environmental policy and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 38 to
83 of this annual report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group's businesses.
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The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 28
June 2024, being the date of this annual report, are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Ms. Miao Xianliu (“Ms. Miao"), aged 48, is an executive Director
of the Company since May 2024. Ms. Miao completed the safety and
technology management major course of East China University of
Science and Technology. Ms. Miao has over 25 years of experience in
engineering and building materials business in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC").

Mr. Law Hok Yu (“Mr. Law"), aged 34, is an executive Director
and company secretary of the Company since May 2024. Mr.
Law obtained his bachelor degree of Business Administration in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Law is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Law has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate finance.

Mr. Law is currently an executive director and company secretary of
Hang Yick Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1894), since May
2024.

Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang"), aged 53, is an executive Director of
the Company since February 2017. Mr. Wang completed a certificate
programme in General Education from BB & 2 ZEME 24X (literally,
Guangdong Suixi Education College), the PRC in 1988. Mr. Wang
completed a professional programme in Business Administration
from /8B MR £ 1T (£ 2B (Shanghai Institute of International
Economic and Technical Education) in the PRC and was awarded a
bachelor degree in management in 2010. He also holds a qualification
as qualified funds practitioner from the Asset Management
Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in real
estate, corporate strategic management, project management,
investment business, and funds management.
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Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (“Ms. Tsang"), aged 43, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since October 2023. Ms.
Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honors) degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2002. Ms. Tsang is a
certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and a project management professional of Project
Management Institute. Ms. Tsang has over 15 years of experience in
commercial sector and listed companies.

Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (“Mr Li"), aged 32, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2023. Mr Li
obtained his bachelor's degree in Accounting from The University
of Hull. Mr. Li has around 10 years of experience in the areas of
accounting and financial management in financial institutions and
corporations, and led several large audit and financing projects.

Mr. Li is currently an executive director of Hope Life International
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1683), since April 2024, and an
independent non-executive director of HSC Resources Group Limited
(stock code: 1850), since March 2022.

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (“Ms Chan”), aged 29, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since May 2024. Ms. Chan
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from University of Hull in
England. Ms. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Chan has over 8 years of financial and
accounting experiences.

Ms. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Hope
Life International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1683), since October
2023.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 59, is the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018 and
has extensive experience in waterproofing works and maintenance
industries.

Mr. Li Sze Yan (“Mr. Li"), aged 44, is the project controller of a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li join the Group in December 2017 and
has extensive experience in fitting out and engineering industries.

g

BInEgt ((S4t) 43 B =F+
BARARADBIENTES SR EIN_EF
TEESEAEIARBGHENEE L (BE)
BBt AFBEHMAT T RES
EREREB LTSNS T ERERE
EEERe s EREEEE AL S utREE
SEE R E AR BSELE

FREXRE (FRE) 2m BT -=F
T ZRER/RERBRBIUIFPITESE - FREEH

WABESGS ﬁ“:tfﬁf_wq—f‘ﬁélz?‘ﬁﬁm%%
R E 5t RV B E IR R N0F L5

BRESEAARMEFS RFMERE -

FREBZZ_NMFNAERBEERERIZERSA
RAB (BRMHASE:1683) WRITEE B-Z
“THE-PRERBREEREEFRAD (KRH
5% 1 1850) BYBILIFITEE -

mERLL (Bt 9% B2 _MFH
BERTRADBIUIFNTET MU T ETHRK
HEAREF 2B LB MY T R/EBEE
MAEEE - MRIEMBRE T EEAER
BEERYAE B °

BRLtBE T =—F+HERABRERERA
PRAB (BRAHUSE 1 1683) B IEHITESE -

BREERE
BB St (RS > 59 AAEREETH

BARIZER - HELEN_Z—N\EMARE
E Rk IERRETEREREE TFEE-

FRCEE (TFEE)) » Mpp RAEE M
BRABIZ IRRBE -FHRENR_E—L&F+-R
MARER REERTRETEEFSE LK
%ﬁo



Annual Report 2023/2024

TECICF/CECNFEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SR B HS

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this corporate
governance report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal
control procedures of the Group could balance the interests of
the shareholders, customers and employees of the Company. The
Board has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 of the Rules (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and decision-
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
In accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee, a nomination committee and a compliance committee
with specific written terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has complied
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules
except for the following deviations from the Code provisions:

. Code provision C.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The post of chief executive
of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February 2020
and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is
a clear division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy
of the post of chief executive did not have any material impact
on the operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board
will review the current structure from time to time and if a
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience is
identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the post of
chief executive as appropriate.

. Code provision C.2 stipulated that there are certain roles
and responsibilities to be carried out by the chairman of the
Company. Due to the vacancy of the chairman of the Company
following the resignation of Mr. Chau Chi Yuen as a chairman
on 29 February 2024, such roles are delegated to the executive
Directors except the roles and responsibilities as stated in code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.
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. Code provision C.6.3 stipulates that the company secretary
should report to the chairman of the Board and/or the chief
executive officer. As the positions of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer have been vacant, the company
secretary reports to the executive Directors of the Company
since the resignation of Mr. Chan Chi Yuen as a chairman on 29
February 2024.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Directors in office during the year
and up to the date of this annual report are set out in the “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report on pages 84 to 92.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor the
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management
of the Company. The Group has a professional management team,
which is led by a team of senior management with substantial
experience and expertise in the Group's business and the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Group's policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with updates in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. All minutes of the Board meetings were
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 18 Board meetings and 4 general
meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

23

REERN EFEEETIBREFTEHEKRIN
REARG -BEFHHEFBNT

Attendance/
Number of Attendance/
General Number of
Meeting Board Meeting
entitled to entitled to
attend attend
HERE HERE
BHEHERN BREBERN
BEXE EXgEER
BITRH BITRY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen &R E
(resigned on 29 February 2024 and ceased (PRZZE_ME_B -+ HEHE
to be Chairman on 29 February 2024) WHRZEZWEFEZAZ+NH
THEEAER) 3/3 17/17
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen ERUR%SE W2 Z=FhB+HH
(appointed on 15 September 2024 ERZEUR_ETOFABZ+—H
and resigned on 21 May 2024) BHE) 2/2 11/11
Ms. Miao Xianliu 2z + N/A N/A
(appointed on 7 May 2024) R-E_NERBtHEST) TER ~ER
Mr. Law Hok Yu BBMEEE N/A N/A
(appointed on 21 May 2024) MR-E_NERR _+—RHESZD TR A
Non-executive Director FEHITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BiEfE
(resigned on 3 June 2023) (RZZZ=F/B=H#D 0/0 11
Independent non-executive Directors JEIIJEHITES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex FREIH S E
(resigned on 16 October 2023) RZEBZ=F+A+/H&#D 2/2 9/9
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKEE
(resigned on 21 May 2024) (MRZZEZmFERBEZ+—HEFD 4/4 18/18
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4
(resigned on 8 Dec 2023) (MRZZEZ=F+Z"ANH&ED 3/3 15/15
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BISEZEL L
(appointed on 16 October 2023) (RZZEZ=F+HB+/HEZD 2/2 9/9
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon EREBRE
(appointed on 8 December 2023) (MZE_=ZFE+"BNHEZD 2/2 3/3
Ms. Chan Wai Yan RERZ+ N/A N/A
(appointed on 21 May 2024) MR-E_NERR _+—RHESZD TEH A
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal
Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two or three years and such
term shall be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either party
giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board may appoint any person as an additional
Director or to fill a casual vacancy, provided that any person so
appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next
following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filing a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

In addition, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 141
of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election.
Where the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number which is
nearest to but not less than one-third of the total number of Directors.
If there are less than three Directors, they shall all retire. The Directors
to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been Directors
longest in office since they were last elected, or appointed by the
Members (as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, among
the three independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Tsang Hau Wai
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Ms. Tsang Hau Wai,
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon and Ms. Chan Wai Yan to be independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The post of chief
executive of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February
2020 and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the post of
chief executive did not have any material impact on the operations of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review the current structure
from time to time and if a candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and
experience is identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the
post of chief executive as appropriate.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and management of the Company with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while
reserving certain key matters in making strategic decision for its
approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it gives clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company would
arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the
Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

FERITHAER

RIEEEE AT Z TR EA2.1ME  EfFEHE
THRHENACETHEMAEERE— AT
HIEITFE_/A - +—HURREAREHER
AR THBRBN BB T TR RS
HEMAITEEBT BANSEE2EXHHRE
RE WTBESR—BRTHASE 2 EEIE
FEAEAFE AT BB BTEHIRT
- MEEHEEGENN B REGZ A&
BEEGENBEERSTTBEHIERE R

EhER

EFEREARBNTESREERRELE
ERHEEE BRITENaEREHREHES
SHRE METARMEBEARNTIEZTEABR
EFERE -EFERHEBEERTHBEERTE
ERER HEEENE N HBMET &
EEEBAXRARBFHERRRWETILER
AR ANEFGERREAFLAENBR

RFEEXER

RBEEEATZTRIMRCEALSE 258
EEESARKEIXLRMIDERERIREN
MR Ae BARSHERNEETSFHANBER
ERNER AR RAEETR K NEES
TEFHFIIRE MG E R ERTF R

ae
BE °

BRNEAEENEREZERGWEIZE IE
AKRESFTHIEIES URREREE QB EE R
EERBEENER BRET2MEHREGEM
LIHRAREFEERENEERES EFF
REESAMERAERERUREBKTS
BENRWER LUEREBTHRES

/



26

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
CRERERARAS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SR B HS

All Directors during the reporting period have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills through suitable trainings. The participation
in such trainings is to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors that may arise
out in the corporate activities which has been complied with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Ms. Tsang Hau Wai. The other members are Mr. Li Ka
Chun Gordon and Ms. Chan Wai Yan. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include the review of the Group's financial reporting
process and the internal control systems as well as risk management
of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed financial matters, including a review of the audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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4 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year. Details of RAXRERN BEREZEGRITIRNEH BIREE
the attendance of members of the Audit Committee meeting are as EHEHFESZH 2 HFBEWT ¢

follows:
Attendance

Members [54=] HiFE R
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (Chairman) BIZEL T (£/F)

(appointed on 16 October 2023) (MRIZE2EZ=F+A+HEZMD 11
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon EREBRE

(appointed on 8 December 2023) RZEBE_=F+"_BN\BEZT 0/0
Ms. Chan Wai Yan RERLZ T N/A

(appointed on 21 May 2024) MR-E_NERR _+—RHESZD A
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex FREIH S

(resigned on 16 October 2023) (MRZE2EZ=F+A+/B&D 3/3
Mr. Wu Zhao Sk E

(resigned on 21 May 2024) (RZZ2EZMFERBEZ+—BH&ED a/4
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vasc 4

(resigned on 8 Dec 2023) RZZEZ=F+ZANH&ED 4/4

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the U TFABZREZE SN AERNFIETZ TIEHE
year is set out below:

(@)  reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group for the (a) BEAEEHE_T_=—F=H=+—H
year ended 31 March 2023; IEFEZRBIZEGEE;

(b)  reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three months (b)) BEEBEE_Z_=F,"A=+HI=EAH
ended 30 June 2023 and six months ended 30 September 2023; REE_ZE=FNB=1+HILNEEZ
RISBRIZITERER ;

(©) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls, () BREIAERIFEERIE W EIERER
internal control and risk management systems; BEAKZ B ;

(d  reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices, and  (d) BWEAEBRZ Z:tRAIAKMERRER ;
financial reporting matters;

(e) approved the remuneration and the appointment and the  (e)  #E/ESMEERLENED ~ Sl R B U R ZEEE
terms of engagement of the external auditor; and E 4

(H  reviewed the external auditor's independence and objectivity () R IEE BIZ#EERIINEAZBEN 2 BT ML
and the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with REBZERZEEERBRE
applicable standards.
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In the meeting of the Audit Committee in June 2024, the Audit
Ccommittee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the financial statements and other reports
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and discuss any significant
audit matters with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Audit Committee recommended the
Board in relation to the re-appointment of Global Link CPA Limited as
the Company's external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March
2025 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2
of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Li
Ka Chun Gordon. The other members are Ms. Tsang Hau Wai and Ms.
Chan Wai Yan. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
are to review and recommend the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and the
senior management personnel of the Group, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment.

1 Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year to
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review the remuneration packages of all Directors. Details of the FEEEZFHENFBe %ﬁ@ﬂié EREHEE®EZ
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee meeting  s£1EIF :
are as follows:
Attendance

Members [n4=] HERE
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (Chairmarn) ERBIE (FE)

(appointed on 8 December 2023) (RZE_=F+"BNHEZD 0/0
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BILhE2Z L

(appointed on 16 October 2023) MNZEBE_=ZF+A+HEZD 0/0
Ms. Chan Wai Yan RERL N/A

(appointed on 21 May 2024) (RZEZNFERA -+ —HBEZD FiE A
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PRSI A e A

(resigned on 16 October 2023) (RZEZ=FE+8+/HED 1/1
Mr. Wu Zhao C=¥ S

(resigned on 21 May 2024) (RZZEZmFEABEZ+—HED 11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4

(resigned on 8 Dec 2023) MRZEBE_=ZE+"BNB&ED 11
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also
provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration
policy with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as
measured against corporate objectives achieved. The executive
Directors are entitled to the remuneration packages including basic
salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
(i) employees of the Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii)
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the
Group; (i) substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
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(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the Group 1% = F) & B2 82 B A1) 2 B B2 EE 21K » 3 T Bh 1%
of which includes any of the abovementioned persons (together, the  EBFMARERN FHIEH S -
“Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with an opportunity to obtain
an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the
interests of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive
to work better for the interests of the Group.
The Company believes that by offering the Participants a shareholding A AFEE  BRB S HERBAREKRE > 7]
stake in the Company, the interests of the Participants and the iR a5 B A B R 35 8 AL — AR > 3 78 T EUED
company become aligning and thereby the Participants have 2 EAKRNTFE(ES
additional incentives to improve the Company's performance.
Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual 2R {2 &858 Z SFRME S EEE.1.50% 5
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for EBABZHE_ZT_WE=ZBF=+—H JtEJE
the year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows: s E BN T -
Numbers of
Individuals
ABHEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,000% 7© 3

~
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company's articles of association
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy on
or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Chan
Wai Yan. The other members are Ms. Tsang Hau Wai and Mr. Li Ka
Chun Gordon. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional Directors,
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

1 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year to review
the appointment of all Directors. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Nomination Committee meeting are as follows:

RAZEEE

EFZTUREBLASMEMEEMAFTR T #
HEEMATHEEFLUARRR Z 6 SNA
EFERATHE SERBEARERZESS
UHEE MEFETETBRBBEEAZEEER
RiSBE R TEER - EEERE/EEABS
FEEEBRERERE  BIUERARERE
BHEEES-

KRARR _E—MERA=+THRIRERLEES
(MRRZEE)) LEREFEATZTR
B EBI MR EHBELE IR0 S TR
H=RBIFATESEMN  HARER R TEE
TE HEMERBELEREIRFRESLLE R
LEEENTIEREDMEREE AELUAR
TRAZEMBEEFTUREFEET CHEER
AERREIBITHAR DEFGRHEZ

RAER RLEZEERTIRGEUSTHEE
EEZZE -RLZEEMBHFEIRZFEN
T

Attendance

Members [54=] HERH®
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (Chairman) MERZT (&) N/A

(appointed on 21 May 2024) (RZZ_mERB-+—HEZMD A
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BIE+t

(appointed on 16 October 2023) RZZEZ=F+EB+HEZD 0/0
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon EREBRE

(appointed on 8 December 2023) MZEBE_=ZFE+"BANBEZD 0/0
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex Fe Sl A S A

(resigned on 16 October 2023) (RZEZ=F+A+/HFD 1/1
Mr. Wu Zhao C-¥ S

(resigned on 21 May 2024) (RZZEZmFEARBEZ+—HED 11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast 4

(resigned on 8 Dec 2023) (MRZE_=FE+"BN\B&ED 11
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board had adopted and established a set of board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with the aims of enhancing Board effectiveness
and corporate governance as well as achieving the Group’s business
objectives and sustainable development. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board's composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Board was comprised with single gender Directors
until the appointment of Ms. Tsang Hau Wai on 16 October 2023. To
enhance board diversity, the Board expects to continue and maintain
a diverce Board. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement
of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy.

Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference. The Compliance Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired
by Ms. Tsang Hau Wai. The other members are Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon
and Ms. Chan Wai Yan.
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The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to review
matters relating to the historical conduct of the operations of the
Group with a view to () understand the relevant legal compliance
obligations; (ii) recommend procedures and protocols for
implementation and/or inclusion into the policies of the Group for
regulation of our recent or future operations to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review such
policies from time to time to consider whether any amendments
or updates are necessary and to make recommendations to
the Board for amendment and adoption as appropriate, and (iii)
review the effectiveness of and compliance by the Group with the
policies implemented by the Group and to recommend remedial
actions to be taken (if any) in the event any non-compliance is
discovered. Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly basis
or as and when necessary to perform the functions set out above.
For effective monitoring, external independent professionals will
be engaged to conduct reviews of our internal control system and
its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis, and if
considered necessary by compliance committee, at frequency as it
considered appropriate.

1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Compliance Committee
meeting are as follows:

EREEEZIEHERBTARAERBE
EETRZERE N THRBMZEZRGREE;
(NEFBRFRFEUAMETR,HAARESR
R BERERMROIRKEE  LIRERE
STUBRER HRIRER B RRREZE
R UEERER2FHEMEIHERR I
MEFFRHBE BT RFRM 2 ; Ky
FEEMMBMBRZ AR EAERRTZE
RZBER TERREOFGRTHFHRERK
B2 B¥ITE W0A) -ERFERERFEER
ZETER TRRESRANEBERET LU
BITEXFBZBE - RAVNER GHESE
REEREERRBEREZBR TRERAE
EZREE BREIMNIBILIEEAL LURFR
2 BB B MR H BT R Ak Ak

REFR GRESEERTIRNERZ - GREER
EHEHFEERZFRNT

Attendance

Members [54= HERXR
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (Chairman) BI52%+t (FE)

(appointed on 16 October 2023) RZEZ=F+A+HEZMT 0/0
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon EREBRE

(appointed on 8 December 2023) MRZEBE_=ZFE+"AN\BEZEDE 0/0
Ms. Chan Wai Yan RERLL N/A

(appointed on 21 May 2024) (RZZ_WERB-+—HEZMD iR
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR At ST

(resigned on 16 October 2023) RZEBEZ=F+A+/H&#D 11
Mr. Wu Zhao RIREE

(resigned on 21 May 2024) (MRIZE2EZOFERAZ+—HB#D 11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4

(resigned on 8 Dec 2023) RZ2EZ=F+Z"ANH&ED 1”71
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Corporate Governance Functions

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor's Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report. The
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the auditors of
the Company, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was as
follows:

2B A =
FR MBZESFERZRBENREN R AT %
HEDBYMN =N T

HK$'000

FET

Audit service EBIZR 650
Non-audit services JEBEIZARTS -
Total 4Est 650

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions of different systems. Review has been carried out in a
systematic approach based on the risk assessments of the operations
and controls. The Board considers that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed professional
firm to perform internal audit function, on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
financial, operational and risk management aspects. The systems
were considered effective and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas across
the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which are appraised
and maintained. The risk management system, as well as the internal
control system, are continuous, proactive and Systematic processes.

with the implementation of internal audit function, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems is reviewed by
conducting internal audit assignments. Recommendations for major
observations of control weaknesses from the audits will be provided,
S0 as to resolve material internal control defects.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted and established a set of dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does not have a pre—
determined dividend payout ratio. Any declaration, payment and
amount of dividend in the future are subject to the Board's discretion
having regard to the Group's future financial performance and
earnings, capital requirement and surplus, general financial conditions
and other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from shareholders may be put to the
Board through the following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company's principal place of business at Suite
2201, 22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications channel
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of
the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (i) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders
and investors; and (v) the Company'’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days' notice shall be given. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group's
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor to attend
the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor's report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
The directors are required to call a general meeting if the company
has received requests to do so from members of the company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
having a right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting;
and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director or
recommended by the board of directors for election as a director by
validly lodging the following documents within the period hereinafter
mentioned at the registered office of the Company at Suite 2201,
22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the appointment
or reappointment of such person to the office of director, which
must state the full name of such person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his willingness to
be appointed or re-appointed as a director together with his
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.
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Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of the
Company within the period of seven (7) days after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents,
the Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal is found
to be in order, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular in respect of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10) clear
business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules) or fourteen (14)
days' (whichever is the longer) notice in writing, such documents
lodged within the aforesaid period may be received less than ten
(10) business days prior to the general meeting, in which case the
Ccompany will consider the adjournment of the general meeting
in order to give shareholders at least ten (10) business days to
consider the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which includes the
latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the vyear, the company secretary has duly complied with
relevant professional training requirements in accordance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board has proposed to make certain amendments to the existing
amended and restated articles of association to bring it in line with
the amendments made to the GEM Listing rules, in particular to
conform with the core shareholder protection standards as set out
in Appendix A1 to the GEM Listing Rules. In view of the amendments,
the Board proposed to adopt the amended and restated articles
of association (the “New Constitutional Documents”). The New
Constitutional Documents was adopted by way of a special resolution
passed at annual general meeting held on 7 September 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, there was no significant changed in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31 March
2024. The Articles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Purpose and Objective

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or “we") are
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG") Report (the “Report”). The Report discloses the Group’s
management approach, strategies, policies and performance on
various sustainability issues in a transparent manner. We recognise
the importance of ESG value and are dedicated to creating long-
term shared value for the environment, employees, customers and
community by paying attention to our stakeholders' needs.

Reporting Scope and Period

Unless otherwise specified, the scope of the Report is consistent with
the reporting scope of the Group's annual report. The information
disclosed in the Report covers our core business segments, including
(i) provision of design, fitting-out and engineering procurement of
furnishings and related products services (“design, fitting-out and
engineering services”); (i) leasing of construction equipment and
provision of related installation services (‘leasing of construction
equipment”); (i) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines (“wines merchandising”); and (iv) financial services business
comprising securities advisory services, securities dealing and
brokerage services and asset management services and money
lending (“financial services business”), for the period from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

The reporting boundary is determined according to the corresponding
materiality of each business segment to our business and operations,
as well as the sustainability impact.

Reporting Standards

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the latest
disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Reporting Principles

The Report has been prepared based on the reporting principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency outlined in the ESG
Reporting Guide to ensure that the Report clearly presents the ESG

ERRA

R EAHRESBFE2RBFIFTNEFTBIERIESG
s RIS B EIRESCR S 155/ PRY BRI EER
RA 22216 PHE MR-
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issues that are of concern to our stakeholders.

Reporting

Principles
EER R

Our Application
H M ER

The Report is structured based on the materiality of respective sustainability issues, as assessed
and identified through regular stakeholder engagement activities and materiality assessment.
Issues that reflect the highest significance to both the Group and key stakeholders, in terms of
environmental and social impacts, are considered material and will be further discussed in the
Report. For further details of our stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment processes,
please refer to the sections of “Stakeholder Engagement “and “Materiality Assessment”.
FREEFEBEHRFNESENEZ ML R EFELERZENEZ M FL TG &H5
MEEN - ARENHt X E T EEAEEN I EFNEREENZEGRETRAERER
TR ERREFE—T I m e AMRMANFRE2ENEZMTENFMERE  F2RE RO E
28 MIBEE N HIEmM-

Materiality
EEM

We have listed relevant quantified environmental and social key performance indicators
("KPIs") and their historical data, where applicable, in the Report so that stakeholders can better

uantitative , N
Q understand the Group's sustainability performance.

FE pmpram s T RN T BB R E SRR E B (R - LS
MERE T BAEENAFEERRE -
The Group has provided an unbiased picture of our ESG performance by impartially disclosing
relevant ESG performance, challenges and opportunities of the Group during the Reporting Period
salance in the Report
s AEBFIBT AR S A F M EARE BN S HABMERIESGRIR ~ PhEA 8 » MR Fi
BIRFFIRVESGRIR o

The Report has been prepared to be consistent with the methodology applied in previous ESG
reports, allowing for meaningful comparisons over time, unless otherwise specified. Necessary
explanations would be provided regarding any changes to the methodology used, as compared to
the previous year, in the Report.

RSB AN AR ENHEEBTESCRERATIRBAN A EZRE —B MEHARENLER
EBFTRAN AR T ERLEFEEREE) RSN ARSFHNERERE

Consistency
—H%

Access to the Report RS E

As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report has been
prepared in both English and Chinese and is available on our
corporate website at http://www.royalcentury.hk. In case of any
discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Your Feedback

The Group endeavours to connect with our stakeholders through the
Report. We would like to invite you to share your valuable opinions,
which would help us further refine our sustainability management
approach and performance. If you have any inquiries or suggestions,
please contact us at info@royalcentury.hk.

EAAERFERSN M KREUFH
XARE WEH N BHA QB Bikhttp://www.
royalcentury.hk o 4075 15 & > AR SRR A B % ©

B THREE
NEELZBBAREARMNFTHEHE R
fagE BTITOZREERR > S8R ME
— P RERMNARFEEREEAHERE W
BEAREBIZES  B@Binfo@royalcentury.hk
PAF IR o
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ABOUT THE GROUP
The Group is principally engaged in four business segments,
including:

J Provision of design, fitting-out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services,

. Leasing of construction equipment and provision of related
installation services,

o Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and
. Financial services business comprising securities advisory

services, securities dealing and brokerage services and asset
management services and money lending.

Our Operations

IR

PR A EE
AEBEBUENEETS 05

o RERF EERIBBRBRRBERER
TR Em AR

o THERERBERREHAEMZERS;

o EERBREH; Uk

s ETRMEBEFCEAIFREMUER EF
R RECRE BEEERB ARG

| {

Design, fitting-out,

{ |

and engineering cgﬁzﬂﬂgt?cfn Wine Financial
services ) merchandising services
Wit 2R g‘ggg%”t B SR
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OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH TO
SUSTAINABILITY
ESG Management Approach and Strategy

RANETRHEEREES &

ESGEIE T #t K R

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally, socially ~ AEBEBIREMBEFURE T ENKES
and economically responsible manner across all segments of our BENAREZ - B TERRE - BT -EFM
business. In pursuit of a sustainable future for the environment, HEMAFERI AEFESE ((EFT)) it
employees, customers and community, the board of directors of J#ESGIEZR » Hp SR A FEE BT ((1)
the Group (the "Board”) approves the ESG framework including four ~ #IKMNETAISEE ;QAKRMNEFAIEE
sustainability pillars: (1) Creating Value for Our Employees; (2) Creating & ; QAR MMNIRIEAISEE ; kA)ABHRMT
Value for Our Customers; (3) Creating Value for Our Environment; and ~ BEISEE > UKkAS A HFEE BRI EHIE 718
(4) Creating Value for Our Community, as well as the sustainability —FERAIIFEERBEE Tt o

goals and targets* for each of the sustainability pillars as set out

below.

Our Goal

EMEE

To enhance customer
experience with quality
products and services for
the benefit of customers
MEENESNRFE
BRfER FEARE

Oour Goal

EMMBE

To shoulder corporate
social responsibility
and give back to our
communities
AECETEET
Ell:=ran=,

SJaWoIsnY N0
10} anjeA Suneasd

e
3
s
Tn
m
B
B
m

Our Goal*

RMBE*

To pursue green and sustainable
Creating Value for operations by reducing our
(Ol IR impact to the environment in

ARFRIRIEASEE -
response to climate change

AR RMIRIENEEIN
FEERIEEME > BREFEMA]
HENEE
*Please refer to the section of
“Climate Change” for more details of
our green targets.
“BRIZFIFISFEERE » FEE
TfREHE) ZAF o

Our Goal

E2aliil:0[=pe

To build aninclusive and
joyful work environment for
ouremployees
BHMNETEII—EEAMN
TRV TAEIRIR

A2 Q
$£=3
%g;ﬁ
= >
S5®
me 5
H® =
m B ©
o
5)
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ESG Governance and Board’s Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board provides oversight of our ESG issues and sets
the overall direction for the Group’s ESG management approach
and strategy. Delegated by the Board, the ESG Working Group is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG management approach,
driving the planning and implementation of the Group’s ESG-related
matters, and advising the Board on the matters including but not
limited to the below on a regular basis:

o developing and reviewing the ESG management approach,
vision, goals and targets, and strategies for the Group;

o identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG-
related risks (including but not limited to climate-related risks
and environmental and social risks along the supply chain) and
formulating preventive and mitigation plans;

J formulating and overseeing the implementation of ESG-related
policies and initiatives;

. reviewing the material interests of the Group's key stakeholders
and reporting their opinions on material issues to the Group to
ensure the long-term ESG strategic direction;

. reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the Group's
ESG performance and progress made against the ESG-related

targets and goals;

. embedding the sustainability strategy in each department of
the Group;

o reviewing and monitoring employees’ training and
development of the Group;

. coordinating with other staff to deliver ESG-related matters in
daily operations; and

. preparing an annual ESG report on its activities for the Board's
approval.

g

ESGERKMREFENEE
EEEHAEENESGRIEMERKIELIE
E-EEGHRMMESCERETEE LAK
EEMESCEE S it R RIEHIE RIS M ESC
THRNMEESEERE A 5EEARERAIESC
EEFH B AEBESCHMEENRENE
i WEHAMBEERRRUATEEAESTEE
i

o HIERIBHAEBMNESGEERS#H BAR-
BRI RS ;

o HAEHE S BRE R E IR RESGAERTRY
EXER (BFEEFRNEREERRAE
B DU R PSS R EVIRIB R At & %) - T
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o HEREEHRESGHEMINBRMNIEMNE
ifile
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ESG Governance Structure

ESGEALME

The Board
E=g

Finance and Administrative
Division

BT R AT T ANEIREDF

ESG Risk Management

The Group considers ESG risk management as an integral part of
sustainable operations and sound corporate governance. Being
accountable for the sustainable growth of the Group, the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of the Group's
ESG-related risk management activities. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing ESG-
related risks including but not limited to climate-related risks and
also environmental and social risks along the supply chain. Relevant
control measures are formulated and implemented to mitigate
material ESG-related risks at corresponding business levels. The Board
reviews the effectiveness of the control measures and provides
relevant suggestions, if necessary, on a regular basis. For more details
of our corporate governance and risk management approach, please
refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

Stakeholder Engagement

Maintaining on-going communication with stakeholders allows us
to better understand their expectations regarding our sustainability
performance and respond to their needs appropriately. We
communicate with internal and external key stakeholders through a
variety of communication channels to identify material sustainability
issues. This would guide us in further refining our future sustainability
management approach and strategy and continuously improving our
corporate social responsibilities.

Human Resources Division

Sales and Administrative
Division
S KA TECERFT

ESGHHER Az EIE
FEFEFRESCRRERRARKELEENRE2E
FEANEZEMBD EFETHAEENAR
BEREE KEEBEAEBEESGHBERRER
EBNRA BT -ESCIIF/VEE TR 57E
BAEE R EBEESCHBNERER > SFEETIR
IR EARRI R B R U (B S AR ATRIR
BHAEER - ARNEFEEEREERE
1> LUREEARFE £ 75 B m BV E RESGAERI AR
EFTERRAEREEANIE WL ER
REAARRZ BN RMEEEARAREES
HONBEZME F2EAFERSTHIEEE
ARG —Ee

FRESH
HERNERFFENBEBESAEES T
BENEHRMAUFEERRENHE L HMH
MBRIEHBENOE - RMBBEERER
BENEFININEER M EETER LRETE
BANAFBERZE SR ERME—F T
SERMRROAFELREESHANRE LA
EReHRMNEELEEE-
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We have summarised the key stakeholder groups and

communication channels in the following table:

Key Stakeholders

TEFRME

Customers .
'R

RUETERPRE T TEFNEENREBES
RE

Communication Channels
BREE

Customer meetings

YRS

Meetings with sales representatives
HERKEE

Customer hotline

BRHG

Shareholders and Investors .
BRRKREEE

Shareholders’ and investors’ meetings
BREREEESZ

Company website

REHEE

Email

B EH

Employees .
==

Departmental meetings
EREE

Staff appraisal meetings
BT EHEE
Seminars, workshops and trainings
BT & ~ TR R IEE
Intranet

A B

Email

BT M

Internal memo
A=t

Suppliers and Business Partners .
R EESEBH

Physical and phone meetings
BREREEDS

On-site briefing and trainings

IR 5 R R 5l

Collaboration between project managers
IHEKIEZ BNEE

Co-ordination with purchase managers
B IR 7 BBt A
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Key Stakeholders

Government and .
Regulatory Authorities
BT KBRS .

Communication Channels

FERNGE BBRE

Seminars, reports and circulars on regulations
RATFOERRBIIA ST & ~ 3RS M@ K

Company website

NE B

Email

BTG

Fax

BE

Enquiry hotline

B

Financial Institutions .
ERIEIE

Physical and phone meetings
BEREEH

Financial report

MRS

Corporate announcement
REIRNE

Media .
E L

Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings
KRRAGEBNIEEEE

Company website

NGIE DA

Email

BT M

Enquiry hotline

BHAE

Community and Non-governmental .
Organisations (“NGOs")
HHERIEE AT E R .

Participation in community activities
2 HHEES)

community news

1@ 3R
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Materiality Assessment

The Group identifies the materiality of ESG-related issues to both
the Group and its stakeholders based on stakeholder engagement
activities on a regular basis. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, our most recent materiality assessment
was carried out in 2023/24, engaging both internal and external key
stakeholder groups through online questionnaires; the results of this
materiality assessment continue to represent the material topics
raised by stakeholders. The following steps describe our materiality
assessment processes:

SEMTME

SEETHEBFNHE S WIS T EESGHE
A AEENFNENEE S - E B T
BEREMNOHES T RAREHNEZR ST
[R2023/24F E#1T @043 L ERAET R ES
RN EBR M EAREITER ; ZTEERE
BERMFNERBENEE USRI T &
FNEB T HBTRE -

e We engaged an independent sustainability consultant to identify a list of 25 ESG issues

Identification relevant to the Group by referencing to the The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide,
Bl industry characteristics, business operations and stakeholder feedback.

s RMEFTBUNKELRER BBRSEEBHIFAESCGREES M TERM XBHE
EURFFNENREE #i5 72500 A EARRAMESGE-E B E

e We invited internal and external key stakeholders to complete an online
questionnaire and rate the importance of the ESG issues.
o HMBFEABRININEEZFHETHAR LBERE > TWHESGEERN

EEMETTD

e We evaluated and analysed the results of questionnaire rating to identify
the prioritised material ESG issues, and compiled a materiality matrix.

o BMEMEHAENGERETTHHMOM UREEBLEZTENEKX
ESGeE AR T EE B

e A list of 6 most material ESG issues was presented to
the ESG Working Group for discussion and validation.

o B EIE6ERE AESGEEMNS KRR 24ESCT 1E/)\A
MAESY 30 S BT ©

g
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Materiality Matrix

E 4B
g
T
® 21 ® 15
® 13
18
4 ® 10 ®19 ® 22
o
2 © 17 024 07
28 o9
58
S
o o © 14 ® 12 ® 16
°E
S& ® 23 ® 20
& °6
[%2]
®3 ® 25
o1
o8 02
> o5 ®1
g« N
Low High
& Significance to the Group =)
HAEENEEY
List of ESG Issues ESG:& TR
1. Alr emissions 10.  Clean technology 18.  Product assurance and quality
BERBER IRRI M EmFEHES
2. Waste 11.  Green finance 19.  Customer service
BEEY) AR SR BEER
3. Energy consumption 12.  Staff welfare 20. Intellectual property rights
BERIHAE EERA management
4. Greenhouse gas emissions 13.  Equal-opportunity, diversity, HMHERESE
BERAEHER anti-discrimination 21.  Marketing and advertising
5. Water consumption TEHE Ll RER MmiGHEERES
KER 14.  Occupational health and 22.  Anti-corruption
6. Packaging material safety RES
consumption BERRERZE 23.  Community investment
BEYRHE R 15.  Staff development and HERE
7. Climate change risk training 24.  Product design and innovation
RIRECYE bR BT #EREKIE E M st AR
8. Green procurement and 16.  Employment compliance 25.  Data protection and
sourcing BEERME cybersecurity
REIREE 17.  Ethically responsible IR RENRRLT S
9. Environmental risk in supply sourcing
chain BETHRE
HIEHE P RVIRIE B bR

47
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The 6 ESG issues at the top right quadrant of the above materiality M _EEE 4 5EMEA F A ECTBEESCE B #
matrix indicate the most material sustainability issues identified and ~ BAREANAFEL BHEE Wi EARS D

will be further discussed in the Report. E—Faimme
Material ESG Issue Section
B AESG:EE =1:11]
7. Climate change risk Climate Change
RIZEERY R K RIZEE
9. Environmental risk in supply chain Supply Chain Management
R pESE R IV IRIE BB HAEREIE
15.  Staff development and training Development and Training
BT ERKIEN R
18.  Product assurance and quality Product and Service Quality
EmnREEES EmRRBER
22.  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption
k&S R&E=E
Anti-money Laundering
kR
24.  Product design and innovation Product and Service Quality
EE a5t B AT EmRRBEER
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES ABRMNEIRIEEE
Our Goal:
EMeEE:

o To build an inclusive and joyful work environment for our employees
AEMNETRI—EEBMREN TIEIRIE

Material Topic(s) Covered:

FRiRENEKRER
o Staff development and training
BT ERERRE

The Group values its employees, as they are of utmost importance to ~ AEEBEEREMNE T  thMIEAEENRIZE
the Group's long-term development and success. We strive to create BRI EMEE BN AETEE—EAZR
a safe, inclusive and joyful work environment to our staff where 2~ EBEMMNREN TIEIRIE  EMMBME
they feel rewarded, encouraged and accommodated. We ensure @~ EREEMER -HMBEREKETHESTE
strict compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation to ~ FHZEARIEME (THE) EEIEGAERNE
employment practices in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of — F/AE&FRE) > BIEEFRER -

China (the “PRC"), including but not limited to:

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-  7R#R 5 8RR > FIM AR B B 3 BN Az e 11
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to compensation AEKREFA  TERE - RE - FEHE 2T
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest  {b~ RIS UK B8 B R BR A B2 R AR A
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other A E BEAEATGHRHIIE R
benefits and welfare.
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Employee Distribution

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 17 full-time employees
(2022/23: 34 full-time employees). The employee distribution by
gender, age group, employment category and geographical region is
as follows:

BT

HE_Z-_ME=ZA=+—H &xEEHLE17E
2RET (2022/23 1 342 2WET) - #HI4ER &
BAER  EEEERMEE SNETHHNT

By Gender By Age Group
RIS RERHERIBIS
31
11
W 2022/23 W 2022/23
2023/24 2023/24
9 9
8
6
12
A
5 2
3 1
| 1
Male Female Below31  31-40 41-50 51-60  Above 60
Fit kg 3BT 31408 41-508F 51-60BF  60REMLLE
By Employment Category By Geographical Region
ZEEHEES @ 5
22
W 2022/23 30 W 2022/23
2023/24 2023/24
17
° 8
5
3 4 4
[] M o
Senior Middle General And Hong Kong The PRC
Management Management  Technical Staff EG PE
BHREERE PREEE —RRERAMET
Employee Turnover BTk

During the Reporting Period, the overall employee turnover rate was
50% (2022/23: 18%). The employee turnover by gender, age group and
geographical region is shown in the following graphs.

RREERE HPANE TEERLAEAE50%
(2022/23 : 18%) ° TEIFETR T2 R~ FH 48
MBI DHE T HLK.

Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
(By Gender) (By Age Group) (By Geographical Region)
BIAE BIMAE BImAE
($Z1%51819) (FZEEAERIBI9) (@ 15y)
W 2022/23
55% 2023/24
100%
78%
67%
[ 2022/23 W 2022/23
33% 2023/24 50% 50% 2023/24
50%
16% 38%
18%1
8%718% 13%
0% 0% 0% I 0% 0% -
Male Female Below31 31-40 4150 51-60 Above 60 Hong Kong The PRC
Bk fegid 3BT 31-40s%  41-508%  51-608% GOBRMA L &% FRE

Notes:

1) All employee-related data covered the entire Group, including employees in

the PRC.

Bt

1) FrEETHMSREEREED SFETENET
ER -
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Employee Rights and Welfare

We aim to enhance the wellbeing of our employees and protect
their rights. We uphold the principle of equal opportunities and
adopt zero-tolerance towards any kind of discrimination related to
race, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status. In this
regard, our policies related to equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination are clearly stated in our Staff Handbook. During our
recruitment process, we provide equal opportunity to consider
the right candidates based on their appropriate experiences, skills,
competencies and qualifications for a particular position. We provide
equal opportunity of access to appropriate training and development
based on identified business and individual needs.

To safeguard the rights of our staff and foster employee welfare,
we have in place fair and comprehensive human resources policies
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
development and training, working hours, rest periods, benefits and
welfare, and which are set out in our Staff Handbook.

Employee Benefits

BTEF
Paid Leaves
Hir{REA
e Annual leaves o Staff birthday parties
FiR BT4XHIEY
e Maternity leaves e Festival celebrations
ER B H B

Apart from employees’ work performance, we are also concerned
about their wellbeing and encourage work-life balance. To foster a
joyful and positive work atmosphere, we organise various employee
activities each year. During the Reporting Period, a series of lunch
gatherings were organised at our offices to celebrate Mid-autumn
Festival, Christmas and Chinese New Year with our employees.

Attracting and Retaining Talents

Talent acquisition is crucial to the Group's long-term success and
competitiveness. To attract and retain employees with loyalty, passion
and desired skillsets, we provide competitive remuneration package
and benefits to our staff. We continuously monitor market practices
and receive feedback from our staff on salary compensation to
ensure that the salary package provided is in line with the market
standards. Staff appraisal is conducted annually to provide our
staff with sufficient opportunities for advancement and help them
to improve and grow. The staff appraisal result forms the basis for
determining employees’ salary, discretionary bonus and promotion
opportunities.

BT
HPIB RS E TR L (REMFIAIER] -
RAORFTERERA > BEAEER  EFE
IR~ SRE 1B SIS IR R AR B RV IR AR SRR
B BREE o UL ?JaﬁE’J«ﬁI?Hﬂ»EHEE@JEH%
FIERFERE LUK RERERNBR
EHEBBET HARKBERE TSRS I
REMAER ERA LR B EAR e 8
MERK > ZECBEAIREE - RARBESHAIAY
EHGNEARE  REBERIRERN TSR

@ o

RREE T m RS TR FAFI7E #7 Al
&%{E REERET #RAZI TIFRER
B HBRENETEFIE T ATREENIAL
,\/J,_\Blﬁ@tﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂliﬂmﬂh

e Discretionary bonus
BIIBEAL

FRT BT TR HAHOEAOMANENL
jﬁﬁiﬁblf’ﬁéﬁiiiﬁﬂ’ﬂz?ﬁi0%%"%’&%%@?\31
ERE RS gASSBE I EH IR
HHAR BMERA E%ﬂ#? RINTFEES
HMETHEER T PE BB MEERE

R 5| #0i% 8E A 7

AT RAHAEBNRERNMHRFNLEE
B THRSIMBELDH  ROMBEAPIFREE
WE T HAISHETRMHAERFE DBIFINEEN
B - RMAFBEERTHEN LENETHH
YRR U MRATIRMEMFHM S R 55
BRE-FMEFEGETELTE RETRHESR
EHRERE  BEMAESMRE BT
BRIV AEESTHM BBETEARSAHERN
Bho
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The Group regards safety as the first priority in our business as we
have the responsibility to safeguard the health and safety of our
people, subcontractors and the public, where appropriate, in the daily
operations. As such, various occupational health and safety measures
and relevant procedures are implemented for our staff in offices and
construction sites. The Group also strictly complies with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety in Hong Kong and
in the PRC, including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
BE

FEBERZE2AHRMAEBNEZ R BRME
BEEEHEEERRESEI - DEBRAR (W
BRNEENZE2 -BIL HMPERSPLERE
RTHNETERSERERERZE2HEHL
RAARERF AEETERETEERTEARM
BERZENBERZERRER SREETRR

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance ((H% 2 % & K B B EA)))
. Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance ({T k& T 248 & 5))

The PRC
HE

. Labour Law of the PRC ({(Fh#E AR HFME %))

. Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({FRZE A B 0 B 5 22 5B 58 5% )

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded cases of
material work-related injuries (2022/23: nil). The total lost days due
to work injury were 0 days (2022/23: 0). No work-related fatality has
been recorded for the past three years including the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

Construction Health and Safety

To promote health and safety at construction sites, safety policies,
working procedures, plans and measures are set out in the safety
manual for our design, fitting-out and engineering services business.
The safety manual is distributed to all workers and the person-in-
charge of the subcontractors to ensure that they understand all
safety standards. Workers are required to follow all safety rules
and regulations set out in the safety manual, such as wearing
safety helmet at all times and preventing unauthorised use of lifting
construction equipment. To reduce risks of safety hazards, workers
are required to acquire permits for specialised work of high safety
risks.
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To ensure proper implementation of safety measures, safety
inspections are conducted on a regular basis at our construction
sites with follow-up actions, when appropriate. We have in place an
emergency plan to allow workers to respond quickly and properly in
the event of safety incidents.

We raise awareness of workers on occupational health and safety
through various safety promotion programmes and activities. We also
evaluate the safety performance of subcontractors to ensure that
they are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and
safety standards.

Office Health and Safety

To provide a safe and healthy working environment for our
employees, smoking is prohibited in our office operations. We also
arranged our staff from office operations to take part in fire safety
training to raise awareness and strengthen capabilities in coping with
emergency situations during the Reporting Period.
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Development and Training

Employees’ growth and development is beneficial to the Group's
long-term development and sustainability. To help our staff grow
together with the Group, we provide them with various vocational and
job-related trainings to help them equip with the skills and knowledge
required for their positions. To support our employees in acquiring
professional qualifications and skills beneficial to their work, we
sponsor our staff to take professional courses, seminars, workshops
and conferences. During the Reporting Period, training programmes
were arranged covering topics on regulatory compliance updates,
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sustainability and fire safety,
etc.

The percentage of employee trained and average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employment category during
the Reporting Period are as follows:

25 R B
ETREMNERAMNNAEENREMAIFE
R -BMEIERAERERBEMR KB
SR (&= AE R 2 U B TARARRARYIE AN LB
Bh P22 18 HI {1 P T BO R BEAN RN 38t o 23235 3K
MNETESHAETFAEINEXERIK
BE RFIBHETISMERRFRE MG ITIF
M EE e NREHE R T REGHEE
M RES RARB - AREERUKHENZ
EEFERIEIIRE

PREREHAR ) IR BB BB D HZIES
B RELEETMZINNTHIRHOT

2023/24 2022/23
Percentage of employee trained (%) SHIEEER )
By Gender LR Z) 53
Male B 69% 82%
Female gog 31% 18%
By Employment Category HIES 552 7
Senior Management BRERE 56% 23%
Middle Management PAREIRE 26% 32%
General and Technical Staff —REMET 23% 45%
Average Training Hours (Hour) SRESSERZINTRE (M)
By Gender I RE 77
Male B 6.0 3.0
Female g 6.6 2.0
By Employment Category HIESEFIZ] 7
Senior Management BREEE 10.8 24
Middle Management AR EIEE 6.8 8.7
General and Technical Staff — R RFEMET 3.0 24
Notes: B
1) The calculation of the percentage of employee trained and the average 1) RBEHE ZIREEDEURELEERRT

training hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period included
the training data of employees who left the Group during the respective
reporting year, to present an accurate reflection of the training resources
invested by the Group.
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Labour Standards

The Group upholds high labour standards, and prohibits child
or forced labour as it violates human rights and the protocol of
international labour conventions. We ensure strict compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law in the PRC.

To prevent the occurrence of child or forced labour of any kind, we
conduct checking on the applicant’s identity documents to prevent
underaged hires. We would strictly follow the employment contracts
and would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining a deposit,
forcing to work against their will under any kind of threat. Our staff
has the right to terminate the employment contract as long as it is
in compliance with the relevant laws and the Group policies. Once
child or forced labour is identified, we will report to the authorities,
and the employment would be terminated. Our Human Resources
Department reviews the employment practices regularly to ensure
the effectiveness of our existing measures against child and forced
labour. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
material non-compliance with the laws and regulations relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

&% T AR
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. To enhance customer experience with quality products and services for the benefit of customers
MEENERNERBREASTARBRE SERRE

. Anti-corruption
RES

. Product assurance and quality
EmiraElEs

. Product design and innovation
E fna ST B AET

° Environmental risk in supply chain
R FELE PV IRIE BB

The Group recognises that delivering products and services with high AEEEHIIUNSESRERHERNRBE
quality standards is crucial to our long-term business success, and ~ EMIMEEBRINEMEE  WH IR TER
is dedicated to continuously enhancing our customers’ experience  FH& P HESERAMEE « WAIMRRE&ETEE
and satisfaction. We ensure strict compliance with applicable laws — HEmMIRFBEANBEREZENER  BFEET
and regulations relating to the delivery of our products and services, — FRHL :

including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
EBE

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance ((3TE%E2R2BHD FESEEEA))
Money Lenders Ordinance ({1&E AMEA))

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance ({5 Lk B B& &4 ))

Securities and Futures Ordinance ((5&55 K HAE 1£41))

The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance ((fEAZ#} ( FARZ) 1&4))

The Dutiable Commodities Ordinance ((FEzRTR R IEMH))

The Dutiable Commodities (Liguor) Regulations ((FE=RHR 5 (JELE) 3261))

Trade Descriptions Ordinance ({7 fazR BRI ))

The PRC
§

Criminal Law of the PRC ({FPZE A R E£MEHE))

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ((hZE A B £ E /%5 E%))

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ((FPZE A R HEFNE R R IEEFHRFEE))

Advertisement Law of the PRC ({FRZE A R HFNEE &%)

Product Quality Law of the PRC ((rEAREMBEEREEX))

Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ((FZE A R EMBEH & & (R EE))
Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC ({FZE A R HEFAEE A 5 B 1R %))

Copyright Law of the PRC ((ZE A B EMBIZ (FH#EX))

Trademark Law of the PRC ({FREE A\ R HEFEmE1Z%))

Patent Law of the PRC ({ZE A R XA ZEF)3%))
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided.

Product and Service Quality

To ensure the quality of our fitting-out projects, we have in place
a well-established quality management system. In each project, a
project controller is assigned to monitor the progress and ensure
the quality of the project. We also monitor the production progress
of furnishings and fittings used in our projects to ensure satisfaction.
Inspections are carried out to ensure that safety and design
specifications are followed and implemented during the production
Process.

At the execution phase of our project works, we constantly check our
designs against the constraints to ensure the feasibility of the works.
During the working process, we continuously monitor the progress
to ensure that the expectations and requirements of our customers
are met. At the completion stage, we conduct final checking with our
customers to ensure all works are completed in accordance with the
design specifications and the customers’ requirements. A warranty
period from one month to one year is offered to our customers to
ensure completion and satisfaction.

For our construction equipment leasing business, we conduct third-
party testing on the safety of our equipment by qualified test centres.
We also perform regular and proper maintenance on our construction
equipment to ensure its quality and safety. After testing, test reports
are provided to customers to assure the quality of our products. We
also provide guidance to our customers on the proper and safe use
of our construction equipment upon their request.

To ensure quality for our wine products, we conduct regular
inspection of products we received against quality standards. Once
non-conformity is identified, we report it to the wine vendors to
further discuss the arrangement for product recall or other remedial
actions. In addition, we will provide training and clear instructions to
our employees and ensure that the receiver is of age when receiving
the alcohol package. If the receiver's age cannot be ascertained and
there is doubt about his age, no delivery would be made.
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For our financial services business, we ensure that we provide high-
quality agency and money lending services. As a licensed money
lender and a securities broker, we are operating under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (“MLO") and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO"). To protect the interest of our customers, we require our
employees to abide by all forms, procedures and requirements in our
standard procedures as prescribed under the provisions of the MLO
and SFO when providing financial services. We ensure that all product
features, terms and conditions and any associated risks are clearly
communicated to our customers, allowing them to be well-informed
about all necessary information before making decisions.

As a responsible money lender, we provide memorandums to clients
to remind borrowers of the repayment details and ensure that debt
collection is conducted in a lawful manner.

Customer Feedback

We value opinions and feedback from our customers, as they help
us improve our product and service quality. Customer feedback is
collected through various channels, including email, post and fax,
etc. All customer complaints received will be reported to responsible
staff for follow-up actions and rectification. To enhance customer
satisfaction, guidelines are provided to staff on handling customer
feedback and enquiries in a professional manner.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material
complaints related to products and services (2022/23: nil). There were
no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons during the Reporting Period (2022/23: nil).

Data Protection and Intellectual Property Rights

As our operations involve collection of customer information,
we take the responsibility for safeguarding the data privacy of
our customers. Our financial services business strictly follows
regulations and practices related to data privacy as set out by the
regulatory authorities, such as the Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and the Securities and Futures Commission.
When handling clients’ data, we strictly follow applicable laws and
regulations and provide internal guidelines on the proper collection,
use, management and protection of data and information. Security
measures are adopted to protect customer data against unauthorised
or accidental access, processing or erasure.

g
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Rules regarding protection of intellectual property rights are
clearly set out in the Staff Handbook. All staff are required to pay
close attention to the Group's proprietary information, customer
information as well as individual’s personal data. Any document or
written material provided by the Group must not be removed, passed
on, copied or disclosed to third parties without approval by the Group.

Advertising and Labelling
We ensure that our advertising materials do not contain any
misleading or false information.

As a responsible wine merchandiser, we ensure that intoxicating
liguor must not be sold or supplied to a minor in the course of
business as stipulated by local laws, and display a sign containing the
related prescribed notice in both Chinese and English on our online
stores in a reasonably legible manner.

Supply Chain Management

We attach great importance to the quality and performance of
our suppliers, including subcontractors. To ensure the selection
and engagement of high-quality suppliers, we have established a
stringent selection process for our suppliers and subcontractors
based on criteria such as product quality, safety standards,
productivity, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, service
quality, and cost effectiveness. In our wine merchandising business,
we select wine merchants based on their good reputations, high
ratings, reliable supplies, and positive trading histories. We also take
into consideration the socially and environmentally responsible
performance of our subcontractors and suppliers.

To promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, we give priority to local suppliers and contractors
to reduce carbon footprint in the transportation process. We also
prioritise the use of energy-efficient equipment such as LED and
encourage them to opt for products with fewer packaging materials
to reduce unnecessary waste.

To ensure that suppliers and subcontractors uphold high standards,
we conduct supplier assessment on a regular basis. Suppliers
and subcontractors who fail t0 meet our expectations related to
labour practices, health and safety standards and integrity will face
termination of business relationships. An ESG-related risk assessment
has been conducted to identify environmental and social risks along
the supply chain. The supply chain risks and control measures are
carefully monitored, evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG
Working Group on a regular basis.
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During the Reporting Period, we engaged a total of 85 suppliers
(2022/23: 65), including subcontractors. The geographical distribution
of suppliers during the Reporting Period is shown in the below graph.

PREREHARS > RFIBHASSRMER » BFENE
5 (2022/23 : 65) TEIZIR T REPHEHEEN
& 7 o

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region

&8 MRS E
83
64 1 2022/23
2023/24
L) o 2
Hong Kong The PRC Macau
B HE P

All suppliers, including subcontractors, were implemented the
practices relating to engaging suppliers during the Reporting Period.

Anti-Corruption

The Group requires its staff to uphold high standards of business
ethics and integrity at all times. All of our directors and staff in Hong
Kong are required to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Hong Kong) (the “POB Ordinance”), and our staff in Mainland China
are required to abide by relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law and Anti-
unfair Competition Law of the PRC. During the Reporting Period, we
were not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period (2022/23: nil).

We prohibit the transfer of benefits between our employees and
other related parties. Guided by our internal policies and procedures,
all directors and staff shall not provide or obtain any gifts or benefits
from clients, suppliers or any person with business dealings with
the Group. Our Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct also clearly
outline that employees shall not accept advantages and gifts from our
business partners.
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To raise awareness on anti-corruption, anti-corruption training has
been provided to directors and employees with access to relevant
anti-corruption training materials from the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC").

Whistleblowing Policy

To encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct, we
have established various whistle-blowing channels. If employees are
aware of any suspicious acts and malpractices, they are encouraged
to report to the senior management of the Group through email.
All whistle-blowers” identities and reported cases are treated in
confidence and reported cases would be appropriately handled in a
fair manner.

Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is aware of risk of money laundering practices in its
financial services business. To prevent such practices, we strictly
comply with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Anti-Money Laundering
("AML") and Counter-Terrorist Financing (“CTF") Ordinance and the
Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders.

To mitigate the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing, we
have established a series of internal policies and procedures. We
adopt a risk-based approach and conduct comprehensive customer
due diligence, risk assessment, regular review of customers’
information, record keeping, identifying suspicious money laundering
behaviours and reporting of suspicions transactions. To ensure
effective implementation of the AML and CTF system, AML training is
provided to all new employees. We also organise regular training to
existing staff to allow them to keep abreast of the latest regulatory
requirements and guidelines.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT

ARMNIRIERIEEE

Our Goal:
BMNBERE:

change

Material Topic(s) Covered:

HENEESRE

o Climate change risk
RUREMCRY E PR

. To pursue green and sustainable operations by reducing our impact to the environment in response to climate

BERLORMAHRENZEURBREEE BRECNIFENEE

We endeavour to operate in an environmentally conscious manner
t0 promote environmental responsibility and address climate change
issues. Policies and procedures are formulated to guide employees
on enhancing efficient use of resources, proper handling of emissions
and cultivating green habits in workplaces.
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The Group strictly abides by the applicable environmental laws and
regulations including but not limited to:

AEBBRFETEEANREZEN AR 0FR
ENEY A

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
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Climate Change

Currently, climate change is one of the most pressing environmental
concerns in the world. Various extreme weather events, such as
heatwaves, flooding, and droughts, may have an impact on our
business operations. To address climate change, we have established
the Climate Change Policy, which details our strategy and efforts on
climate change mitigation as well as enhancing our resilience and
adaptability to climate change.

Mitigation
AR

42y

RIEREME

Br RIESERER LRBUIMNIREEEL
— o BEBIHRREM MER HKMZE
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1B HPIFIE T RIREIEEER » B HRAE
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YN 1% R FE 7775 T Y SR BR A 0% ©

Resilience and Adaptation
B4 R B FE 77

»  Establishing and monitoring carbon reduction and
energy-saving targets
JE 17 0 BE ZR R AR e B AE B AR

» Incorporating energy efficiency considerations into
our operations
AR E R A KM EE 2

»  Establishing and maintaining effective
environmental management systems to manage
energy use and carbon emissions

Continuously reviewing climate-related risks

FriE B3 RUEAE R R R S 108

Integrating climate-related considerations into our
risk management and decision-making processes
R RERRANZ BAA MR R EIBFORRNE
2zHh

Monitoring and responding to market and regulatory
changes associated with low-carbon transition

T8 FE S A AR AR B AL Y T 35 e BE B b

BURERAMNNIRIZEERAS  LUEIEERS
FA Re Bk HETR

* Encouraging innovation and collaboration to
mitigate climate-related risks
SENAIFT R EE > LUBE R EERIB R R

*  Promoting communication with stakeholders on
the Group's Climate Change Policy
RERFPERAEENREECEERETER

An ESG-related risk assessment has been conducted to identify
potential climate-related risks and the impacts on the operations. The
climate-related risks and control measures are carefully monitored,
evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG Working Group on a
regular basis.

To mitigate climate-related risks, relevant control measures are
formulated and implemented in our business operations. Our
employees are guided by the staff handbook which has clearly
outlined the flexible work arrangements under typhoon and
rainstorm signals. We maintain close communication with the building
management company of our office, pay close attention to weather
warnings and implement necessary response measures to cope with
adverse weather conditions such as typhoons or rainstorms.
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Workers with outdoor job duties at construction sites might suffer
from illness such as heat stroke under extreme hot days, while
tropical cyclones and heavy rainstorms could potentially lead to
disruptions at construction sites. To respond, we have formulated
guidelines and provided necessary precautionary measures for
workers to effectively cope with adverse weather conditions. Work
schedule would also be properly adjusted to ensure workers have
sufficient rest and ensure their wellbeing. Further, we remain vigilant
concerning upcoming regulatory changes and potential risks posed
by climate change and will endeavour to identify opportunities for
increasing efficiency and reducing carbon emissions.

In an effort to combat climate change, the Group has set the below
green targets:

EREIMEEAIN TS TR REESRRTK
RORR T EHRPEBFHRIE MATRENR
RABRER EERTHINEE - R TRHEE
B RAEERIE TR U AE TRHUE
BYTARLHE I - LA RO EHR B HHRRM T -
It EEEREIIFEAR LUERETHE NN
RE > W ARFEMAFIBIABAL © UESH > FRATE BN 2
RBEEERBEURREEEHRIETR
BARRER LRE NSRS MR i
TRETH S

BATRERESE AEEFHETUTEEE
12

Emissions To reduce air and GHG emissions through implementing environmentally responsible measures.
BEr4n BRBENAIRR S S ENE BV ERKRE RSB
Waste To minimise waste by promoting recycling and the use of recycled materials.
EZEY EBEELWMU K ERERY R f2R LV EEY -
/N
Energy To optimise energy use efficiency and advocate for energy-saving practices.
AEIR B RE AR (B S ENpcTE T ©
Water To promote water efficiency and water saving by implementing water conservation measures.
7K BB B MEKIETE > (R R KR E LU REABK -

®

We will continuously monitor our progress against our green targets
and update when necessary.
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Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Major sources of our energy, air and GHG emissions are purchased
electricity consumed for daily office operations and fuel consumption
of company vehicles, including unleaded petrol and diesel. To
raise employees’ awareness on environmental protection, we
have formulated energy saving policies and procedures in our
staff handbook and continuously encourage our employees to
conserve energy. In our office operation, we have adopted various
green practices to help reduce energy usage and greenhouse gas
emissions. Examples of such practices are:

. Setting air-conditioners at certain designated temperature to
optimise energy use efficiency;

. Switching off unnecessary use of computers, lighting, air
conditioners and other equipment after office hour or when not
in use; and

o Combining offices of the fitting-out and engineering operations
with our headquarter office to further reduce energy
consumption.

With regard to our design, fitting-out and engineering services, dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are usually produced as
one of the air emissions during the construction and demolition
processes. Our employees and subcontractors are required to
manage air emissions properly and minimise dust emission during
our construction work. A series of measures are implemented to
control air emissions and improve air quality:

. Adopting low-dust techniques and equipment to collect
construction dust; and

. Ensuring VOC-containing materials are kept in air-tight
containers to prevent air pollution.
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We also put considerable efforts in reducing excessive amount of air
emissions and GHG emissions from our vehicles and forklift trucks,
including but not limited to:

. Conducting proper maintenance and services to improve
combustion efficiency of fuel; and

. Constantly monitoring fuel consumption and mileage usage of
vehicles to further improve our environmental performance.

Waste Management

Due to our business nature, our waste generations are mainly
wastepaper and other office general waste from office operations
and also construction waste from our design, fitting-out and
engineering services business. We do not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste in our operation.

A series of measures and procedures are in place to ensure the
construction waste from our fitting-out projects is managed in an
environmentally responsible manner. We collect, sort, and arrange
for either licensed waste collecting service providers or our
subcontractors to transport the construction waste to government
waste disposal facilities to handle and dispose appropriately and
legally of construction waste. We also recycle construction waste as
much as possible, and re-use the useful residual materials in other
projects before disposing of the construction waste.

Whereas for office general waste, the waste is collected, handled
and disposed of by a professional cleaning company appointed by
the building property management company of our office operations.
Meanwhile, we continue to implement different waste reduction
measures in office operations, including but not limited to:

. Promoting online communication to avoid using papers;

o Encouraging employees to adopt double-sided printing to
reduce paper consumption;

o Placing recycling boxes next to printers and fax machines in
offices to collect and reuse paper for printing draft documents;
and

. Arranging printing suppliers to collect used printer toner
cartridges for recycling to reduce waste.
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Water Conservation

Our source of domestic water comes from local water suppliers,
and we did not encounter any issue in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose during the Reporting Period. We consume insignificant
amount of water for purposes of drinking, toilet flushing and office
cleaning in our daily operations; however, we are still mindful of
reducing water use and improving water efficiency. We constantly
raise awareness on water conservation and encourage our
employees to develop habit of water saving, such as posting water
conservation notices at the prominent places to remind employees of
proper water usage.

Minimising Environmental Impacts

The Group is dedicated to preserving natural resources and
reducing the impact of our business activities on the environment.
Although timber is often one of the natural resources used in our
design, fitting— out and engineering services business, we actively
recommend our customers to opt for eco-friendly alternatives to
reduce the consumption of timber and save natural resources.

Responsible Use of Packaging Materials

In our wine merchandising business, we do not consume a
significant amount of packaging materials as we mainly use the
original incoming packaging provided by the wineries and deliver our
wines directly from our wine storage warehouse to our customers.
This would conserve use of resources and avoid excessive and
unnecessary use of packaging materials.

Noise Management

In respect of noise control in our worksites, construction operations
are carried out according to the permitted work hours as specified
in relevant laws and regulations. During the construction process,
we use specialised equipment to ensure the noise does not exceed
specified thresholds and affect the surrounding environment.
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Environmental Performance Data'?

Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
Sulphur oxides (SOx)
Particular matters (PM)

Total GHG emissions
(Scopes 1 and 2)
Direct emissions (Scope 1)

Indirect emissions (Scope 2)

Intensity of total GHG emissions
(Scopes 1 and 2)

Total energy consumption
Purchased electricity
Vehicle fuel

Intensity of total energy
consumption

Total non-hazardous waste
Office general waste
Construction waste

Intensity of office general waste

Intensity of construction waste

AAIEHMINOY
RAIEHD(SO)
FERLHI(PV)

BERBHFREE
(EBE1KR2)
B (EE1)
BIEHER (#EE2)

BREREIIN

BENKR2) BE
FETRHAEMBE
SN
B

AR E

mEERNEE
— AT
R

— RIAZERY
Gl

BRREYEE

! The environmental performance data covered our Wan Chai office and Yuen Long warehouse.

RIBRBRHERERMNEFENEEN AR

2 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

ERMBRA BN A TR -
3 In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published by World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted from operations that are
owned or controlled by the Group, while Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity,
heating, cooling and steam consumed within the Group.

RIBEREEKEERZEGNERERATAEGRICRER

IRIBRIFEIR
2023/24 2022/23 Unit
B
14.9 254 kg 5=
0.1 0.1 kgFre
1.1 24 kgTie
56.2 62.8 Tonnes of COze
NE_FERES
14.1 24.2  Tonnes of COze
rE_A{EREE
42.1 38.6 Tonnes of COze
RBE_AEREE
3.3 1.9 Tonnes of COz¢/
employee
RE_SERES
==
144.9 168.0 MWh JEEBF
98.6 83.6 MWh JKEBF
46.4 84.5 Mwh JEEBF
8.5 4.9 Mwh/employee
KEFEE
683.0 436.3 Tonnes ‘AMg
1.0 1.3 Tonnes ‘A Mg
682.0 435.0 Tonnes ‘AMg
57.9 37.3  kg/employee
7/ BE
227.0 217.5 Tonnes/project
AMEIEE

RRETATE -—CEGHERERER (BITHR))  EENR BRI EAR

SEEANEFINEBAERES  MEBE2 WEZFFREI RSB REHIE GEASEIGHN) BN HE - RS RAEANTREL

4 Vehicle fuel included unleaded petrol and diesel consumed by company-owned vehicles.

REIRKEI IR A SR EWMTA RN R T mASh
5 The intensity unit for construction waste is the total number of projects in our design, fitting-out and engineering services business at the end

of the respective reporting year.

EREYNEEBURERREFETERRMANRKR KERIERBEFHNIHEEBH -

6 The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

AEMANHLERIEEE

Our Goal:
BMNBERE:

o REREMETEM CEHT

. To shoulder corporate social responsibility and give back to our communities

Continuous support from the community is crucial to the Group's
development. As part of our commitment to corporate social
responsibility, we actively seek opportunities to give back and make
a positive impact on the community. Guided by our Community
Initiatives, Sponsorship and Donation Policy, we are dedicated
to supporting the community by focusing on four main areas:
environment, education and development, community wellbeing, as
well as arts and culture.

We foster a spirit of employee volunteerism and actively seek
to contribute to programmes that drive positive community
development. Looking ahead, we remain committed to exploring
opportunities to create meaningful and sustainable value for the
wider community, as we continue our journey towards a more
inclusive and resilient future.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Bt 32 FRESGER 515 5|

INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

FTEHE EE - —REERARERISE = WE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BmEA1 : i
General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 62
—ME Environment
AREMNIRIERISEEE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BERRAERBHR Rk IHNE S - FERBEEEEYNESE
£m
@ B%E; &
(b) BFHBITABEARLENEREE KRG
KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental 69
BRSO | pemyissm AR s o Performance Data
SIRATT BES
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Environmental 69
RSB emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
151RA1.2 per unit of production volume, per facility). IRIBXRIFEE
Bz @EE) RERBERE EE2) BEREHNRE CUEE)
B QUER) ZE MIUSESE M SEREE)
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Due to the business N/A
RSB appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | nature, we do not produce A
SIRA13 facility). a significant amount
FRELEBEZSEEYRE CUETE) &k WMER) ZE S | hazardous waste.
E=BA SELREHE) o HREBUE HMLE
EERENEREEY -
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Environmental 69
RAREN appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | Performance Data
IE1EA14 facility). IRIBRIREE
FrEdEIZEEYRE QUEE) Rk WEA) BE NS
ESB BERMTHE)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

A. Environmental
A. BB

Aspect A1: Emissions
BmEA1 : i

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to | Climate Change; 64
ARG achieve them. RAREE ;

$E1ZA1.5 HIMPTET ILHINE B IR R 2 E R L B AR PTEREN R & B o
Energy, Air and 66
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERERIAERAESHE

his
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Climate Change; 64
REREN handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps | & {EZ1E ;
FEIZA1.6 taken to achieve them. 67
MM RIEEEREEREEYN G A RIWMPTET IR EEEE | Waste Management
1R SIS L B IR PR ERERAY 25 8% BEEYERE
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BHEA2 : BERER
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 62
— IR Environment

ARFNIRIEL S EE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BUHERER (BIEER  KREMERME) BB

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Environmental 69
AR EN electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
FEIEA2.1 per unit of production volume, per facility). IBIE RIBHE

REMBNNWEER SEZER WE - R3Uh) EES
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

A. Environmental
A IRIE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BEER

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. The water supply in our N/A
RGN MHEKERTE NMUBESEE N -SERMES) Wan Chai office and B
151EA2.2 Yuen Long warehouse

was controlled by the
building management,
whereas the water supply
at our worksites was
provided either by the
main contractors or our
customers. Therefore,
water consumption data is
unavailable and cannot be
disclosed.
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

A. Environmental
A. B

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BEER

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | Climate Change; 64
RGN taken to achieve them. RAREE ;
$E12A2.3 AP E] LAY RE TR 168 FA 3 s B AR K 2 3 555 L5 B AR R ERER

B 5% o Energy, Air and Greenhouse 66

Gas Emissions
BEREEBERARERES

e

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | Climate Change; 64
REREN that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps | RIEEE ;
IE1EA2.4 taken to achieve them.

HAKREGE A ACR S BRI RERE  UKRPRs] A K | Water Conservation 68

BiR Kk AEDE LB EPTIREE L 5 o BRI E TR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products, and if | We primarily rely on the N/A
RASRAE RN applicable, with reference to per unit produced. original packaging provided | %/
FE1EA2.5 S mATReEEMENEE MRS & QIER) 84 EE | by wineries, resulting in

G & o minimal consumption

of packaging materials.
Packaging materials are
not applicable to our other
businesses due to the
business nature.
EMFE S RERE S
HNRIEES B FRIUF
PMRENENBEMEE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

A. Environmental
A. B

Chapter/Disclosure
=B

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 | IRIERRXAER
General Disclosure Minimising Environmental 68
—R R Impacts
EERIVHIRENEE
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BRETABRIERRAERIEMEANZENEEE -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | Minimising Environmental 68
RESRAE K environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | Impacts
FE1ZA3.1 manage them. BEEROHRIENEE
HMEREHHRERRABERNEATLEREBRNEE
BRFENTH -
Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBHEA4 : mIZREE
General Disclosure Climate Change 64
—AIEE RIZE1E
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
A EHER R AREEHETAEERENSEAREEMEENBE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which | Climate Change 64
RE A have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and | R {&EE1E
1AL the actions taken to manage them.
B R R AR R BT AEELENERREERER
K REL T8N ©
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERSE TEHR

Aspect B1: Employment

BB : BfE
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 49
—RE Employees
AERMANETASERE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BRAFN R E B REA  TEFH R TERE L RIER
DUR H MG RAEFR -
() B &
(b) BFHETABEAZENERAEERRANER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Employee Distribution 50
RESRAEN or part-time), age group and geographical region. BINH
$51ZB1.1 B REEE N BERE) - FRANRMES S
EEEH-
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employee Turnover 50
RE AR region. SRS
1518812 R~ FlMAR Rt & B DI RERAKLLE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERSE TEHR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EMEB2 : BEEZE

Annual Report 2023/2024
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Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

General Disclosure Occupational Health and 52
— RN Safety
BERERERNZS
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
BRERHRZETFREMMEREREHCHENEBEHN .
(a) BK; &
(b) BTHETABEAZENEREZERRGINER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of | Occupational Health and 52
REBRAA the past three years including the reporting year. Safety

51%2B2.1 BE=F (BIEERFE) SFRITHMAZRILE. BERREREE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and 52
REBRAAR ATHEBEELTIEHE- Safety

512B2.2 BEREREZSE

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Occupational Health and 52
REBRAARL adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. Safety
1618B2.3 P ERM B E REE T 2B UREARITRERS | BERREREZS
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERS% TER

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EMEB3 : FERERIE

General Disclosure Development and Training 54
—RE gt

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties

at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.

BRIRAEE BT TIER SRR R I SEBIEUGR o B SEE) o

s EIEREEY aEREEAENRIIMNERE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and Training 54
AR AN category (e.g. senior management, middle management). SR
$51ZB3.1 BRI REELERN MR ERE  PREERE) 890ZI

EEBDLE.
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and Training 54
RERAE K and employee category. R BT
$612B3.2 BERREERENED  SRESTAZTINN TR -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B. {t&

Employment and Labour Practices
BEERELER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEEB4 : &I %A

General Disclosure Labour Standards 55
— RN AR

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BREABIEE T gsas% T :

(a) BUEE ; &

(b) BTFHETABEEAXENERERRRFINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards 55
RN avoid child and forced labour. a5 TR

}51%B4.1 iR IR B AR B LU e E T g FIs T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labour Standards 55
RARAES discovered. TR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#®&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : HREEEE

Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

HHEREHREEREES BRFEERMRBOES > MUk
BT RER G-

General Disclosure Supply Chain Management 59
— i EE HrEE SR
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
FIRHAEEAIRIE Rt g R MREBUER o
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management 59
RN BMES DNHEMEE - HpEREEIE
51%B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain Management 59
RETRAER of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how | {f& 2 &2
$51ZB5.2 they are implemented and monitored.

A R A EEIER > mENTE BN HEERE

B URABRA T R B ER 5 7% o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental | Supply Chain Management 59
RERRAAR and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | {HFESEEIR
$54ZB5.3 implemented and monitored.

LB R AR S ERANRIE R g RABRIER > X

R BRI AT R BE R 5% ©
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Supply Chain Management 59
RGN preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, | T
}51ZB5.4 and how they are implemented and monitored.
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Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : ERMEIE
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Chapter/Disclosure
=B

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 56
—RE Customers
ABEMANEFRIEER
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BRFMEHERMRBNEERZS  ES ERMAEEFURERS
EB
(a) B ; &
(b) BFHETABEAZENERAEERRANER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Customer Feedback 58
RAR G for safety and health reasons. EFR KA
151%B6.1 EENEEXERRYTRZHEREHMARKNE
Db
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Customer Feedback 58
RS AN and how they are dealt with. ERRE
1518862 | BUERIREQRBHHVRAYE UKL o
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Data Protection and 58
RAR G intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property Rights
151%2B6.3 3t B A 58 R (R PR R 3B EE PE B B RV IE Bl o B (R 8 SR B A
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Product and Service Quality 57
REBRAA procedures. EmkRBEEER
151ZB6.4 i E 2T EE R EmEIWER
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Protection and 58
REBRAA how they are implemented and monitored. Intellectual Property Rights
1618B6.5 Wi B EERHMRERAMABEE  URBERRITRERS | BURRERAHER
VAo
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : R&5

General Disclosure Anti-Corruption; 60
—RE R&EE;

Information on: Anti-Money Laundering 61
(a) the policies; and R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRI LLBER ~ 8131~ R RO R ERRY ¢

@ B ; &

(b) BFHETABEAXENBRERRRANER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-Corruption 60

RASR AN brought against the issuer or its employees during the @ &K&75

S1ZB7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBARETAIEEBEERH L EEENESHAE
HHHE R ER

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-Corruption 60

REBRAA procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. S

$51%B7.2 BB R B RE T URERRITRER DA

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors | Anti-Corruption; 60
REBRAA RN and staff RES;
1618B7.3 WREEERETRENRETE -
Anti-Money Laundering 61
AR
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Ccommunity
#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHEBS : 1t ERE
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Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 70

—RE community
ABEMNTEAIEEE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.

BREUHEZERTREEMTIHERENRFREER ZHZEZ EHE

H 2 Y ELEE ©

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Creating Value For Our 70

RASRAER EIERER WHBE RESE S TERBEE X8 | Community

1512881 A e ABRMNTEASEEE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Creating Value For Our 70

RS AN HETHEMEAER NS EoEERE) o community

$51%2B8.2 AERMNTEASEE
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RS

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of design, fitting
out and engineering, and procurement of furnishings and related
products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment and provision
of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial services.

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a review of the
Group’s business during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group's future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events
affecting the Company which occurred during the year ended 31
March 2024 are provided in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report and note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements which forms part of this directors’
report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are contained in the”Environmental, Social and
Governance Report“on pages 38 to 83 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group as at that day are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 103.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2024, there was no reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company.

g

CRERZERBIRRARE (A7) EREMNEB
REmEIAER) BEF ((EF) g ((EF8))
MAREAFHRURAEBBE_T_NF=
B=+t—BHUEFEZEERGEMHERE

FERFREHLIE

FABNEZEZHRKREER  RENBARE
ERFORERF - KEERIRE RFEBEREK
BEAERERS (MEERRREBREHBEAZE
BR %5 » (i) 5= B RS Fe & 88 LU (VB i = BR AR 75 o

FABETEMBABF BN GREMBERERM
51390

RIE R EHFR ARSI ERE ZFEBFHAE
—FIHmkot ETREAMEEFERER
EENRBEMNARAERRRER LR AEE
FIAEE R R R A E N URBEZE N
FZA=+—HUEFEHENTELARTINE
REFBSH RENREAFRTEEEFTR LD
i) —E AR B B IRAM TS U REF GRS
By—&B {7 o

ERAEERBEHRRKLRE - BEBRMNENRS
BRAERERKEREGREENTRBNEE
IREBEBRZIRIE - HEREBRE]

EERRE
AERBRE_Z_NF=BA=+—HLYHE
EZ(ERFAERNRZANMBRRENGES
B EHRARE101E 51038 °

EEEgfEEMEE_TNE=A=+—H
I FEIREERRS -

it
FEERAATIRBE_S-ME=F=+—
HiEEEZ #ESBFEINRN GRS
ByR R4 A BTSRRI LT o

A k&
ATETUE=ZR=+—H > AR LEAHEY
KT AN BIRRER 2 o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
RS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

As announced by the Company on 15 September 2023, among other
things, the Company proposed (i) to implement a share consolidation
(the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every five issued existing
shares of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated share
(the "Consolidated Share”) and (i) to raise approximately HK$36
million before expenses by way of a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”)
of 156,780,000 rights shares (the “Rights Shares”) at a subscription
price of HK$0.23 per Rights Share on the basis of five Rights Shares
for every one Consolidated Share held by the qualifying shareholders
on the record date.

The net proceeds of the Rights Issue of approximately HK$35
million will be used for (i) HK$20 million (representing 57% of the
net proceeds) for the development and expansion of the securities
business under the financial services business, (i) HK$10 million
(representing 29% of the net proceeds) as working capital for the
design, fitting out and engineering services business and the leasing
of construction equipment business to accommodate the anticipated
increase in demand for these two business segments; and (i) HK$5
million (representing 14% of the net proceeds) for general corporate
and administrative expenses.

The Share Consolidation and the Rights Issue were approved by
the independent shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting
convened by the Company on 1 November 2023 and were completed
on 13 December 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue had
been applied as follows:
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Net Proceeds

Utilised during
the year ended Estimate
Planned 31 March 2024 Unutilised schedule

FRISmIEF

HE-T-MEF

=ZA=+-H
HE LEECHRA X8HB ERESHES
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (Note)
(F#E7T) (F#E7T) (FAEmD (%)
Development and expansion of the BRLEEESER 20,116 (306) 19810  Mid 2024-2025
securities business “EZTEH
EITCTAHE
Working capital for the engineering TREENEEEEN 10,234 (10,234) - N/A
business and the leasing business HEES A
General corporate and administrative expenses  —RE % R {TEE 4,941 (4,947) - N/A
TEA

35291 (15,481) 19,810

Note:  The estimated schedule for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on
the best estimation made by the Group on future market condition and

may change with the current market condition and future development.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 85.47% of the revenue. The top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 54.72% of the total purchases
for the year. In addition, the Group's largest customer accounted for
approximately 33.51% of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 15.73% of the total purchases for the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on 29 February 2024 and
ceased to be Chairman on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (appointed on 15 September 2023 and
resigned on 21 May 2024)

Ms. Miao Xianliu (appointed on 7 May 2024)

Mr. Law Hok Yu (appointed on 21 May 2024)

Mr. Wang Jun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (resigned on 3 June 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (resigned on 16 October 2023)
Mr. Wu Zhao (resigned on 21 May 2024)

Mr. Lam Cheok Va (resigned on 8 Dec 2023)

Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (appointed on 16 October 2023)
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (appointed on 8 December 2023)
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 21 May 2024)
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All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, all the Directors will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to 20 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report can be found in the
Company's website at www.royalcentury.hk.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two to
three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year, Directors’ interest in any business apart from the
Group's business, which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group's business that need to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Director Name of company Nature of business  Nature of interests  Period
=) RE)LTE EBHE REHMEE HARE
Mr. Chan Hong Kong ChaoShang Money lending business Executive director and 1 April 2023 to
ChiYuen  Group Limited (“HK ChaoShang”) and securities and asset chief executive officer 29 February 2024
and its subsidiaries management business  of HK ChaoShang (date of resignation)
REER: EEHEMEERRAT WEEBURESFE BEIEZHGTES —T_=FNA—HZ=E
(M&&#mE)) RENB AT BEBEED R ATHUAREL “ETMFE"_B”+A

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently to, and at arm’s length, from the business of
those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business (apart from the Group’s business) which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS
There was no contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of
the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company.
Further details of emolument policy are set out in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 17 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong
employees.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OF ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ") as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 had the Directors
and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) any interest in, or been granted, or exercised any
rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or debentures, is
applicable) of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO).

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, there was no person or corporation (other than
the Directors and the Chief Executive) who had any interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant options to
any full time or part time employee of the Company or any member
of the Group (the "“Eligible Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted
pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible Participant shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from
the date on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for
the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of the Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotations sheets for
the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the
total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue on the Listing Date. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue of
a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a
period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of the Shares available for
issue under the Scheme is 600,000 Shares (as adjusted for the
Share Consolidation on 18 November 2020 and 3 November 2023),
representing 10% of the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit") of the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the listing of the Shares on 18 July 2014 (as adjusted
for the Share Consolidation on 18 November 2020 and 3 November
2023) and representing 0.27% of the issued Shares as at 31 March
2024.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the options
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue and
representing 2,257,632 Shares as at 31 March 2024.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option has been granted
by the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
RS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2024 the
Company has maintained the public float required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year
(2023: nil).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive Directors were independent during the period from their
respective appointments and up to 31 March 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters of
appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group were
connected transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's articles of association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all action, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they may incur or sustain in the execution of the duties of their
office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors” liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 21 to 37. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has appointed external compliance adviser to oversee
compliance with all relevant regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
is set out in the five years financial summary on page 212 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditor the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2021, 2022 and 2023 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited
("Mazars”). On 10 April 2024, Mazars subsequently resigned and
Global Link CPA Limited (“Global Link") was appointed as the auditor
of the Company to fill the cancel vacancy arising from the resignation
of Mazars.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of
the Company during the past three years. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been audited by
Global Link who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board
Law Hok Yu

Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA

\\\\

To the shareholders of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Global Link
CPA Limited

Fax: (852) 3580 0772

Email: info@globallinkcpa.com

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 101 to 211,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER MATTER

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 June 2023.

Unit 21A, 15/F, Star House,
3 Salisbury Road, TST, Kowloon, Hong Kong
General Line: (852) 3580 0885

EBRNBERIDIBRTBFE3R
BERITISE2IAE

HEHSIRES : (852) 3580 0885
{8E: (852) 3580 0772

BIL: info@globallinkcpa.com
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VA R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ZRE
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

[k o ]

EEENE MREHEEANESE
BB GEMBREMEEAETE2FHE-
EEEERENGSYBRERLABRED
REZEEE EETOHREEESTRERE

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  R-°

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
FASEE St EIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BN EIEMREHEEZAE

Revenue recognition for provision of design, fitting
out and engineering services income

Refer to notes 4 and 7 to the consolidated financial
Statements

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of design, fitting out
and engineering services income totaling HK$71,972,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024.
REBEEZZ_AF=A=+—HILHE> S£EME
BB REERTIERBBARECELREANRGEHS
71,972,0007 7z ©

Revenue is recognised over time using the input method
or the output method, as appropriate.
W A8 AEEE L E RIFRME) Bk B

Revenue recognised over time using the input method is
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations, by reference to the
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of estimated total costs.

FERBEAEERNBERZNNGRLER S£BARTHE
HWEEMEENBATB A T2 EHERGHAFRESE
BI AR A (G (i 5T 4R AR EE B 5T & o

Revenue recognised over time using the output method
is based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or surveys of work performed by the Group up
to the end of the reporting period.
FRELEENERZNRRDERERSE 55E
HEREHAXRERORBNEEHEEBTIEAEN
BEFTE.
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Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEHARER EHEE:

Understanding the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the revenue recognition
Processes,

TN GERERITY EEANBEENR T RHIT

Evaluating the key estimates and assumptions adopted
by the management in estimating total revenue and
total costs;
ST B IR 1T (A ST AR N 2 Re 48 2 BE P ER AR B9 3= E iy
FHRIB ;

Evaluating, on a sample basis, whether the key terms
and conditions in contracts with customers and
subcontractors have been properly reflected in the
estimated total revenue and estimated total costs;
WL EE R MO O] LSRN 2 BRI

FEH RS B IER R EAME I m R AR AR
EF‘ )

Checking, on a sample basis, the costs incurred for the
projects up to the end of the reporting period;

MEZERERSHRMNEE EENMLE ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FEESFE @

Key Audit Matters
FARESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESNPREMARENTEHZ A E

Revenue recognition for provision of design, fitting
out and engineering services income (Continuea)

Management reviews and revises the estimates of
revenue and costs for each contract by comparing the
most current budgeted amounts with corresponding
actual amounts as the contract work progresses.
BEEGRSNIREE BRatREIAANEESHR
KIEENEREE  BRKETTSM SANKRE R A
B o

The measurement of revenue involved the use
of significant judgements and estimates by the
management. As a result, we identified this as a key audit
matter.

Wamst8 Y R EEEERAERAEBNMGst - At BF
R EMEE RRARE TR

MIBMRE  RKERIERBBAZ KRR (&

o Discussing the status of projects with project managers,
to identify any variations of contracts and claims, and
to obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins and
changes in budget as well as the expected recovery of
variations; and

. HMIBEKENmEBEENR R UEESRAMNRENT
&8 WEISEMABEEE REEECNRE &
FEEFHFEHRLEIMER ; &

. Comparing the revenue recognised, on a sample basis,
with reference to the certifications from independent
surveyors or performing recalculation of the revenue
recognised with reference to actual costs incurred and
estimated total costs.

. SEBICASEMPTEE A ES AL RN GRS
2EBRELENN AN G QA H RN R E
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

FIRETEIE @)

Key Audit Matters
RSB EH

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPERERAEEASEEHZAE

Impairment assessment of construction
equipment in leasing of construction equipment
segment

Refer to notes 4, 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of construction
equipment amounted to HK$7,663,000 (the “Leasing of
Construction Equipment Segment Assets”) are included
in the cash-generating unit of leasing of construction
equipment segment.

RIZEZWNF=—A=+—H BEEXENRKEES
7,663,000/ ((TAERRLEHEEE)) »StARER
BREDEIREEEEN-

The Group is required to assess whether an indicator
has appeared that may affect the value of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets or such
indicator affecting the impairment loss of these assets
previously made has no longer been in existence.
EEEBNGIEREHEERRENHNEEBEN
EREGERR AR EAMZEEEFLHARES
BERE R FE-

Management carried out an impairment assessment for
the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets
which have an impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the Leasing of Construction Equipment
Segment Assets is determined by value in use calculation
using discounted cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management.
BIEEHNEREEENHERERE I EEET
BEF L - HERRZEDBEENAIWEIEEETH A
EREEEMEMBEEANMRRESRER/UHERE
FRBEEE-

The assessment of impairment indicator and value in
use calculation involved significant judgements and
estimations. Therefore, the impairment assessment of the
Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets is
considered as a key audit matter.
REEEREABESENTET REAF G-
At HEERZE D BEERET LR RAREES
£Igo
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Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEHARRER HPaiE !

o Understanding management’s process for identifying

impairment indicators;
. THREEREH#RERERIRIE

o Evaluating the judgements made by management in

identifying impairment indicators;
. HE BT BRI EISIREF P (ERYFIER (R L 5T

o Reviewing management’s impairment assessment
of the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment

Assets;
s EREEEUHERIEXRBOIEENRENDL

o Verifying the external sources data used by
management in value in use calculation of the Leasing

of Construction Equipment Segment Assets;

s REEEENFEHEREARGEOBEECREER

PR BYSMNBERIRERL

o Enquiring of management in relation to key
assumptions in their business plan and evaluating
the key assumptions applied by comparing them to
historical information and our understanding of latest

market information and conditions;

s HHEEEREEAMHEESSETHERRR LR
BEEENRESHENTSERMNIBE R T BETL

B DUSTE PR FE A BORASR RS

o Checking on a sample basis the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by management in

value in use calculation; and

s  EREEEEECAEBESETFERNBARE

BYZEREME R ARRAME S K

o Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
. BB 5T E P EM R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the 2023/2024 annual report of the Company but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
iS necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
CRERIZERARAS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Chok Yan.

Global Link CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheng Chok Yan

Practising Certificate Number: P06445
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Sk oy TH R b FLA 2 i i i 2

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—EME TEBT=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
I EE FAT FET
Revenue = 7 87,603 55,761
Cost of sales tHE A (78,573) (53,646)
Gross profit EF 9,030 2,115
Other income Hni A 9 952 1,417
Other gains, net Hihes o /$58 10 2,837 991
Impairment of intangible assets, mILEERE
net of reversal (kx4 22 (639) (2,678)
Reversal of allowance (Allowance for) FEW B =R F) S TEHA
expected credit loss (“ECL") on loan and E8E1E ((FBREE
interest receivables E518)) [O1# (&) 6(b) 174 (727)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B o REWFHIBETEHREE
Pagi=be i 6(b) (332) (1,680)
(Allowance for) Reversal of allowance for ~ &#EETEIAEEERE
ECL on contract assets (2 5) [Ol# 6(b) (45) 19
Change in fair value of an investment KREYENTFEED
property 19 500 3,300
Administrative expenses TR (22,167) (26,762)
Finance costs EE= YD 1 (734) 797)
Loss before tax PRI RIS E 13 (10,424) (24,79¢6)
Income tax credit FRSMIE%R 12 634 232
Loss for the year attributable to NNBNEB ANELEERE
owners of the Company (9,790) (24,564)
Other comprehensive income FEEHMEEUE
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HEAGEER 7 HE
subsequently to profit or 10ss: Em 2 EHE .
Exchange differences arising on MEBINERELEZER
translation of foreign operations ERE - 136
Release of exchange reserve upon KIEHERRH B A BB ARRR
deregistration of subsidiaries BE R B 18 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year KABEB ANEGEFE
attributable to owners of the Company 2HEEGIBMEE (9,772) (24,428)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(&E7)
Loss per share: SREE
Basic and diluted BAREE 17 (0.12) (0.76)

The notes on pages 101 to 211 are an integral part of the H101EE2NMBENMEAZELEAHMBREN
consolidated financial statements. AR EB o
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102 ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CRERERARAT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

G BHIR LR

As at 31 March 2024 R _—ZF_pI#E=H=4+—H

2024 2023
11 - —ET=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FET FET
Non-current assets EREEE

Property, plant and equipment ME B RRE 18 7.712 14,134
Right-of-use assets ERESE 20 1,809 8,190
Goodwill e 21 - _
Intangible assets BLEE 22 2,460 3,099
11,981 25,423

Current assets REMEE
Loan and interest receivables EWERRFIE 23 2,142 4,770
Inventories e 24 1,102 1,304
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E MK EIE 25 23,280 15,378
Contract assets BHEE 26(a) 6,517 2,110
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4ERR 27 45,690 5,915
78,731 29,477
Non-current asset held for sale RERENIERHEE 19 - 29,500
78,731 58,977

Current liabilities wREaE
Trade and other payables B R EMENTIA 28 13,839 19,320
Contract liabilities BHEE 26(b) 1,050 1,594
Income tax payable FETFTiSiR 113 93
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 1,902 6,816
16,904 27,823
Net current assets BREBEE 61,827 31,154
Total assets less current liabilities WEERTEBAR 73,808 56,577

g
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

G BHIR LR

As at 31 March 2024 R ZF_PI#E=H=4+—H

2024 2023
—ENE —EI=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
5 FAT FET
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 31 307 961
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 - 2,634
Other borrowing Hihg & 30 - 5,000
307 8,595
NET ASSETS BEE 73,501 47,982
Equity i
Share capital &N 32 240,814 205,523
Reserves B (167,313) (157,541)
TOTAL EQUITY BN 73,501 47,982

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Law Hok Yu
B2F
Director
o)

The notes on pages 107 to 211 are an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

HINBIEF2NBZ G BEREERZ
TCNEABI TN \BKESTHERTET
B THEERRES

Miao Xianliu
24l
Director

EFE

BIVEF2NENWERZFEEVBREYN
MR ER D
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104 ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CRERERBRA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
5 O MR B

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z _—ZF _[#E=H =+—HIFEE

Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
[ REEE ERGHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET FET
(Note 32) (Note)
(H3%32) (it =)
At 1 April 2022 A _E""EME—H 205,523 (132,959) (154) 72,410
Loss for the year FEERBE - (24,564) - (24,564)
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wk
Exchange differences arising on hEBMERELZERER
translation of foreign operations - - 136 136
Total comprehensive (10ss) income FEERA (B8 WL
for the year - (24,564) 136 (24,428)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 AZET=F-F=+—HkK
:ﬁi_ﬁﬁ H 205,523 (157,523) (18) 47,982
Loss for the year FEERE - (9,790) - (9,790)
other comprehensive income Hth2EWKE
Release of exchange reserve upon BRIFERNB AR RRIRER
deregistration of subsidiaries M - - 18 18
Total comprehensive (l0ss) income AEEEA (BB WnlHE
for the year - (9,790) 18 (9,772)
Issue of shares BITRRAD 36,059 - - 36,059
Share issue expenses AP E1TRZ (768) - - (768)
At 31 March 2024 RIZE-MWE=B=+—H 240,814 (167,313) - 73,501

Note: Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from translation of the financial statements of the Group's foreign
operations upon consolidation. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial

Statements.

The notes on pages 107 to 211 are an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.
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—EC=F/

T UEERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

S BlLE R R

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E-MmE ZEI=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE)
Loss before tax PRI RTS8 (10,424) (24,796)
Adjustments for: HEE
Impairment of intangible assets, WL EERE (0kRE#E)
net of reversal 22 639 2,678
Change in fair value of an investment KEMELFEED
property 19 (500) (3,300)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B 5 W ERIE TR
BEERBEEE 6(b) 332 1,680
Allowance for (Reversal of allowance for) &G EETEHEES
ECL on contract assets 5383EE (08 6(b) 45 (19)
(Reversal of allowance for) Allowance for — FEWE & F) B FEHA
ECL on loan and interest receivables E8EE (B#)
BHE 6(b) (174) 721
Waiver of amount due to a former director  ZARFE(T—RBIESEIB 10 = (809)
Write-back of other payables HAFE (I TR B[O 8 10 - (126)
Depreciation of property, plant and M BB AREITE
equipment 18 6,397 7,510
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREEINE 20 4,095 5,729
Finance costs LB A 11 734 797
Bank interest income IRITREUA 9 (27) ()
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off  BRE FEIHERR
of construction equipment E W= 10 (2,779) (157)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - HERRE
equipment W & 10 - )
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets REBARLEBHEFRE
upon early termination BEZWE 10 (253) -
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEHFIZ
in working capital KERERE (1,915) (10,103)
Changes in working capital: EEEEE
Inventories =8 202 (217)
Loan and interest receivables FEWE TS 2,802 (40)
Trade and other receivables B 5 kA EWEIE (8,234) 1,115
Trade and other payables B 5 e A EL RIS (5,463) 4,763
Contract assets BHEE (4,452) 1,840
Contract liabilities aHEaE (544) 1,365
Net cash used in operating activities KEEFBFFAZERHE (17,604) (1,277)

/



Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JY&E=H=+—HIFFEEZE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Compensation received from disposal/
write-off of construction equipment

Proceed from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Bank interest received

Proceeds from disposal of an investment
property

Net cash from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Repayment of unsecured other borrowings
Addition of unsecured other borrowing
Interest paid

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

REED
BEYE R RKE
REHHEEREHE

HENE HERREZ
FRiSTIA
BUERTTHI R
HEREYERSRIE

REFHFRSZFRE

REEE
BITRMFTSTIA
RRInEITH
EEERBEMES
MgERIREMER
[SERETS
BEAEEE

MEZFBFRSZERE
RERBEFEYF

1@, (Ri)
FNZzRERREEEY

EREE

FRZBERFEEEY

The notes on pages 107 to 211 are an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

Notes
i3

27

E1072E211
KERRER D ©

2024
—E_mE
HK$'000
FERT

(404)

3,208

27

30,000

32,831

36,059

(768)
(5,000)

(734)
(5.009)

24,548

39,775

5,915

45,690

BENWERZEREE

2023
TET=F
HK$'000
FET

41

5,000
(343)
(3,694)

963

(273)

6,190

5,915

MBHREN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR W B R B Gk

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong as a company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the corporate information section of
the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in:

0} provision of design, fitting out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services;

(i) leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services;

(i) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and

(iv)  provision of financial services comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands (“HK$'000”) of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless
otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
CRERIZERARAS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 03 S 5 ¥R B

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements: HKFRS 17 Insurance
Contracts (including the relevant amendments), Amendments
to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates, Amendments
to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction, Amendments to HKAS 12
International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules, Amendments
to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies. The application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR W B R B Gk

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continuea)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements that are
relevant to the Group and effective from the current year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property that is
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

IRINFET G 1EET 2 B A
A (15 BHBHEEA)
(%)

RATEEMGE  EIRRKRK AP
BHEAMM T RAESTEBMBREER K
T EHEEUBRREEERTE-

EXRGEER
REAMBRRDREESGHAAGH
2 EEMBREEN  EELEBRD
2B RA R AT EHIHS - o 45
EMBREQITYRFICEMES EHIRAY
(TGEMLF#R8) 2 BAMEEE -

FEMBTREZBREEARE T "=
FZRB=+—HEEZGEMHRERK
Mz EEBER—BO ERMINEFEENR
WEALBEB IR GEMBRRWE2ERH
ZHE]RIERT BB IR ELERIBRS o

HEMBRERELEMAEERR (TX
R Gt BRItz U AT ESEZ
REMEFRIN ©

REERMNZ TEG ST HEREH TN
To

mEREEE
BEMBERETERERT KA A EFTER
2B BEHNBAR) 2MBRER - ME
MEABRMEMBREE > HREMUER
THHERRSZNEER KB TTRRES
MBWERFAIRANEER A HMBR
REANBRESYBRERE BIFEE
BUHEE > DUREE B A E B & ST BUERRET
_jﬂ:&o

109

/



110

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
CERERERBRAT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR W B R B Gk

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: () the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv)
a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, profits or loss, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date
when control is lost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR W B R B Gk

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combinations
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.

3.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or a liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in profit and loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the acquisition
date over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or 10ss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUS"), or groups of CGUS, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying amount of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, which is
presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

- Sales of fine and rare wines
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services

- Provision of design and procurement of furnishing and
related products services

- Provision of installation service for construction
equipment

- Provision of financial services except for providing
finance
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)
Identification of performance obligations
At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@ agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that
is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@  the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continueaq)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The
Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continuea)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
The Group recognised its revenue by taking into consideration
the type of customers, the type of transactions and the
specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is recognised as
follows:

D) Sales of fine and rare wines

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from sales
of fine and rare wines is recognised at a point in time
when control of the products has been transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers” acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been delivered to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the customers
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

ii) Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services
A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a service contract when the contract relates to work on
assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using either the output method (i.e.
based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or measurement of work performed and the
estimated total revenue for the contracts entered into
by the Group) or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs), as appropriate,
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

3.

ii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continued)

If the projects have no alternative use to the Group
contractually and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the customers for performance completed
to date, the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with the input method for measuring
progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liquidated damages are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

The principal input applied in the input method is:
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/

provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services: costs incurred.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

i)

iii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continued)

The principal input applied in the output method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services (only applicable
when surveyor was appointed): surveys of
performance completed to date.

- Installation services income from construction
equipment: square meters of areas completed to
date.

Provision of financial services except for providing
finance

Commission income for broking business is recorded as
income at a point in time on a trade date basis.

Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement
or deal mandate when relevant significant act has been
completed.

Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant transactions have been arranged or the relevant
services have been rendered.

Management fee is recognised over time when the
relevant services have been rendered.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of 10ss
allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases of construction
equipment and investment property is recognised when the
assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group's right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For some of the contracts for fitting out and engineering
services, design and procurement of furnishing services
businesses, the Group receives from the customer the whole
or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue.
During that period, any significant financing components, if
applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continuea)
On the other hand, for some of the contracts for fitting out and
engineering services, design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services businesses, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules, payments are not due or
received from the customer until the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered. However, for such transactions,
revenue is recognised over time and therefore, a contract
asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract asset
and recognised as interest income.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
Ccomprises:

(@  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

() any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c)  any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use assets (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case
depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises
Warehouse

3.3 vyears
6 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or 10ss.

3.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

@)

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

@

©

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

(d)  for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor - operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 10ss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the employees of the Group's
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to these plans are expensed
in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

No forfeited contributions for the above plans may be used by
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continueq)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification. Non-current asset
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment to their residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives
or depreciation rates as follows:
Leasehold improvements Unexpired lease term or useful
life of 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 3years
Office equipment 3years
Motor vehicles 3years
Construction equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the asset is
derecognised.

Investment property
Investment property is property held by owner or lessee, to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise. The fair value of investment property is
based on a valuation by independent qualified professional
valuer who holds a recognised professional qualification and
has recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from the date
of change is in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets or right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In addition,
the Group tests its intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets that are not yet available for use
for impairment by estimating their recoverable amount on an
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that those
assets may be impaired. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill (Continuead)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuead)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The Group derecognises
a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or 10ss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

. Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and contract assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade receivables is measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors

(viy  external credit risk ratings
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of debt instruments
measured at fair value through OCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

. the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available),

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

. actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continuea)
Impairment (Continued)
Low credit risk (Continued)
As detailed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and other receivables are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, operating lease receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.
() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Write-off

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES BERGER &=
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) Bl =N
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) ERMBRENMKETA @)
Derecognition AR ULHERR

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first in, first out for
construction materials and weighted average method for fine
and rare wines. Net realisable value represents the estimated
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selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of KN EREZPIE M
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Related parties RAER

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0} The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person'’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset at the
measurement date.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorises the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level T - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies (Continued)

Classification of leases - as lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date which
involves the overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. As part of the assessment, the Group
considers all the relevant factors including the contractual
terms and the circumstances of the contractual parties to
determine the substance of the transaction.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue from contract with customers within HKFRS 15

Revenue from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishing services is recognised over
time, which is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue and contract
costs, prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted costs are prepared by management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews on the budgeted costs by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract
revenue and contract costs which may have an impact on
revenue recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue recognised in future periods as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuead)
Income tax

As at 31 March 2024, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses and deductible temporary
difference of approximately HK$163,553,000 (2023:
HK$149,290,000) and HK$1,308,000 (2023: HK$5,230,000)
respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits or taxable temporary differences are less
or more than expected or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.

Allowance for ECLs on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLS for loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets based on
the Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets with significant balances and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The allowance for ECLS is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s loan and
interest receivables, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. If the financial condition of the customers or the
forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, the actual
loss allowance would be higher than estimated.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Estimated useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. The estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of those assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore affect the depreciation
charges in future periods.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists,
management has to assess whether an event has occurred
that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the
asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be
determined based on the higher of the value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal, which involve significant
judgements and estimates.

Valuation of non-current asset held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2023 at its fair
value of approximately HK$29,500,000. The fair value was
based on a valuation conducted by independent qualified
professional valuer using property valuation techniques which
involve certain assumptions of market conditions. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result in
changes in the fair value of the Group's investment property
and corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Impairment of intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether intangible assets have
suffered any impairment based on impairment assessment
performed at least annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
intangible assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the stated accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets have been determined based on the higher
of the fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. These
calculations require the use of estimates and judgements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. Based on the directors’
recommendation, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividend, issuance of new shares
as well as the raising of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

A group entity is regulated by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") in Hong Kong and is required to comply
with the financial resources requirements according to the
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)
R"). Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid
capital level of the regulated entity to ensure compliance with
the minimum liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. The
regulated entity has complied with the capital requirements
imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

6(a)

6(b)

6. EMTH

Categories of financial instruments 6(a) TR T ALER
2024 2023
—ENE —EI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost IZ#HMATIBEZSHEE
Loan and interest receivables FEWE R T B 2,142 4,770
Financial assets included in AB S REMEWEIEZ
trade and other receivables TREE 22,346 14,673
Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTARR 45,690 5,915
70,178 25,358
Financial liabilities at RBEM AR EREE
amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in STAB S REMBEARIEY
trade and other payables ERBE 9,068 13,114
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,902 9,450
Other borrowing HiEs - 5,000
10,970 27,564
Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) MERAMEEBIEREEK

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, other
borrowing and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EFMTH ®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAERAGEIEBERBE &)

policies (continuea)

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has certain portion of cash and bank
balances, trade and other receivables and trade and
other payables denominated in currencies (such as
Renminbi ("RMB"), Singapore Dollars (“SGD") and
United States Dollars (“US$") other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise. Management
reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and
considers there is no significant exposure on its foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances with variable interest rate. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

EMTH =
6(b) BAFERAMGEIBEEERBE &

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk represents the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management of
the Group has delegated an officer responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies.

Other recelvables

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the counterparties’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMT R ®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAERAGEIEBERBE &)

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the
past 3 years (2023: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Trade recelvables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has considered historical and
available forwarding-looking information in estimating
ECL.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group normally allows
average credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days
(2023: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEMEEBIERBER &
policies (continuea)
Credit risk (Continuea) =88Rk &)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEKFIE (&
As at 31 March 2024, the Group recognised loss KNZE_NME=ZR=+—H =&
allowance of HK$6,643,000 (2023: HK$6,484,000) on the EENESRNAREEDEIBRE
trade receivables. The information about the exposure to 576,643,000 (ZE =4 :
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision 6,484,000/ 7T) ° B R E 5 EWFIE
matrix is summarised below: ZEERBLTEREESEEERE
RN E R T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TR R IRELE BiERE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
BAL FEr FEn
At 31 March 2024 RZE_mEF
=A=+-H
Non credit-impaired BEERE
Not past due P it 1.0 17,575 (176) No #
9110 180 days past due WEY1ZE180H 1.8 1,105 (20) No
18110 270 days past due #E18122700 2.8 667 (19) No &
271 t0 365 days past due HEEA2712365H 30.0 775 (233) No &
Over 365 days past due A5 A £ 53.6 3,485 (1,868) No #
23,607 (2,316)
Credit-impaired =ERE
Over 365 days past due 365 £ 100.0 4,327 (4,327) Yes &
27,934 (6,643)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIA®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) MBEAMEEBERBER @
policies (continuead)
Credit risk (Continued) =88R &)
Trade receivables (Continued) EZEKIE (&
Gross
Expected carrying L0ss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
FEEE REEE BERE EERAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B TET FTET
At 31 March 2023 RIZZ=F
=A=+—-H
Non credit-impaired BEEHE
Not past due K 10 7128 71 No &
Within 90 days past due HE0H A 14 1,747 (24) No &
9110 180 days past due HEA91Z180H 18 453 8) No &
181 t0 270 days past due #HR181E270H 2.8 436 (12) No %
27110 365 days past due #HR2712365H 284 345 (98) No %
Over 365 days past due 365 H M £ 464 5218 (2,422) No %
15,327 (2,635)
Credit-impaired ZERE
Over 365 days past due AR5 E 100.0 3,849 (3,849) Yes &
19,176 (6,434)

The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.

AEBTERZEFEHFTEEMIE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

£MTH®
6(b) BAFERAGEIBEERBE &

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Trade recelvables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for trade
receivables are set out below:

EEAR ()
BN (4

B S EIERRRE ZEET

2024 2023

ZEIME BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 April KA —H 6,484 4,812
Allowance for ECL for the year FERNEREERERG 332 1,680
Write-off B 6oz (173) (8)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 6,643 6,484

Included in the loss allowance of trade receivables are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of approximately HK$172,000 (2023: HK$172,000)
and HK$3,677,000 (2023: HK$3,677,000) which had been
long outstanding and under liquidation respectively. The
individually impaired trade receivables are recognised
based on the credit history of its customers, such as
financial difficulties or default in payments, and current
market conditions.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 43% (2023: 25%) and 85%
(2023: 79%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

BSERZEBEEEBET D EE
ERBRZRRENEEFINERNE
BB B Z WA 4BEREE D B B
172,000%8 75 (Z& — =4 : 172,000
HB7T) 3,677,000 (ZTE =4 :
3,677,000/ 7T) ° lLEERIEREE
SREBFBEEENREREANEER
&% B0 B BB RIS ST RO AT IR
ThIGIE R

R_Z_WE=ZRA=+—H BrE
SEWGIBLREE Z 4943% (B =
1 25%) }85% (B =14 : 79%)
DHERERAEEZBATARE
AARER WALEEBEERRE
hZERe

/
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Contract assets
As at 31 March 2024, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$66,000 (2023: HK$21,000) on the
balances. The information about the exposure to credit
risk and ECL for contract assets using a provision matrix

6. EMT AR ®

6(b) MBERAMEEBERERK @)

EERRE (&)

BRI EE
R_E-MNE=B=1+—H > &&H
AL BRFE SR RS 1R B 66,0008 7T (T
T =4 121,000/ cBREAHNE
EZEERRBMERESEHEGER

is summarised below: BB E R T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
HBER IRE4E BHERE EEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B TER FTET
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME
=B=+-H
Not past due EN kG 1.0 6,583 (66) No &
At 31 March 2023 RIE_=f&
ZB=+-H
Not past due PRk 10 2,131 21) No &

The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets
are set out below:

GNEEBEREEZEHINT

2024 2023

—E_MF —EI=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 April RHAE—H 21 40
Increase (decrease) in allowance B m Cal) 45 (19)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 66 21
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

£MTH®
6(b) BAFERAGEIBEERBE @)

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables

Regular reviews on these loans are conducted by
management based on the historical information about
counterparties default rates, latest status of these loans
and the latest available information about the borrowers.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience of the borrowers and the
financial position of the counterparties by reference
to, among others, the background search for individual
borrowers, their assets proof and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

As at 31 March 2024, the loan receivables have been
past due and the Group has been negotiating with the
borrowers about the settlement plan. The management,
after considered credit rating analysis and economic
outlook provided by independent qualified professional
valuer, is in the view that the probability of default
of these loan receivables increased. As such, hence,
additional provision on ECL was made for the year.

FERR (&)

EWEFSRFS

EEERBEEXSHFENERY
BEER  ZFERRIR T E
RANRMAISERHZEENE
TEHEZ

G EMEEERREE B HE
BUREERBESREZENNRE
MEERTBEERER 58S
EZRERANBETERERBEL
B RBB2E (HHak) BEHE
FRESHAE EEEHUNAES
BUREIE R WL AR AR E RIS
AERRZHFEEFMETENE
BETNRIFHAR UEFZFES
MEENEBOBRR HEKBRTE
HIEYIRK -

(EEB IR EA BRI AT TR
GLETY

RZEZNE=B=+—H > EWRE
MEBANAEECBER A S
BEETHRE BEBEEEBIL
BELSERGHEMBHENEETH
DMREERS% BAZERRE
MEVEA G0 - Utk - FERBE 5T
IRTBIEEFEENEEMEE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the Group recognised loss
allowance of approximately HK$1,168,000 (2023:
HK$1,540,000) on the balances. The information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for loan and interest
receivables is summarised below:

EMTH®
6(b) HERMEEEERBE @)

EERK #&)

JEWEZ T8 (4
KRIENFE=B=+—H ' &~&E
TS ERTRRR A R 541,168,000/ 7T
(ZETB =4 :1,540,00087T) - B
ERERLAMBEZEERENTE
HEEEBNERBMNT

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
Basis of ECL loss rate amount allowance
EHiEE
BiEEE SRR FREMEE BiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FET FET
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWE
=B=+-H
Past due bk lifetime 35.29 3,310 (1,168)
21
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F
=B=+-H
Past due k) lifetime 2.4 6,310 (1,540)
2H

The movements in the loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables are set out below:

EWER N B BIaRE 2 8
T

2024 2023

—E-UFE —ET=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 April RUE—H 1,540 819
Allowance for ECL for the year, net FATRIAEEBIERE 35 (174) 721
Write-off i 6] (198) -
At 31 March R=B=+—H 1,168 1,540

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has one borrower (2023:
two borrowers).

g

A_EUEZ/B=+—H &~&EHE
BE—2ERACE_=ZF  maE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of source of funding and considers the risk is
minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of each reporting period.

6. EMTH ®
6(b) BAFERAGEIBEERBE @)

mEEEEE

BEERBDES AR AEEEREK
MRHEEEI RS EURNAERE
BERRABRRERERDTEZRE
MREEFBEYKE - EEBERES
FIRZERIBER LB REARER-

TERHTREEBZRZBERIER &
EEFTEERMEBRARTZEHE
BN R D IRIBEAEEANRZ
PO EREaEI RERES
MEBMARR

ZRBENEBRESHENE IKE
BEHRXR HRHERERERTBHA
= QIKRREIR S RRTHIRIE R KAz 5t
%O

More than More than More than
3 months one year two years
but not but not but not Total
Within exceeding exceeding exceeding undiscounted Carrying
On demand 3 months 12 months two years five years cash flows amount
Ba=faA
byl itk Gl BBZE  EHAMR
REX =fARnk +Zf8F BFBE_F BFERILE Rene RESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TR TER FERT TR TR
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ZME=B=+-H
Trade and other payables AR REMENTIE 9,068 - - - - 9,068 9,068
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1,997 - - - 1,997 1,902
9,068 1,997 - - - 11,065 10,970
At 31 March 2023 RIZZ=F=A=+-H
Trade and other payables ERRAMENTE 16,157 - - - - 16,157 16,157
Lease liabilities HEsE - 232 4,765 2,684 - 9,771 9,450
Other borrowing HitEg - 250 - 250 5250 5750 5,000
16,157 2572 4,765 2934 5250 31,678 30,607

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of current financial assets and current financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due to
their immediate or short-term maturities.

KRBEFRD R REEMHRET
REBHAACTKRZABDEMEER
nBER e EARE SN E
B SWHREEEE AT ERES-
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

7. REVENUE 7. W=
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: REEFRAWRZZ DHAT -
2024 2023
—E_ME —Eo=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT
Design, fitting out and engineering et B E R TRERFUA
services income 71,972 45,910
Installation services income from BEZH 2 ZERBUA
construction equipment - -
Rental income from leasing of HERERBEHESWA
construction equipment 12,966 6,756
Sales of fine and rare wines ERIHE 2,214 2,525
Interest income from money lending BEMEUWA 451 540
Commission income from introducing MM 4B& AL IRFS RS A
brokerage services - 30
87,603 55,761
Revenue from contracts with EARAMBWMEENEISR
customers within HKFRS 15: ETERGHKE :
Revenue recognised at a point in time R —FFRTEER 2 W 75
— Sales of fine and rare wines —EBEHE 2,214 2,525
— Commission income from — N AR LR R EA
introducing brokerage services = 30
Revenue recognised over time PR —EBFRIAERZ W
- Design, fitting out and engineering —HE B ERTRERBEA
services income 71,972 45,910
74,186 48,465
Revenue from other sources: HthsRukE -
- Rental income from leasing of —THEREZHHESWA
construction equipment 12,966 6,756
- Interest income from money lending  —¥ZEEF S At ERE
calculated using effective interest FEUWA
method 451 540
87,603 55,761

The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is
based on fixed price.

g
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. The directors
of the Company have chosen to organise the Group around
differences in services.

8.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

@

(0)

@

Provision of design, fitting out, engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
("Design, fitting out and engineering services”);

Leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services (“Leasing of construction
equipment”);

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
(“Wines merchandising”); and

Financial services business comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending (“Financial services business”).

DERE K

BRTES DEBLEEREE LW/
APERERRTEDBRRZERERRE
fPENR M ERABHEE A ATE
EERBSEREMAER-

AREME AEEAZ2RREESHNT

MR B TEARBRER
MERERRTE (R EERITRER
%),

—
QO
-

b FHERRRFHEREHBBRZERS
(MAERERED) ;

© Z=ERBREH ((EHER); &

) TWMREBEZEEMESFREHE
RO BERG SRR EEEE
BRFS R (TZRARF R ) o
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segments assets include all assets except for corporate assets
which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated
to reportable segment liabilities other than unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group
basis and certain other payables and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable
to those segments. The measure used for reporting segment
results is profit/loss before taxation without allocation of other
unallocated corporate expenses and income.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating
segments and allocation of resources among segments, the
Group'’s results are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments and other head office and
corporate administrative costs.

g

DEER @&
EEDBRBR D WL BARMS
AATRTESRUTEREZE 2R
HEEEEE EBEREE:

BUEREERERZABDEESN O
BEECQREMABE -BRUEREELER
ZRDEBMEER AT ERUKRETH
A RIBEREST BRI FTEBEIR
NEEERHRENHER-

W RS EZSNMELEZHER
ZEDWMELEZHAZAZENMELEE
TEELEZHASBOIEELE DI RS
DEEEFIRAAERENDEAMKD
AT RBAZIER T ZBRIRAT @
d -k
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EEN @
Segment revenue and results DEUNEE R AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results REBERERREEDTE D 2 W R
by reportable and operating segments: ERTUWT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_MNE=HA=1+—HLEE
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
Rt EER
IRMRE HERERE BHEE SRRBER by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEr TiEr TR TR TR
Segment revenue a6 71972 12,966 2,214 451 87,603
Segment operating (l0ss) profit PHEE (58 & (6,386) 3,746 551 (276) (2,365)
Impairment of intangible assets BREERR - - - (779) (779)
Segment (loss) profit P (E18) BH (6,386) 3,746 551 (1,055) (3,144)
Unallocated: RO
Other income HitA 952
Other gain, net Hitla » $8 27
Corporate administrative costs AETHAA (8,571)
Change in fair value of investment property REMENTEED 500
Finance costs REMA (134)
Loss before tax TS (10,424)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BEZ_-HF-A-+HIEFE
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engingering  construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
R EER
TREE HERRD EHEE  SRRBRER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn TiEn TiEn TR
Segment revenue PEE 45910 6,756 2,525 570 55,761
Segment operating ((0ss) profit PHEE (58 wA (7,083) (10492) 23 (1,549) (18901)
Impairment of intangible assets BV EEAE - - - (2,067) (2,067)
Segment (loss) profit P (E48) B (7,083) (10492) 23 (3616) (20968)
Unallocated: RO
Other income HitA 1,095
Other gain, net Hitla » $H8 804
Corporate administrative costs RETBAA (8810
Change in fair value of investment property RENMENTEEY 3,300
Finance costs RERA (217)
Loss before tax S ETESE (24,796)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EEH®
Segment assets and liabilities NEHEERER
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities REBBEREKENHE D2 EEKRE
by reportable and operating segments: BERWUWT :
As at 31 March 2024 WIZENFE=RA=+—H
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
Rt BER
IRkE HERERE EHEE SRREES st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n T#n T#n T#r Tan

Segment assets PHEE
Non-current assets FrRBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN e 5 7,702 - - 7,707
Intangible assets EVEE - - - 1,720 1,720
5 7,702 - 1,720 9,427
Current assets THEE 17,840 11,597 259 2,242 31,938
Segment assets PREE 17,845 19,299 259 3,962 41,365
Unallocated: FOE:
Cash and bank balances Re R4 45,690
Others Hfth 3,657
Total assets per consolidated statement of GEMERRREERE
financial position 90,712
Segment liabilities PHaE
Non-current liabilities FrEam
Deferred tax liabilities EEREGE - - - 284 284
Lease liabilities HEEE - = = - -
Other borrowing HifE& = = - - -
- = - 284 284
Current liabilities ViE=LE | 6,490 522 - 77 7,089
Segment liabilities NHER 6,490 522 - 361 7,373
Unallocated: RAE
Others Hfth 9,838
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of GEUERRREERE
financial position 17,211

g
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EER @
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEEREGE#E

As at 31 March 2023 A B —F=HA=+—H

Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engneering  construction Wines Services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
Rt EER
TRERE HAERELA BHEE  SRREER a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TER TER THr TEm

Segment assets AEE
Non-current assets FrBEE
Property, plant and equipment VEN E b 16 14,116 - - 14,132
Right-of-use assets TREEE - 4573 - - 4,573
Intangible assets BVEE - - - 2499 2499
16 18,689 - 2499 21,204
Current assets TBEE 10,235 6,984 464 4,770 2453
Segment assets PREE 10,251 25673 464 7,269 43,657
Unallocated: KR
Cash and bank balances ReRBIER 5915
Others Hity 34,828
Total assets per consolidated statement of GAMBRIREELR
financial position 84,400
Segment liabilities AHaf
Non-current liabilties FErBaf
Deferred tax liabiliies EREREEE - - - 413 413
Lease liabllities REEE - 732 - - 732
Other borrowing HihEE 5,000 - - - 5,000
5,000 732 - 43 6,145
Current liabiliies REEE 9,244 6,187 132 386 17,182
Segment liabllities PaE =t 14,244 6919 1,325 799 23287
Unallocated: RAR:
Others Hity 13,131
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of GAVBRIREEER
financial position 36,418
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources among segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-
of-use assets, non-current asset held for sale, certain
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and cash
and bank balances as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain accrued expenses and other payables,
certain lease liabilities, certain income tax payable and
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2024

DEPER @
NHEEREE &
RERABRBESESHHEEMS

RUEBEREBEEE NETY
X RBEARFE ETEAREE
RAERENFERBHEE ETRYM
B 2 E R MW IR R IR S KR
SRR PRE B EHER DI ER A
E2RDEL-

RUEBREREE 86 NETE
R REMENRE - ETHES
B ETEAMBRKAETERLERE
BEN REEEERDEERAIZ
HOEL

HihoErE R
BE_ZEZ_NME=-RA=+—HILEE

Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services equipment merchandising business  Unallocated Total
Fit BER
IRkE HEEERE BHEE  SRREBER KRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET TR Fhw TEw FEw F#Ex
Impairment of intangible assets, BV EEAE (IREE)
net of reversal - - - 779 (140) 639
Allowance for ECL on trade and BRREMENERH
other receivables EEEREE (169) 529 (28) = = 332
Reversal of allowance for ECLon loanand ~ FEME K F| S B E S5 EmE
interest receivables - - - (174) - (174)
Allowance for ECL on AHEERREEHEEE
contract assets 45 - - - - 45
Change in fair value of BREMEATEEY
an investment property = = = = (500) (500)
Depreciation of property, ME EBRAENE
plant and equipment 12 6,381 - - 4 6,397
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEENE - 2,287 - - 1,808 4,095
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of B E / HRERERERS
construction equipment - (2,779) - - - (2,779)
Additions to property, plant and equipment BB 483 K& - 398 - - 6 404
Bank interest income SRITRIS A - - = = 27 (27
Finance costs BT 490 110 - - 134 734
Gain on disposal of right-0f-use assets upon  IRAIR LB HEFREEE 2 RE
early termination = (253) - - - (253)

g
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. EER @
Other segment information (Continued) HthoHER &
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_ - —F=-FA=+—HILEE
Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising husiness Unallocated Total
R EER
TiRlkE HERERE BHEE  RREEER AR st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Impairment of intangible assets BV BERNE - - - 2,067 611 2678
Allowance for ECL on trade and B 5 REMBENERS
other receivables BERBEEE 55 1616 9 - - 1,680
Allowance for ECL on loan and BHERRASBREESRRE
interest receivables - - - il - il
Reversal of allowance for ECLon BHEERBEERROE
contract assets (19 - - - - (19)
Change in fair value of RENELATREEY
aninvestment property - - - - (3300 (3300)
Depreciation of property, MERERRETE
plant and equipment 13 7486 - - " 7510
Depreciation of right-0f-Use assets BREEENE - 3920 - - 1,809 5729
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of B E /S RERERENE
construction equipment - (157) - - - (157)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE BERZE 2 WA
equipment - @2 - - - @
Additions to property, plant and equipment  EEEE 4B K& E 9 - - - - 9
Bank interest income SRITRIBIA - - - - 9 0
Finance costs HENA 232 348 - - 217 797
Geographical information MEHE
The Group's operations are principally located in Hong Kong AEBFENEERPEEE-
and the PRC.
The Group's revenue from external customers is presented AEBRBIINSIFEZMAEEREF #

based on the location of customers. The geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and the location of the operation, in the case
of goodwill and intangible assets. The analysis of the Group's
revenue from external customers and non-current assets by
geographical location is as follows:

2V ERBEEMME B RRE

EREEE

MEMEUEERNEENE

BRAE MlBEREBETEEMSIER
RE R, - REEIZ IR E D EERIRE

ShERE PRI

Revenue from

external customers

WAFIERBEEDITUT ¢

Non-current assets

RKEMNBEEZHWA EREMEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“ETME TET=4F —ETME TET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET
Hong Kong 58 46,006 54,163 11,981 25,423
The PRC s - 1,598 = -
Macau P 41,597 - = -
87,603 55,761 11,981 25,423
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
Geographical information (Continued)
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

DEEE @
HEEE @)
IR A BRI RS BRI BSH

LHIFRBEEENDREEMREMST
L FEEERTRERELERBEE -

FEERZEH
BERAEBRBRRI0%T AU EHNEE Wm
mr

2024 2023

—E-MF —ET=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Customer A ZAA 25,297 31,303
Customer B2 =ZHB? 29,352 N/A 5 B
Customer C'2 ZEHC? 12,245 N/A 5 B

1 Revenue from Design, fitting out and engineering services
2 The corresponding revenue in 2023 did not contribute 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group

! AR RERTRERB RS
? ZABRAM SR — B = F U R EMAERLR
s 2 10%30 4 £
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9.
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OTHER INCOME 9. HhgkA
2024 2023
—EMF EC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FET FET
Bank interest income IRITRBEUA 27 9
Rental income FAEUA 9(a) 888 884
Sundry income FEIFURA 37 117
Government subsidies B #5ED 9(b) - 407
952 1,417

9(a) Rental income

An analysis of the Group’s net rental income from

9(a) HEWA

AEBREREYEZHEZWAF

investment property is as follows: BOMmWT
2024 2023
—EZE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Gross rental income from REREYE B WALRLE
investment property 888 884
Less: Direct operating expenses i : BEiFEES H G ATERSD)
(included in administrative
expenses) (206) (159)
682 725

9(b) Government subsidies
The government subsidies were granted from the
Employment Support Scheme, under the Anti-epidemic
Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administration Region, which aims to retain employment

and combat under COVID-19 epidemic.

9(b) HFIFEED

BT Bk B & B R BT & BT
EHEES THERMRETE - HE
TECOVID-19% 15 MRIFME KR ES

e
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10. OTHER GAINS, NET 10. Hfthrzs > B 58
2024 2023
“ENE TEBC=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FAET FET
Gain on disposal of right-of-use AR IEFFHEFERRE
assets upon early termination BEZ W& 253 -
Compensation gain on disposal/ BEGEIHEERE
write-off of construction equipment & U 2,779 157
Gain on disposal of property, HEME KB RREZ
plant and equipment Wz - 2
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary B ABEREIE (43) (103)
Waiver of amount due to a former FENRIEERIEE T
director (emoluments payable) (FETEN =) 14(a) = 809
Write-back of other payables EL{th FE (7R IB o] 5 = 126
Others Hith (152) -
2,837 991
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. RMERZE
2024 2023
—E-mE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interests on: UTFEEZHE
~ lease liabilities —HE8E 244 565
— unsecured other borrowing —EIRREMEE 490 232

734 797
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

12. FREHIER

2024 2023
ZETME T =F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 THET FHET
Current tax BNHATRIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax EHENSH - -
Macau Complementary Income Tax ~ ;RPFIFFE @M (20) -
(20) -
Deferred tax FIERR I 31 654 232
Income tax credit for the year FEMEBMRIER 634 232
(@  Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong @@ RESAFESHMAREG > cEBE
Kong, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a qualifying [ 5 52 =2,000,0007 7T 2 i@ A1) 1 3%
group entity are taxed at 8.25% and profits above FRE8.25% R » M #8482,000,0007%
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of other To 2 m M AR IR E16.5%R 1 o A RF
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two- EHERMABF 2 EMEBEERE
tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a S 2 M BB ERR R E16.5%F
flat rate of 16.5%. o
() Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin b REEBELHE (THBELE
Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income 51) FRAFIER] > A& E BB
tax in the BVI. HE R LB ENERPIER
() The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations (€ BRETHERESEZHARPGEMS
in the PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on MERBIRTEL 2ERBRIER
the estimated assessable profits for both years based B G E Y 5T R SRR i A 3%
on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in AM=sE-
respect thereof.
(d  Macau Complementary Income Tax is calculated at the d CEMFFEMITRIBEREAERRE

progressive rate on the estimated assessable profits. The
tax rate is 12% for the year.

MRRERKABE - FFEREXS
12% °
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 12. FRIEMRIER @
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss NEEFMEREBERRGEEAREMEE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and WER KT ATEIBZ HERMT :
other comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
= o 10 - BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss before tax PRI RTRS R (10,424) (24,796)
Tax expense at rates applicable to profits 2 BRI B £ B ERREAE 2
in the jurisdiction concerned MIBAEZ (1,753) (4,103)
Tax effect of income not taxable RRBAZRFEELE
for tax purpose (802) (626)
Tax effect of expenses not RENMIBERZ 2 BT E
deductible for tax purpose 51 51
Tax effect of (deductible) taxable FREERD (IR BRI EBF
temporary differences not recognised =~ ZEZEZ M FE (647) 469
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RFEBIRIBEIBZ IRFE L 2,837 4,134
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised  RIERIRIERSIE 2 FE A (320) (157)
Income tax credit for the year FEMBRIER (634) (232

g
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

13. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax has been arrived at after charging
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13. FRIRAIESIR

AEBBFRATGEDENMRF GtA) &

(crediting): 15 .
2024 2023
—ZME -
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M=k FET FHET
Salaries and wages included in FERkIE
cost of sales GTAHE R A) 821 2,293
Salaries and wages included in FreEkIE
administrative expenses: GTATTHEGRES) !
Directors’” emoluments EEWE 14 2,191 3,089
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER
(excluding directors’ emoluments) FEREEse) 4,303 5,522
Contribution to defined contribution & ZBMH Rk
plans (excluding directors’ (FEEEE=)
emoluments) 190 254
7,505 11,158
Cost of inventories sold EEHEEMA 9,866 12,645
Depreciation of property, plant ME BB RREITE
and equipment 6,397 7,510
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEEFE 4,095 5,729
Auditor’'s remuneration Z M & 650 720
Compensation gain on disposal/ BE/WIHEER
write-off of construction equipment — #{E W& (2,779) (157)
Gain on disposal of property, HEMZE KSR RRMHE
plant and equipment Z W = )
Gain on disposal of right-of-use IRAIAR IR EFE AR
assets upon early termination BEZWE (253) -
Loss on dissolution of subsidiaries REN B A B B8 43 103
Written-off of other receivables Hif 25 L Ath FEULRRIE 135 -
Lease payment under short-term MEGHAE ME
leases on premises 301 431

/
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS
14(a) Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable
to the directors of the Company by the Group during the
year are as follows:

14. ARAEFEANEN

14(a) EEME
KREBRAFEEEL I REN T
NEEENMNEARZEWNT -

Year ended 31 March 2024
BEZ-_ME=BA=1+—-HLEE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other  contribution
Fees benefits plans Total
&M THMH
&R Hitig# sHEfHR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FERr FTERr TER
Executive Directors: HITES !
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREELE - 1,406 17 1,423
Mr. Wang Jun TERE - 240 12 252
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (note (i) EBRRRIE A (EE() - 126 6 132
Non-executive Director: EHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (note (i) BB %E (IEHD) - 18 - 18
Independent non-executive BiUFHTES:
Directors:
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (note (i) BIE L+ (HIEk(i) 55 - - 55
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (note (i) SREEE (EEW) 37 - - 37
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRE RS E 71 - - VAl
Mr. Wu Zhao SREE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vadt & 83 - - 83
Total st 366 1,790 35 2,191
Notes: 5T
i) Mr. Yau Yan Yuen had been appointed as executive director i) ERUREEEEZEAR AT RNIT
of the Company with effect from 15 September 2023 and EF BIZ=FhA+HBE
resigned subsequent to the end of the reporting period with AR TRBRERRBERT BZZ
effect from 21 May 2024. ZMERAZ+—BHEEXR-
ii) Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong resigned as non-executive director of ii) LEREEHTARBIFNITE
the Company with effect from 3 June 2023. E EIZI=FRAZHEENC
iii) Ms. Tsang Hau Wai had been appointed as independent iii) BILEZtEEZEARATEITL
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 16 FRTEET B2 =F+A+<
October 2023. HiEeER -
iv) Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon had been appointed as independent iv) EREBEECEZEABIULIERT

g

non-executive Director with effect from 8 December 2023.

E5 AT =F+ZA/\HiEE
o
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4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

14(a)

14(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14. ERAEEERAEH @

14(a) EFME @

Year ended 31 March 2023

BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HILEFE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other contribution
Fees benefits plans Total
il EEEHAR
1= Hitrig#! REIGEN iast
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TET TET FTET
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen HEEEE - 2,080 18 2,098
Mr. Wang Jun IERE - 240 3 243
Mr. Zhang Weijie REREE - 258 15 273
Non-executive Director: FRITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BRERE - 105 - 105
Independent non-executive BIERTES .
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRI 4 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao SkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast & 120 - - 120
Total 45t 370 2,683 36 3,089

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
Mr. Zhang Weijie waived emoluments of HK$243,500
for the year ended 31 March 2023. As such, the related
directors emoluments payable (included in other
payable) of HK$809,000 has been derecognised in the
prior year.

No emoluments represent the payments to a
management service company in respect of directors’
services in connection with management of the affairs of
the Group.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company that were entered
into or subsisted during the year (2023: Nil).

REBUEETMAESEZ(FHEN
N (EAWRSIMAKRERIIMA
NEEBZRBIREABERMBE-
REANEERBE_S_=ZF=H4
=+—H IEFEHREM$243,5007%
oo AL ESEREESME GtA
HAthFE T FRIE) 809,000 7T B i
AEERIERET -

MENEEEEAEREHORS
M2 EERB AT RIME

14<b>ﬁﬁau§$%%wzg o

BMKkEM
E€$¢F§’ﬁiﬁu$ﬁﬁ§$%§uﬁ
ANZER EERFEMZFZET L

I\E (— = ——ﬂz .

/:ﬂT:t) o
i
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4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

14(c) Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: Nil).

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
During the vyear, the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group include one (2023: one) director(s)
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2023: four) individuals were as follows:

14. ERAEEENEN @

14(c) EFERS - RIREGRNEKR
M mx
BRIAER G M BRI sE36FT IR EE &
S R AF EREREFRE > 4
AB A BT HMAEANS KA R E
ZEBMARBD ZEENERZLH
BEEERAMETHPHEREX
NHEZBBRF ZHKkaE CF
TZEHE) o

15. MiERENAL

REFER FAEENERSHRIAA
FOoHA— (CBI=F ) ARES H
B AR B A TS R AR IS4 3 B2 © HLBRID
(C2Z=F 1) ABNBE=0T :

2024 2023

“EME TEI=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Salaries and other benefits FeMEMER 1,963 2,371
Contributions to defined ERAHERGET BIHERR

contribution plans 63 90

2,026 2,461

Their emoluments were within the following band:

M FOTER !

2024 2023

“EME —E2T=F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AEBA# ANEA#

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,0007% 7T 4 4

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of these individuals waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

g

AEBUERARLRSHATZTHEN
BN T’Fj%ﬂﬁﬁlﬂﬂkzkﬁgﬁm)\ﬁ%
1§Zﬁﬁblﬁf’ﬁ%%&ﬂﬁtﬁﬁ HEZ IEI
%Z%/\iﬁﬂl?&ﬁ@ﬁ%"



Annual Report 2023/2024
TECZF /TR TNEERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 03 S 5 ¥R B
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16.

17.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share amounts
is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 78,649,000 (2023: 32,260,000) in issue during the year. The
loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 is restated to
reflect the share consolidation and rights issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

16.

17.

[:35)
BE_ZNER-ET=_F=-RA=+—
HIEFERBERIRERLERS  BR
HHIRE TAEHRRKEEATRE

BiEE

EREARBEGESERAATERA
FEMSEREERER DTS ERMNET
¥#178,649,0008% (ZZ = =4 : 32,260,000
B eE - B#E_T_=F=A=+—Hl1t
FEEZEREEEEY URBRERNRKRD
B R ARG o

ARBEBNEBLEEREARBEHEER
TR R -

2024 2023
—ENE —EZ=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loss attributable to owners of the MEREXNREEEEMS
Company for the purpose of basic KABEE NELZ B
and diluted loss per share (9,790) (24,564)
2024 2023
—E_NE ZET=HF
'000 ‘000
TRz T
(Restated)
(IR E7))
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FtEREAREEEEMS 2
shares for the purpose of basic and TR
diluted loss per share 78,649 32,260
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(#&E7))
Loss per share SREFR
Basic and diluted EAR RS (0.12) (0.76)

Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, basic and diluted loss
per share are the same for both years.

HRBE"ZTNERTE"=ZF=8
:+—EIJLEE}§W$E5E#,ET‘}§§,§;E§§TTHR
7 RItmEEENSkE SR EHER
eI
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

178

18. )X B R=E

Leasehold  Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
HENEEE FRANEEEE WAZRME RE BERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET AT FHT FHT THET
Cost; 7%
At 1 April 2022 RZZ-_ENE—H 4,554 720 360 1,492 34,077 41,203
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - (60) (2,855) (2.915)
Additions e - - 9 - - 9
At31March 2023and 1Aprl 2023  RZZE_=F=A=+—HR
- =FMA-H 4,554 720 369 1,432 31,222 38,297
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - - (2,520) (2,520)
Additions RE - - 6 - 398 404
At 31 March 2024 RIE2-ME=A=+—-H 4,554 720 375 1,432 29,100 36,181
Accumulated depreciation: Ritie
At 1 April 2022 RZE__&ENBE—AR 3,747 712 3N 1,280 12,753 18,803
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - (57) (2,093) (2,150)
Charge for the year KEEXH 649 8 % 106 6711 7,510
At31March2023and 1April 2023  RIZEZ=F=F=+—HK
“Z--EB-H 4,396 720 347 1,329 17,371 24,163
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - - (2,091) (2,091)
Charge for the year AEELH 158 - 23 59 6,157 6,397
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=B=+-A 4,554 720 370 1,388 21,437 28,469
Carrying amount; BREfE
At 31 March 2024 RIE-ZME=A=+-H = = 5 44 7,663 7,712
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=B=+—H 158 - 2 103 13,851 14,134

The Group leases its construction equipment to third parties AEBRUKREHEHAERRZETS=

under operating leases with rental calculated on a daily basis.
The leases do not include any purchase option. Rental income
from leasing of construction equipment is set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The construction equipment is subject to residual value risk.
The lease contract, as a result, includes a provision based on
which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any
damage to the construction equipment at the end of the lease.
Besides, the Group required the tenants to purchase insurance
to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or
physical damages of the equipment.

g

HoHERAFBE - HETEEEABRE
EER LHRERFBHESWACHIIN
IRE B RARMIEET

BRERFEAZRHEERER Rt - BE
BHEI—RBEO B AEBEAERER
MEGRFLEERE ZEMIRERER
RECIHN AEBBEZRBFBERR
REEA RTINS EZ BEEIBRM
SIEERYIRR -
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

19. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE 19. FIEHEZIERBEE

2024 2023
ZETME T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Fair value: NEE:

At 1 April HIUBE—H 29,500 26,200

Change in fair value recognised in RIERBER 2 AT EEH
profit or 10ss 500 3,300
Disposal HE (30,000) -
At 31 March W=B=+—H - 29,500
On 31 March 2023, the Company, through its indirect wholly- RIZBZ=F=A=+—H ARE&EA

owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with a purchaser, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell
and the purchaser agreed to acquire the investment property
at a consideration of HK$30,000,000. In the opinion of the
Directors, the disposal (the “Disposal”) of the investment
property is expected to be completed within twelve months
from the date of the agreement. As a result, the investment
property was re-classified as non-current assets held for sale
as at 31 March 2023. On 28 March 2024, the Disposal had been
completed.

The Group's investment property located in Hong Kong has
been presented as non-current asset held for sale as at 31
March 2023 as mentioned in the above paragraph. The fair
value of the investment property as at 31 March 2023 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by the
independent qualified professional valuer that not connected
with the Group. The independent qualified professional valuer
is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The
valuation was arrived at using prevailing market rents for
comparable properties in the same location and condition,
expected future market rents and appropriate discount rates.

The property is measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value categorised as Level 2 based on the degree to which
the inputs to fair value measurement are observable. There
were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy during
the years ended 31 March 2023.

HEZ2ENBARRE ST UEER
oL AEERRRERESREBER
BB AfE#30,000,0008 T EE
s HEREY X (HESHE) FAeti
KB EES - @R R - ALt
RZEZ=F=ZRB=+—H REVWXE
MOEAREHEZFRBEE- N =%
THWFE=AZ+N\H HEFBEEREM-

AL L ESEPRAM AEBUNREBZR
BEMFERN_E_=_F=A=+—H%F
FIEHEZFRBEE -REVER-F
T=FZR=1+—HZATEDHERELR
EETRAE BUISEESEREEME
TZEEER -BISXSERGEENS
BEEAEMBEEE LENDNERAR M
RAMRR TR ENEETHES R
FIARRMIGEERBENITIRERER -

MERTEHEDBIBURATEFEZHA
BN HEREERERNE _RATE
FEREBEE_TZ_=F=A=+—HL
FE SRV ERBRZEILESE-
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
19. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the property as at 31 March 2023 is determined (in particular,

19. FEHEZIERBEE @

TREINEEN _BE_=ZF=RA=+—H
ZHEZNTFEER (LEBFERZME

the valuation techniques and inputs used): EEMREARR
Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2023 Valuation technique and key inputs
RIEZ=%
=B=+—H
RTEER ZRTE HERNTREERARE
HK$'000
FET
Investment property Level 2 (2023:  Investment method of valuation
classified as 29,500) - Prevailing market rents for comparable properties
non-current asset in the same location and condition, expected
held for sale (2023: future market rents and appropriate discount rates.
Investment property)
DEAFEHEZ BER T =F BEGBZX
FERBEEZ 29,500) — E—HEFR R AL ENEETISBHEE T8
KREME FFAREMBHEERBEENITIRE.
(B =%F:
BEYE)

Leasing arrangement - as lessee

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the property of
HK$29,500,000 are held under head lease with the remaining
lease term of 24 year. The lease contracts do not impose any
covenants on the Group.

The property interests in leasehold land and the buildings
thereon (including the whole or part of undivided share in the
underlying land) in Hong Kong of HK$29,500,000 are held by
the Group as the registered owner. Those property interests
were acquired from the previous registered owners by making
lump sum payments at the upfront. Except for the variable
amounts to be charged by the government subsequently that
are reviewed regularly with reference to the rateable values, for
example, there are no ongoing payments to be made under the
terms of the land lease.

g
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19. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)
Leasing arrangement — as lessor
The property is leased to tenants for a term ranged from one
to two years, in which the first year is non-cancellable and the
second year is cancellable with a notice period of 2 months
by the tenant. The lease does not contain any renewal option.
Monthly rental charges consist of fixed payments. The Group
bears the management fees and amounts charged by the
government such as the rates levied on the Group.

The property is subject to residual value risk. The lease
contract, as a result, includes a provision based on which the
Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage to
the properties at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group has
purchased insurance to protect it against any loss that may
arise from accidents or physical damages of the properties.

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$888,000 (2023: HK$884,000). The property
held for rental purposes is expected to generate rental yields of
3.00% (2023: 3.00%) on an ongoing basis.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to
be received from the leasing of the property.

9. REWME FHEHEZERHE

E #®)

HEZHE—1EAHAA
MEBENFIE2E 2 APHBATHES |
R R AT 0 A BT E T M2ME
BB - A ER O ST TR E
K-SR ABEENR AEEASE
EIEE R BT UE R ERIE > Bl A E [
BB B o

MEAZHFEERR AL - BESY
BE-EBFE BRI AEEARREE
BREMMEZEABREREARRE L
Sy AEBEBERE  REEFAER
BINME 2 BERIRMSIEREK

R EY) 2 & WA TS 41 74888,00078 7T
(CZ =4 :884,00087T) - FIEHH
FRER B 2 FEHA AR [O] 3R 2RI 52.3.00%
(ZEZ=4:3.00%) HyKFEo

DUR iR e B2l 2 RS IR &
ARBIBIEA DA ©

2023
—BI=F
HK$'000
TET

Year 1 F—F
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20. ERHEEE

Office
premises  Warehouses Total
MAEYE BE 4azE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Net book value at 1 April 2022 A TE-_FENE—HZ
EREFE 5,426 8,493 13,919
Depreciation for the year ERHTE (1,809) (3,920) (5,729)
Net book value at 31 March 2023 WM_Z_=&#=H=+—H
and 1 April 2024 RZZEZNFEMA—H
ZEREFE 3,617 4,573 8,190
Disposals (Note a) HE (fizka) - (2,286) (2,286)
Depreciation for the year FERTE (1,808) (2,287) (4,095)
Net book value at 31 March 2024 R_ZE_WME=HA=+—H
ZRmEFE 1,809 - 1,809
Note: B 5E -

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had expressed its
intention and notified the landlord not to further renew the lease
arrangement, which is under option lease period, in relation to the
warehouses for the leasing of construction equipment business.
Accordingly, the aggregate amounts of respective right-of-use
assets of HK$2,286,000 and lease liabilities of HK$2,539,000 are
derecognised resulting in a gain in early termination of lease of
HK$253,000.

g

@ BEZ_NF=A=+—HLEEFE X&
EREERERFEF  AEHREERET
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea) 20.

21.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use assets can only
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying assets. In addition, the Group is
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.

Residual value guarantees
The Group does not provide residual value guarantees for the
lease contracts of office premises and warehouse.

FHRESE @

PR& 325k

AT REIBE > RIS HEAN
W FREREEEEERAEERE
B BAREEREHERIRFIE[EE -
B9 - 75 5 [ B 4 15 40 2 B 4T MO AE 15 R
g > M AR S A SRR R R 2B o

FIREEER
FERTEAMAEERBERERR
RERGFEERER

GOODWILL 21. BHE
2024 2023
—ENE TEC=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Cost: A
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, A B _FPA—H-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 TEC=F=HA=+—8"
TEC-FRAB—HRK
—E_ME=H=+—H 2,721 2,721
Accumulated impairment losses: RETEERSIE .
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, A _E - _FPA—H-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —F=F=HB=+—H-
2T -FEB—HK
“E-ME=HA=+—H 2,721 2,721
Carrying amount: REE :

At 31 March BR=BA=+—H
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21.

GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE ®)
Goodwill arose because the consideration paid for the EXmERanlEZTZRESKRE
acquisitions effectively included amount in relation to the BRRMBER M BEEMEESE
benefits originated from future market development and the SR ms B -HARZENGATE
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These benefits A#AEEEE 2 EERRLE R
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they EoHER FAiNECEIBETAR
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible NBRPI1SHA <
assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been BRERCHBE 2 BESEEAEESR
allocated to Financial services business segment CGU and MRBEF IR REEEE UMK E
Design, fitting out and engineering services business segment ERIEBRBEBOEBEELESM (D
CGU (see note 8 to the consolidated financial statements B E R IB N RS MBI ERMIEE8) o 48
for details of segment information). An analysis of goodwill MREELEBEMN S =F R _ZFM
attributable to the relevant CGUs as at 31 March 2023 and 2024 FZRE=1+—HELEEZ2MUT :
is as follows:
Design,
fitting
out and
Financial  engineering
services services
business business
segment segment
CGU CGU Total
BEt BER
ERRTE ITRERBES
EBDE PEPIRE
REEEEM EEE 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHExT
Gross amount 4azE 854 1,867 2,721
Impairment loss recognised ERERBEEE (854) (1,867) (2,721)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2024

A =—F=A=+—H
R_EZME
=—B=+—BNEAEE -

g
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. BELEE
Cross-
boundary
SFO licences  vehicle licence Total
Fikz 4
HE kAR HA R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FER TER
Cost: %3N
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, AZETEA—A
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 _BI=HF
=B=+—/
ZEI-FNA-HK
—Z_@mE=HA=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment losses: ~ Bitim{ERSE
At 1 April 2022 AZE-"ENA—H 14172 665 14,837
Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE 2,067 611 2,678
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 ATEZEZAZ+—AK
2B —H 16,239 1,276 17,515
Impairment loss (reversal of BREAERE (BORESR)

Impairment 10ss) recognised 779 (140) 639
At 31 March 2024 R-B-_ME=A=+-H 17,018 1,136 18,154
Carrying amount: IRMEE -

At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=ZA=+—H 1,720 740 2,460
At 31 March 2023 R-2_=£=A=+-AH 2499 600 3,099
The intangible assets represent (i) the licences to carry on Type EREERINREES B AMAE71EES
1 (Dealing in securities), Type 4 (Advising on securities) and FERERR (T35 5 M ERE &A1) IE T 55148
Type 9 (Asset management) activities under the Securities and HHEXH) FE MBAREERR) &
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong FORRHBEESR FHNER (FSH5 K
Kong) (the “SFO Licences”); and (i) the cross-boundary vehicle HRERPIRRER)) ; Ke(i)P BB EmERER o
licence.

/
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Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z _—ZF _[#E=H =+—HIFEE

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea)

SFO Licences

The SFO Licences represent intangible assets acquired as a
result of a business combination during the year ended 31
March 2018. The SFO Licences have been considered to have
indefinite useful lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not
amortised. The carrying amount of the SFO Licences has been
included in the carrying amount of Financial services business
segment CGU for impairment assessment.

The Group has appointed the independent qualified
professional valuer to perform an appraisal of the recoverable
amount of the SFO Licenses as at 31 March 2024. Same as
the prior year, the recoverable amount of Financial services
business segment CGU have been determined based on
fair value less costs of disposal using the replacement cost
approach (2023: fair value less costs of disposal using the
replacement cost approach), which is higher than value in use
after considering the current economic conditions and the
potential postposement of business plan due to uncertainties
in the financial market for the Financial services business
segment. During the year, the recoverable amount have been
determined by using replacement cost approach instead of
market comparable approach because there is a decrease in
recent similar transactions.

The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value
of Financial services business segment CGU under the
replacement cost approach include the estimation of cost
of obtaining such licenses and relevant transaction cost. The
valuation was categorised as Level 3 fair value measurement.

The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal was
approximately HK$1,720,000 (2023: HK$2,499,000). Accordingly,
having compared with the carrying amount of Financial
services business segment CGU (including the carrying amount
of goodwill as mentioned in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements), impairment loss of approximately
HK$17,018,000 (2023: HK$16,239,000) and HK$779,000 (2023:
HK$854,000) were provided on SFO Licences and goodwill
associated with Financial services business segment CGU as at
31 March 2024 respectively.

g

22. &

CBE @

78 T RAIG (R G E R

B MAERABBIENEE_S—N\F
ZR=+—HBUEFEREBEHESHNE
FEE B RAEROBRBKGERZE
MEFRAFRERAAEREEEBIHAE/MA
EEFREN A EWEE B5 M
ERFIMERINREECMASRIRTBER
DWREEFEMNEREDEETREST
fio

FEREEZRBIFXCERGEMY
BERPAEHRABBR _Z-NE=
=+ —BNAREESEETHGE BREAE
HE ERMRBEF DR EEEMUN
AW eSS BRI EEMAERFHA
TEREERET CE=F REENL
EFRRHN AT EREERSE) K5t REH
ERRRREMIEFEB DTS
A EEEMAEEERH R Heit
EREE Fr BJRERIETENEAEE
PRAEMIFRIGLEBOEEE  RAREH
B Z R

EEMAE TS ERMRBESDERE
EEBA AT EFAIRRRREERS
BERABRBEE ARBRRZ A o fl
ERDEARE=BRATEHE-

BATERHERAFEN SRR
BKOBRSELEBMNNIKEISEYN
1,720,000 7T (Z2 = =4 | 2,499,000
70) oAb LB SR RIS EF DRSS E
FEMUZEEE (BERGEEVERERW
2T EREE)  ERREER D
HIRSEFBNUESRPERGMREBRE
BHER_EZME=A=+—HDBTiE
BB E1E4917,018,0008 T (Z 2 - =
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22.

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea) 22. BEREE ®
The cross-boundary vehicle licence FRAE R hE ER
The cross-boundary vehicle licence was estimated as having hEEREBRE B REFERERKRIU
indefinite useful life and is measured using the cost model. The MAREL A E - PEBEMERIEDAEE
cross-boundary vehicle licence has been considered to have BEFERAFRERATBRESERASE
indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to the AEBFIRETN AW EGHE
net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and is not amortised.
The Group has appointed the independent qualified AEBBEZREBIIEXGERGEMEF
professional valuer to perform an appraisal of the recoverable BEHERN_ZNF="B=+—H®
amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March AU [ElZ REAETTETE o RABEEIE RN A
2024. The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle W EIZ R EREMIBLLBIEMEBHN AT
licence has been determined on the fair value less costs EREERS (CE22=4F4 FHEHR -
of disposal (2023: value in use) using market comparable HeREREB TR JROISEETIZ
approach, which is higher than the value in use. During the REEBRHEERSTET  REZIIAEM
year, the recoverable amount have been determined by using RGEMEAFEREERASRERE
fair value less costs of disposal because there is a increase B -mMBLEBEBETZFERRBIERT
in recent similar transactions, and the fair value less cost of ZTMFENAELERRS -
disposal is higher than the value in use. The key assumption
under the market comparable approach includes the
comparable transactions during the year 2024.
The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle RIEFEREEAENFBERER 2T
licence based on value in use calculation was approximately U [e1 £ 8849740,0008 T (ZE - =4 :
HK$740,000 (2023: HK$600,000). Accordingly, having compared 600,000 70) ° AL > LR B EEE IR
with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary licence, ZHEEE R_E_NEF=A=+—H
reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) of approximately Bt BEmMG R 2 A EEEERL O
HK$1,136,000 (2023: HK$1,276,000) has been provided on the BER518) 891,136,000 T (ZE_=
cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March 2024. 1,276,00078 7T) ©
LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 23. BEINERKRFIE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FAET FAET
Loan receivables Bl ER 3,000 6,000
Interest receivables FEWH 2 310 310
Less: Loss allowance Vo kit 6(b) (1,168) (1,540)
2,142 4,770
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continuea)  23. FEURERKRFIE @

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the loan portfolios of
the Group consist of 2 personal loans with principal amount of
HK$3 million each. The Group’s loan and interest receivables,
which arise from the money lending business in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HK$. Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-
bearing at a rate of 9% (2023: 9%) per annum and matured at
the end of the reporting period. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying amount
of the receivables mentioned above.

Ageing analysis of the outstanding loans

In January 2024, the Group entered into a settlement
agreement with one of the borrowers. Based on the settlement
agreement, the Group agreed to waive the partial outstanding
interest receivable of approximately HK$198,000 to the
borrowers and the principal amount of HK$3,000,000, together
with accrued interest of approximately HK$53,000 were fully
settled in January 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has received
partial outstanding interest receivables of HK$200,000 from
another borrower, and the Group would make endeavour effort
to collect the outstanding principal and accrued interests in due
course.

The aged analysis of loan and interest receivables (net of
impairment) that is not considered to be impaired is as follows:

BHE_ S NE=ZA=+—HLEFE &
EEERASBIEMIESEZA$3,000,000
BLEZBEAER SEBBEWRER RS
REREBRHENEEER WS T
B EWERARIKE REREYN (T
ToE %) BN REHREE NS
REQHFEBENRAGEERR A LX
Ffr 2t FE U R IB B9 AR D8 ©

KREEENIRE 2T

AT INFE—B > AERAEF—2E
TN MEEH I RIFGEEHE A&
ERERRERRZERANI D REETR
E#7198,000% 7T » M4~ 53,000,000 7T 2
EIFEST ] E4953,0008 T BN S W&
—BRHEES -

BE_ZNE=FB=+—HILEFE &
EBBEWES —ERANI D REBER
FJ 2.200,00078 7T » A £ E i & 1@ R UR D]
KREBASRESFE

KRB ERBENBEERKLFE AR
B FERECDATAOT ©

2024 2023
—ENE TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Past due but not impaired BaH EREE
more than 180 days #838180H 2,142 4,770

Basis of Impairment Loss

Since the loan has been overdue for repayment as at 31 March
2024, the probability of default would have increased. However,
considering the credit worthiness and by reviewing the past
repayment history of the borrower where accrued interest has
been settled during the year and/or subsequent to the year,
the Group considers the loan is not credit-impaired and is
categorised as Stage 2 for ECL assessment.

g

HEBIREE

HRERER _ZNF=A=+—Ha
HARIEMR - BABIRISEME RS G180 < 287 >
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23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continued)
Basis of Impairment Loss (Continuea)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised
a reversal of allowance for ECL of approximately HK$174,000
(2023: allowance of ECL of approximately HK$721,000)
comprised of an increase in allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$575,000 and a reversal of allowance of ECL for
approximately HK$749,000 after settlement of one of the loan
and interest receivables.

Movement in the Group’s allowance for ECL on loan and
interest receivables is as follows:

. ERERKRFE @

REBIEEE &
BHE_Z_MNF=—B=+—HIEEE>
KNEBMBRIBE EFB[EI#49174,000
BT (CEZ=F BHREEHEREEY
721,000787T) » BIETEIRE BB A H T
A0#9575,0008 T R 45 5 —BREWE R &
M BB TERRE B 1B [D1#49749,00078 7T ©

A E I B AR B TR S B AR
BT

2024 2023

—EME —EB=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

At beginning of the year RE 1,540 819
Allowance for ECL for the year, net FATEHAEEBIERE 35 (174) 721
Increase in allowance for ECL for the year S RTEEAE EE5BEH LM 575 721
Reversal of allowance for ECL for the year &N TEHE(E EE518[0]# (749) -
Waiver R (198) -
At end of the year REX 1,168 1,540

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for loan and interest receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ERAEEMAZEERBUKRBEER
RABBREBZENBN GG HBRE
FysE6(D)

24. INVENTORIES 24. 786
2024 2023
—ENE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Fine and rare wines held for sale, at cost #51EH & 355 » LU AT 8k 259 388
Construction materials, at cost ZEYRL LAY R 843 916
1,102 1,304
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. BSREMEUFRIA

2024 2023
—E-NE TEBC=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b 5 FAET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EKRRIE
From third parties "E=%H
— Sales and service income — I E R ARFE A
receivables and lease income FEWERIE R AE B U A
receivables FEWIFRIE 27,934 19,176
Less: Loss allowance B IR 6(D) (6,643) (6,484)
21,291 12,692
Other receivables HhFEURFRIE
Deposits, prepayments and advances 1%~ JE{IE R
to suppliers BEEE RS 1,055 1,844
Others Hih 934 842
1,989 2,686
Total trade and other receivables B 5 K& EHmEWEIE4E 5 23,280 15,378

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 30
to 60 days (2023: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of loss
allowance based on the invoice date as at the end of the

AEEBEEZERIRMAIEI0ELH
(ZE =4 ! 30860H) * &2 FHE

B T AR SRR

ES=REET

Z B S EWRIE (OREIRRE) ZRED

reporting period. #fre
2024 2023
ZE-ME —E2T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Within 90 days 90HWA 16,004 8,523
91 to 180 days 9MEE180HUR 583 626
181 days to 270 days 181H E2708 UK 518 388
271 days to 365 days 27MHE3SHIUA 456 344
More than 365 days 365 E 3,730 2,811
21,291 12,692
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continves)  25. B Z REMEYWTRIE @

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss BRANEEMAR 2 EERBUREZ &
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note HiEWRIBEREGE 2 ERNERGEEH
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. PR RMIEE6(0) ©
The financial assets included in the other receivables for which s AEHMBEUREIEZ SR E E T I
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. R RBaBERBE R OER_F
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was TCE=ZRB=1+—H HERHITEAM
assessed to be minimal. VR
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are B 5 REMEURIENEREEN TGS
denominated in the following currencies: FHE -
2024 2023
—E-MF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
HK$ BT 23,280 15,375
RMB AR - 3
23,280 15,378
26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. EHNEERSNERE
LIABILITIES
26(a) Contract assets 26(a) BNEE
2024 2023
—EZME —_E=
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b 5 FAET FET

Unbilled revenue in respect of e fHeR st EER TR R

provision of design, fitting REBR1E R ARREE W&

out and engineering and RN AR EZ N E

procurement of furnishings

and related products services 6,583 2,131
Less: Loss allowance o EEEE 6(b) (66) ()

6,517 2,110

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights BHRNEEFERNEAEEZENR
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at EHREEMERZEHIRETEN
the end of the reporting period. The contract assets are RENEN - ENEEN B MEN K
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become ZEGAFEA S RIS
unconditional.
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26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(a) Contract assets (Continued)
Retention receivables are included in contract assets
until the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract assets from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

26. ENEERGNER @&

26(a) EHNEE @)

BEREESAGHNEE  EERE
HIER > AR A EEERRENIRY
EAEBCRRAEENTEESEW
BB

FR BEBYBREERSBISRE
TEREHNZENEELD (B
RE—FEHELEZIZE) WT

2024 2023

—E-mE —EF=%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAET

At 1 April REA—H 2,110 3,931
Transferred to trade receivables S E B 5 EUEIE (488) (3,970)

(Allowance for) Reversal of FRTEREESE

allowance for ECL for the year () o158 (45) 19
Recognised as revenue v G 4,940 2,130
At 31 March R=B=+—H 6,517 2,110

For the year ended 31 March 2024, allowance for ECL
of HK$45,000 (2023: reversal of allowance for ECL
HK$19,000) is recognised for the contract assets.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and loss allowance for contract assets is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

g

BE_Z_NME=B=+—HIE
B BAaHNEERREERBRE
45,0008 7T (ZZE =4 : JAfHEE
518 E 5 0] #519,00078 7T) ©

BcEERMAZEERRBURE
MNEEBRBEBZEHANGSH
B RMIEE6(D)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. BHNEERSNEGGE =
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(b) Contract liabilities 26h) EHEE
2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Provision of design, fitting out and 1225t HEERTRER
engineering and procurement of  $REB{R1E K A8 BA 2= R AR TS
furnishings and related products

services 1,050 1,594
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance ENERFEHEBRERNRER
consideration received from customers, for which MERD BRI IR R IR HAE R AR
revenue is recognised based on the progress of the BHEER -

provision of related services.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases FERN BEBYEIRES R H155818
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of TRESENZENEEES (FEIE
the contract liabilities from contracts with customers RE—FESEZIER AT :

within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

—E-mEF o=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
At 1 April RUE—H 1,594 229
Recognised as revenue AW (544) (179
Receipt of advances IS B EA R - 1,544
At 31 March R=B=+—H 1,050 1,594

/
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z — T _[/UFE =4 =+—HIFFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. GHNEERGHNERE®

LIABILITIES (continuea)

26(b) Contract liabilities (Continued)
The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting
date to its fitting out and engineering services income,
design and procurement of furnishings and related
product services income and sale of fine and rare wines
as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with maturity within three months
from inception. Bank balances carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.04% to 0.47% (2023: 0.04% t0 0.47%) per annum
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The carrying amounts
of bank balances and cash are denominated in the following
currencies:

26(h) EH9BE &
ERMHHREERFEI1SRE 1218 F
ERNEBEZARRRERRRS
HBEENEER2BENEGNES
AR & 50 R R AR UL > A&
EELBHEERNEEERTER
FEURA ~ 58 5t R IR A R 1R R AE B
RIS A R EBIBE WA RRAS
BEAEEARBHAR SR
THE LI —IB15 o

27. RERIRTTAEER

ROEHRRSOERFEAFE LR
S REMBH =B NEEZEHR
TER-RTERIRBE_S_0O4F
ZAEZ+-BLEEERETHBENEN
£0.04%E0.47% (ZZE =4 : 0.04% =%
0.47%) & B o RITAEBR RIS Z IREE M
TSI :

2024 2023
—EME TEC=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FHET

HK$ BIT 45,608 5,683
RVB NG - 150
us$ =TT 69 69
SGD N T 13 13
45,690 5,915

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to relevant rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

4

AR BR TR SN AR I F 5N ER
1T HE R R 3R < B H A B > 7838 57 R B BURT
FLINEE R B ZABRBIRA AR
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. B KR HMESFIA
2024 2023
“ENE —E=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FAT FAET

Trade payables B S EARIE 4,766 7,865

Other payables HpERIE

Deposits received [Slivesa 472 557

Due to a former substantial N — %A EERERAIE (@)

shareholder 1,915 3,112
Accrued expenses and other payables F& 515 sz K EAth FE < FUIE 6,686 7,554
Interest payable on other borrowing ~ EfthfE EEAFI 2 - 232

9,073 11,455

Total trade and other payables B 5 R EME FIELRER 13,839 19,320

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on UTARBEAFRZEZELR B5EN

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: MIBZ BRES AT -

2024 2023
—E-mE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Within 30 days 30BW 1,495 4,505

More than 30 days but within 90 days ~ 30H EI90H & 1,403 2,471

Over 90 days #Bi890H 1,868 889

4,766 7,865

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days BAERZFHEERANE (Z2Z=

(2023: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management I 90R) - AEBETZEREMEEE

policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within RABRBRNRBEENEESRRRE

the credit timeframe. o

Note B %

(a) With reference to the Company announcement dated 1 February (@) 2EARNFRPAENFE_A—HEZ
2024 and 2 February 2024, ChaoShang Group Limited (“ChaoShang”) ZTNEZAZHNRAE  HEERFRA
has ceased to be a substantial shareholder of the Company and B (F3E) EXNBARRARNEIENRE R~
the balance due to ChaoShang has reclassified as other payables THENEREENREAEMELRIE
included in trade and other payables. The amounts due to ChaoShang A B 5 R B FE AT FRIE o FE(S B iR I8

are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms. AERF R EREETENR
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 28. B KR HMESTRIE )

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days BAEMZFEHEERANE (Z2Z=
(2023: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management F190H) o AERBTZEHMARSEK
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within RABRABRNRBEENEESRRRE
the credit timeframe. The carrying amounts of trade and other B UTEBSHENES REMERNTRIE

payables are denominated in the following currencies: FEREENT !
2024 2023
—E-ME BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ BT 13,839 19,165
RMB AR = 155
13,839 19,320

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. fHE&&E

2024 2023
ZEIME BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current portion TRENER(D 1,902 6,816
Non-current portion JETRENEB1D = 2,634
1,902 9,450
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continueq)

30.

An analysis of the Group's cash outflow for lease is as follows:

Annual Report 2023/2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. HERE®@®
AEEBAERS AT :

2024 2023
ZE-E TEBT=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FAET FET
Lease payments: BN
Short-term leases foHRfRE 301 431
Expenses recognised in profit or loss  fEi8i MRV 301 431
Lease payments: HAENR:
Interest on lease liabilities HEsENE 244 343
Repayment of lease liabilities BIEHEAR 5,009 3,694
34(a) 5,253 4,037
Total cash outflow for leases HEERE RN 5,554 4,468

OTHER BORROWING

The other borrowing is unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed rate
of 5% per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
other borrowing had been fully repaid.

30.

Hitfg &

HEMEEAERT RETEFE5%:t
HE_E_WNE=ZHA=+—HLHE

B
B HMEEEEHEER-

197
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. IREMRIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the RERIE (BE) 8ENRFRANESNT !

year are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_T_ME=-H=+—HIEE
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEREEE RERESE
Fair value

Accelerated  adjustment
tax on intangible

Tax losses  depreciation assets Total
BREE
RIEHE  MERBIE AFERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FERr FTERr TER
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMNA—H = 548 413 961
Credited to profit or loss HABR = (548) (106) (654)
- - 307 307
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-mE=RA=+—H = = 307 307
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE T -—F-HA=-+—HILEFE
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
FIEREBEEE ELERBEESR
Fair value
Accelerated adjustment
tax ~ onintangible
Tax losses depreciation assets Total
B EE
MEBE  NRRUkITE NTEHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAT FHET TAET
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_FMBE—H (2,529 2,968 754 1,193
Charged (Credited) to profit or loss MR GtA) B& 760 (651) (341) (232)
(1,769) 2,317 413 961
Offsetting iR 1,769 (1,769) - -
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=K=H=+—H - 548 413 961

g
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
31. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

1. IRIEIRIE @)

THRE W EEIEIERIREE

2024 2023

ZEIME TET=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

Deductible temporary differences EIEpCA ST 1,308 5,230
Tax losses RIER1E 163,553 149,290
At end of the reporting period REREHE 164,861 154,520

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. No deductible
temporary differences expire under current tax legislation. The
expiry dates for unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

FR R AR MR EE LA TER) SRR EN
MU IR S 8 K AT 40 B B e 22 RR PR SRR SE AR 1R
BE - RBRITRB AP ARG R ER
NEEIH - RIEBNARIBZ BN T

2024 2023

“ENE TEBC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Tax losses without expiration FREHRRIBAE IR 163,553 146,359
Tax losses expiring in: )-SR EIEE N

- 2024 — = OF - 771

- 2025 ——E"hHEF = 901

- 2026 — B TXRE - 818

- 2027 — B _tF - 5

- 2028 ——EN\E - 436

At the end of the reporting period P#R&EHAGR 163,553 149,290

/
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea) 31. IREMRIE &
Pursuant to the PRC tax law, a 10% withholding tax is levied RIFRER I AR RRBERILZIINER
on dividends distributed to foreign investors by the foreign BEhEIEREEDRZKE  BiZ
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement 10RMEHWBHR - ZHREBZZZTN
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings F—B—HRERUBER_-ZZLHF
accumulated after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax +TZRA=+—BEBEZRARBA
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and BB EEMER A EEBITMG
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. As at 31 March 2023, HaE A RARBEZEIIRE - RZZ
no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that _EFE=ZR=t+—H #EMAEEAEF
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Groups' BRI 2 M8 AT 2 R EREF] 2 B T8
subsidiaries established in the PRC as there is no retained IMERIELERIE FREZEWE AR
earnings recorded by those subsidiaries. i B IS R E BA o
32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. g
Number of shares Share capital
BEE] B
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EomE —2ToE ZE_mE 2R
Notes ‘000 '000 HK$'000 HKS'000
fist i T FEwT Fhx
Authorised AT n/aF7#EA n/aFTBEE n/aFER na X ER
Issued and fully paid BTUMR
At beginning and end of the reporting RS EBMRER
period 156,780 156,780 205,523 205,523
Share consolidation Bl & @ (125,424) - - -
Rights issue g ) 156,780 - 36,059 -
Shares issued expenses BETRMER ) = - (768) -
188,136 156,780 240,814 205,523
Notes B 5

(a) On 15 September 2023, the director of the Company proposed to
implement a share consolidation on the basis that every 5 issued
would be consolidated into one consolidated share.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 November 2023,
the share consolidation was approved by the shareholders of
the Company and has become effective on 3 November 2023.
Immediately after the share consolidation, the total number of issued
shares of the Company was adjusted from 156,780,000 to 31,356,000.

(b) A rights issue of five rights share for every 1 existing shares held
by members on the register of members on 7 November 2023 was
made, at an issue price of HK$0.23 per rights share, resulting in the
issue of 156,780,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of approximately HK$36,059,000.

g

(a) RIE_=FABE+HEA AR EEES
ETRMO S BESKREZEITRMEHA
e & R ©

REE2-_=F+—-F _HEBN—HESE
RET RO S HEREIRTRRAEL
CEC=F+—BZHAEN-ZEBRHEH
% ARAE B BTRID B ERE156,780,0008%
FE#2 7531,356,0000% ©

(b) BMIEZ—F+—HFtHREBLEMEZR
REFAIRRERMDEESRHRRMDHS
ETHE > BITEASRERRH0.238
7T & HEE17156,780,0008& % 17 » 4RIRE B

(I0BRBISZAN) 49%36,059,00078 7T ©
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33.

201

R gt st 2

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant options
to any participant (the “Eligible Participant”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are
authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The
Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares (the “Shares”)
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme is
600,000 Shares (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on
18 November 2020 and 3 November 2023), representing
10% of the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of
the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the listing of the Shares on 18 July 2014 (as
adjusted for the Share Consolidation on 18 November 2020 and
3 November 2023) and representing 0.27% of the issued Shares
as at 31 March 2024.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”), the
Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the
Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares subject
to Options will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of Shares take place on the
Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the Options.

BRESIELAATIAREAN2EE (5
BRSHEE)) RUBRE FRAMAEEK
EEPMEEMZERHEF - AAFKRZ
T—MENRAB =T HA KRG RAERE
stEI (TRBRRESTE)) Bt B R ERE
AP 2 B BB RE - R IR S IR 5t
B2 RO ERSEERHIRDBEART
BR1n 2 FE IR 1 - BB AR A 5t RIS 1S HLE IR A
ERESTERE-—EERREN-

ATECNE=ZRB=+—01 RBEZtE
AR EIT 2 A RNBRD (TR B85
600,0008 (M—ZE_FF+—B+N\HX
TEC=HF+—B=ZBRMNEHIELE
) ER S —mEL B+ N\ BEERG
LIHERmBZEBTROBE G2
ZE+—B+N\AR_BE_ZF+—H=
HE& (R B HHEHFEE) 210% (M5t 2R
B MRIZEZNE=ZA=+—HBE®T
§&1520.27%°

PR IR RS B 51 B PR I% tH RIER BB AR 19
ik (TRBRE) K cEKSRER
BARAB]Z1.0087T ) 1ERERIBRE
ZHEB-BREZEZEMNSRHEREE
BEF21AHIE - BREZ RN DBBES
HEFEEE UTNER2HEE BET
BERTIZREZESE ((INRHEBR
REQ WASRNKBXAEEZAF
(ZFH))) BXFAEARBRAMEZR
PRTHE ; kNN EZREBREEHR
LR 7 B FrE BRERAEZ RN
TR HE

/
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BiiESTE @

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option has been granted by the Company.

g

ARBVEMTRMNEITRRE  ERERE
R BIR TREZ A BREETER
AIFEITZRMBE NSBEEIRE
MREE o i IR HLE AR RGEM L AR I 3%
LB R 1E » AR B I FERF BRI IR -
RIRBA R 2HMBREFBFAREMA
FOEZRARTERBREETREEY T
BITZRMDBE THBRERBETR
P230% BREFILZABFRNES
GEEZHBABRITE ZRBAEE
R iR i B ARES + 5 AR RSF
RRAEARSCRRARIR

BREREEERMLOR R ABMER
B
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34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
34(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

34. HMREREH
34(a) RAEEEY 2 &

activities

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from

rEBEMETS 8 REHFBEU

financing activities are as follows: T~
2024 ZETME
Lease Other
liabilities  borrowings Total
HEafE Htifig & fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2023 RZZE_=FWA—H 9,450 5,000 14,450
Changes from financing cash flows: MERESRES .
Repayment of unsecured other borrowing ~ {EEEIKHEMBES - (5,000) (5,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHESR (5,009) = (5,009)
Interest paid BARE (244) (490) (734)
Net cash flows RETEE (5,253) (5,490) (10,743)
Other changes: Hithg :
Release upon early termination of IRAIAR IEFA ERHRRR (FI5E20)
lease (note 20) (2,539) - (2,539)
Interest expenses FEZH 244 490 734
(2,295) 490 (1,805)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=B=+—H 1,902 - 1,902

/
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34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
34(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 34 RIS EENIC B EEE &
activities (Continued)

204

34. HMBEEREN @

2023 —®_=
Amount due
toa
substantial
shareholder
included in
Lease Other trade and
liabilities borrowings  other payable Total
HAESR
EARET
B FES
) —%EE
HEak HEifgE fRERmE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET FET FTET
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMA—H 15,360 - - 15,360
Changes from financing cash flows: REREHEE
Addition of unsecured other borrowing  FfEERIFHMEE - 5,000 - 5,000
Repayment of lease liabilities BERHEEE (3,694) - - (3,694)
Interest paid BRFIE (343) - - (343)
Net cash flows RemEE (4,037) 5,000 - 963
Other changes: Hit@g) .
Changes in lease liabilities HEaEES (2,438) - 2,438 -
Interest expenses FIEZH 565 - - 565
Other non-cash changes HitJFR& 28 - - 674 674
(1,873) - 3112 1,239
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-=f=A=+-A 9,450 5,000 3112 17,562
35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 35. RIk@EFIEHE
Defined contribution plans EREH T2

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the AREBAMBEESERESRKE 188

“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution under the MPF Scheme.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate
in contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities.

g

FIERAEE 8 (TREEE))) - Z5tE
EEEAEREEDHARE  RENRET
AEFINEE R - AEEMBEZ BB
—EERAREBRS SR FHARMH
Mo AEBIZARMMEMR K Z5%MRRE
R EB 81,5008 T BE KA
B8R (F HARFE (IR o

AHEEEME AR A2 EAARMMS
BB PIE M 2 (AR IRETE o
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35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)
Defined contribution plans (Continuead)

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$225,000 (2023: HK$291,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the
current reporting period.

The Group does not forfeit any contributions on behalf of
its employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting.
Accordingly, for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
there was no forfeited contribution available for the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions and at the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

(@) Transactions with related parties

35.

36.

BABEMEE @

EFEMMEE

5t A H949225,0008 7T (CB =4 ¢
291,0005870) MR AL A R A 2 M7 B AT IR
SR RS BN R

AEBTELIVEARNEZER B
MERYLZENEEMIFHBMHEMR-
Hit =T _WFR-F=F=4
=+—HLEEE TEEAEREMHRE
MAREE IR IRFHI MK T - MRS
AR R ERERWHRA R B2
&

FRES X%

BRI GEMBRELMBHREZ THA
@RS AEER A ERERESETT
WrRS :

(@) HMEFZRH

2024 2023
“ENE TECI=F
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
HRRES Z % RHME FHET FAET
ChaoShang, the former Rental expenses in relation to 1,625 1,945
substantial shareholder of the office premises (note)
the Company
B ARBIZAIEERER BREMAEYEZMASTH (i)
Related companies controlled by Commission income = 30

ChaoShang

AT BB AR iELON

205
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
Note: With reference to the Company announcement dated 1
February 2024 and 2 February 2024, ChaoShang has ceased
to be a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The Company leases an office premise from ChaoShang.
The rental expenses were charged based on the sub-deed
of lease signed between the parties. The amount disclosed
represents the lease payments made by crediting the current
account with ChaoShang. As at 31 March 2024, rental deposit
of approximately HK$487,000 (included in trade and other
receivables) was paid to ChaoShang in respect of the sub-
deed of lease and related right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are approximately HK$1,809,000 and HK$1,902,000
respectively.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group during the year was as follows:

36. FAERRZ @

(@) HEFZXRZ @
Mzt REBEARDBHAZS _NFE_AR
—BERIZZIMEZAZHZzZRE
HEETBARASETEREK

EABAHAHEERAEYE -TAE
AN E DRI 2N EZE
WER - PR BE B IS B B 5T A B
WERIRPFTS A EERIE =
ZoNE=A=+—H EmMDHER
0% P S A 1B = # £ 49487,00078
7o (5t A B 5 K Bt FEWGRIE) K48
HEAEEERBEEEDNOR
1,809,0007% 75 521,902,000 7T, ©

(b) FEEEASHME

BEEENAERTZEEA SN
TWF

2024 2023
—E-WE ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Salaries, allowances and e R R EMER]
other benefits 3,321 5,004

Contributions to defined TERBMH A ET IR

contribution plans 67 108
3,388 5112

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The remuneration of directors is set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

g
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. ABRMERAER
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—ENE —EI=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MR RRE 5 -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,809 3,617
Investments in subsidiaries RBRABRZIRE 24 -
1,838 3,617
Current assets REMEE
Other receivables HinpEWEa 602 602
Amounts due from subsidiaries N EVNGIE S 37(a) 87,554 62,018
Cash and bank balances R& R IRITHER 113 -
88,269 62,620
current liabilities wREaE
Other payables Hth e RIE 4,783 4,788
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,902 1,816
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN EVNGIE ] 37(a) 2,900 8,309
Amount due to former B —2aEERERIE
substantial shareholder 1,915 3,112
11,500 18,025
Net current assets BREMEE 76,769 44,595
Total assets less current liabilities 42 & &R RS & & 78,607 48,212
Non-current liabilities ETHER
Lease liabilities HEarE - 1,902
NET ASSETS BEFE 78,607 46,310
Capital and reserves %7 Be (s
Share capital f& s 32 240,814 205,523
Reserves G 37(b) (162,207) (159,213)
TOTAL EQUITY BN 78,607 46,310

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024

and signed on its behalf by:

Law Hok Yu

BEFE
Director
EBE

PHERRERER S _MFE, B -+ /\H
BINEERAREZTTEEUNE R
FEs

Miao Xianliu
Zliwn
Director

o
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. AEIMBERAK @
THE COMPANY (continuea)

37(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries 37(a) FEUR (FEfT) B 2 EIFRIE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and no ZEENNIEAEIRF - REREE
fixed terms of repayment. TE B R HARR o
37(b) Reserves of the Company 37(b) ATEEE
Accumulated
losses  Other reserve Total
BTl Hittihf st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET
At 1 April 2022 A _EZ_FINBE—H (154,378) 21,063 (133,315)
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEEEMNEEE B2
loss for the year (25,898) - (25,898)
At 31 March 2023 and AR ZEZRA=+—-HK
1 April 2023 —E_=FE—H (180,276) 21,063 (159,213)
Loss and total comprehensive  AFEFBEMNEEEBEREE
loss for the year (2,994) - (2,994)
At 31 March 2024 AZE_NE=A=+—H (183,270) 21,063 (162,207)
Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal M - EfhEETE > EUWE R RUREEHTE
value of the shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary and NE TG Y EEE B =W
the consolidated net asset value of that subsidiary and its BREIRERBARNEPEEF
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. EEERE-
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BANKIE
Except for those disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated R BRmRREMEHPIEES
financial statements, at the end of the reporting period, the PR S RAR » A5 B AT ] i & AR

Group did not have any other capital commitment. o




Details of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Annual Report 2023/2024

209

T =F /T NEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i o A 5 R R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

39. TEMBAT

KRB ZEEMBRAIN - E_MER"

Z_=F=ZRB=+—HB8FBUT:

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
SRR BEfLSR
WEARAHE ey /AR FREROEN  RE/ERES SARRENFEREREZELA TEEY
Directly Indirectly
B g
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE ZZ2-F ZECME ZT2=H
% % % %
BAL BAL AR BAL
China Sourcing & Creative Construction  The BVI Ordinary US$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEFETERENERAT EEREYHE 2R 1E7T REZR
Kate China Property Consultants Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Property investment
TEEENEERERAT & R AT NERE
Huarong Financial Holdings Limited The BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
ERSEERERAT EERYHE R 100%7 REZR
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - - 100 100 Money lending
BRMBERAR B8 L& 10087 &
Wealthy Pool International Holdings The BVI Ordinary 1S§50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
REARERBERAT HERUEE L& 50,000%7¢ REER
Huge Wealth International Tracing Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Business not yet commenced
Limited
EEEREZERAT &4 L 10,0008 7 FEREE
Qenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines
REERRAR &5 L& 187 FEREREH
World Huge International Investment ~ The BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEEREEERAT HERUEE L& 100%7T REER
0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$17,425,000 = - 100 100 Provision of securities dealing,
(2023: Securities advisory and asset
HK$16,500,000) management services
0C Consultants Limited &8 L& 17,425,000 7 RUEEAR 7 BHHEAR
(Z2Z=F: BEEERE
16,500,000787%)
Royal Century Investment Group Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
CEREEEERAT BE 2R AT REZR
Royal Century Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CBEEERAT BE B8 AT REZNR RERRREEAR

REERRH
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Year ended 31 March 2024 &% —F _[JF=H =+—HIFFZ
39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

39. TEMBAT @

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
MR, BEFUAR
WEARAHE mEhy /AR FREROEN  RE/RRES FARRANFRAEREEELA TEEG
Directly Indirectly
BE g
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE “Z--f ZECRE -TCCE
% % % %
BAL Bt B R
Royal Century Engineering Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CRIRERRAR &3 L 187 REZRE RERFBREAR
TERE QAR
Royal Century Construction Equipment  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Leasing of construction equipment
Limited and provision of related
installation services
CEREREERAT &3 L& 187 BREGBERERREANTE
R
Viai Tak Bilding Works Company Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8,000,000 = - 100 100 Provision of waterproofing works
and maintenance services
BEIBRAT B8 L& 8,000,000 7T REBKIRREBRE
Vi Tak Engineering Works Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of fitting out, engineering,
Limited repair and maintenance
Services
BRIIRARAA B8 LB 187 REEE TR EBRRERE
Royal Century (Shen Zhen) Design Firm  The PRC Paid-up Registered capital: - - N/A 100 Provision of interior design and
Company Limited * (Note a) capital RMB fitting out services
300,000,000/
Paid up issued
capital:
N/A
(2023:
RMB3,064,756)
18 (R RAEBAERLT HE HERE HRER: TEA REZRHFREERS
(izka) N
300,000,007t/
BETIL
Bk
Nl
(CBZ=fF:
N
3,064,7567)
Shum Ming Macau Company Limited ~ Macau Ordinary MOP25,000 100 N/A - N/A~ Provision of interior design,
(Note h) fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products Services.
REERAT (Hzh) bl LB 25000237 TER TBE  REEARE RERFERER
ERERRE
Note (@)  The subsidiary is registered in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned Mzt ZMBARRTEAMAIEEESRE
enterprise and had been derecognised during the year ended 31 TERBEE_Z_NE=A=+—H1t
March 2024. FEFH
Note (b)  During the year, the Company acquired Shum Ming Macau fIsE(b)  FrAQ B ULE25,00002 P T BB L

Company Limited from independent third parties at a
consideration of MOP 25,000.

g
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39.

40.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the year.

* For identification purpose only.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 17 January 2024, the Company entered into a conditional
shares placing agreement (“Placing Agreement”) with a
securities firm (“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has conditionally agreed, as agent of the Company,
to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than six placees
who are independent third parties (the “Shares Placing”) to
subscribe for a maximum of 37,627,200 new shares (“Placing
Share(s)”) of the Company at the placing price of HK$0.201
per Placing Share under the specific mandate subject to
shareholders’ approval at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company. Completion of the Shares Placing took place
on 23 April 2024 in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Placing Agreement. The 37,627,200 Placing Shares have
been placed and represent approximately 20% and 16.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately before
and after the completion of the Shares Placing.

39.

40.

FTENRBLAT @

BEDA FRFNEATHBASE
EYEAEERENENAEEEETE
ZEBHMB EERANHEMMKBAD
THESSBEBRTE.

FRE LB AR RARAT - I #H &
NBRRERNEITEREERE S

HREHIRSEE
RZEZOFE—AB+tH ARAHEH—
BEsaaE (MBEEREY ST B BRMHR
REEHE (TREWHEL) > Fit > BER
BERGEARABDRERIBHRMER
ERER DR NGB EARA REHWBBIL
B=5) RHEE) REFHEE (B
FRENRA QB RERR AT EHE) WL
FREERHN201BTZREEBIRER
237,627,200 AR B M H (TR & B
31) <RI EHZENERR GG BR1D
REERZZEZNFENB Z+=H=EM"
37,627 20002 FL & IRD BEERLE > D REA
NEIBERNEE KA AT EBEET
BR S #920%5216.67% °
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
EBEImE T = TECICHE B —F EBE-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET FET
Revenue Wz 87,603 55,761 57,660 66,807 42,755
Loss before tax BrISAIES 18 (10,424) (24,796) (20,936) (20,852) (28,949)
Loss for the year FERIE (9,790) (24,564) (21,068) (19,427) (28,114)
Total comprehensive loss  FEE2E R4S
for the year (9,772) (24,428) (21,074) (19,437) (28,128)
As at 31 March
W=B=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EZmE —ET-F BT BT —F BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET FET
Assets and Liabilities BERERE
Total assets B E 90,712 84,400 102,214 119,893 114,270
Total liabilities FES =L (17,211) (36,418) (29,804) (26,409) (31,277)
Total equity HEm4a%E 73,501 47,982 72,410 93,484 82,993

g
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